JOURNAL OF PUBLIC GOVERNANCE

2 (60) **\ 2022**





Publishing partner

SCHOLAR Scholar

Editorial Board Programme Board Editor-in-Chief Alain Alcouffe - Université Toulouse 1, France Stanisław Mazur Ash Amin - University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Executive Editor Andrzej Bukowski - Jagiellonian University, Poland Marek Ćwiklicki John L. Campbell - Dartmouth College, USA Thematic Editors Bernard Chavance - University of Paris Diderot, France Marek Ćwiklicki - management science Christoph Demmke - University of Vaasa, Finland Tomasz Geodecki - political economy, economics John E. Jackson - economics, political science Kaja Gadowska - Jagiellonian University, Poland Łukasz Mamica - economics Jarosław Górniak - Jagiellonian University, Poland Stanisław Mazur - political science Hubert Izdebski - University of Warsaw, Poland Michał Możdżeń - political economy Dag Ingvar Jacobsen - University of Agder, Norway Karol Olejniczak - management science Marek Naczvk - University of Oxford, Great Britain Steven Saxonberg - political science, economics Guy B. Peters - University of Pittsburgh, USA Dawid Sześciło - law Frits M. van der Meer – Leiden University, The Netherlands Pasquale Tridico – economics Mariusz Trojak – economics Arnošt Veselý - Charles University, Czech Republic Marcin Zawicki - policy science Dariusz Wójcik - Oxford University, United Kingdom Language Editor Marta Olasik Statistical Editor Andrzej Sokołowski Editorial Secretary Anna Chrabaszcz Database Editors Urszula Cieraszewska Marek Oramus on-line Editor Marcin Kukiełka

Content in this issue is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License



Copyright © by Malopolska School of Public Administration, Krakow University of Economics, 2022 The original version of the magazine is its printed version. The magazine is available in the following databases: CEEOL, CEJSH, BazEkon, BazHum, EBSCO (Business Source Corporate Plus, Ultimate Business Source), ERIH Plus, ICI World of Journals/ICI Journals Master List, ProQuest

> ISSN 2956-6061 e-ISSN 2956-6398

Information for the Authors: formerly 'Zarządzanie Publiczne/Public Governance' [ISSN 1898-3529; e-ISSN 2658-1116]

http://publicgovernance.pl

Cover Design - Agata Łankowska

Publisher Malopolska School of Public Administration Krakow University of Economics ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków phone: + (48) 122 937 560 www.msap.pl

Publishing Partner Scholar Scientific Publishing Company ul. Oboźna 1, 00-340 Warsaw phone: + (48) 22 692 41 18, 22 826 59 21, 22 828 93 91; Sales Department: ext. 108 e-mail: info@scholar.com.pl; www.scholar.com.pl

> Typesetting: WN Scholar (*Jerzy Łazarski*) Printed in Poland Circulation: 110 copies

Table of Contents

Katarzyna Baran, Stanisław Mazur, Piotr Prokopowicz	
Using the Multidimensional Leadership Questionnaire to Analyse the Relationships	
Between Urban Leadership and the Attributes of Transactional and Transformational	-
Leadership	5
Salvatore Giacomuzzi, Martin Rabe, Ivan Titov, Tamila Zozul, Marianna Kokhan,	
Natalya Zyhaylo, Natascha Barinova, Kira Sedykh, Oleksandr Kocharian,	
Roman Kechur, Klaus Garber, Rüdiger Stix, Markus Ertl, David Clowes	
Health Security as a Global Public Good in the Conditions of the Revolution 4.0	21
Michał Wnęk	
El Salvador's Adoption of Bitcoin from the Perspective of One Year: The Influence	
on the State Budget and a Comparison to Poland's Legislature	33
Michał Król Anna Gomola	
How to Reduce Low-Stack Emissions? An Assessment of the Willingness	
of Residents of Single-Family Houses to Replace Fossil Fuel Heating Systems	48
Agata Krukowska-Miler	
Vaccination Management in the Republic of Poland and in Selected Countries	64

Katarzyna Baran, Stanisław Mazur, Piotr Prokopowicz

Using the Multidimensional Leadership Questionnaire to Analyse the Relationships Between Urban Leadership and the Attributes of Transactional and Transformational Leadership

Abstract

Objectives: To analyse the relationships between urban leadership and the attributes of transactional leadership and transformational leadership.

Research Design & Methods: The analysis was performed using the Multidimensional Leadership Questionnaire from 6th December, 2020, to 7th June, 2021. The surveyed sample comprised mayors of Polish cities, their deputies, and city secretaries (surveyed population: 111; sample size: 48).

Findings: The findings demonstrate a significant link between the leadership behaviours of the mayors and more objective urban performance indicators as perceived by their direct subordinates. Focusing development efforts and activities on those behaviours that most strongly correlate with a wide range of performance indicators, such as idealised influence or contingent reward, may translate into an improved effectiveness of urban authorities. The study also emphasises the importance of maintaining a balance between a variety of leadership styles.

Implications / Recommendations: Building theoretical models to explore the issue of urban leadership will be critical for future research on urban leadership. Equally essential will be the expanded use of psychometric indicators in the context of meta-analyses and theoretical models revealing the links that exist between leader behaviour and various performance metrics.

Contribution / Value Added: The article's added value is in providing evidence that multifaceted leadership, based on transactional and transformational leadership traits, is required to ensure the quality of management of complex and dynamic systems, such as large cities.

Keywords: urban leadership, transactional leadership, transformational leadership, leaders, performance indicators, complex systems

Article classification: empirical article

JEL classification: H1, H4, H7

Katarzyna Baran – Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; e-mail: barank@uek. krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-2405-4340. Stanisław Mazur – Cracow University of Economics, Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; e-mail: mazurs@uek.krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-0747-9363. Piotr Prokopowicz – Uniwersytet Jagielloński, ul. Gołębia 24 31-007 Kraków; e-mail: piotr.prokopowicz@uj.edu.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-9142-820X.

Introduction

The aim of this paper is to analyse transactional and transformational leadership and to assess their theoretical and empirical significance in urban leadership research. In a post-modern, rational society, it turns out that the leader, his/her attributes, professed ideals, and favoured leadership styles still hold the key to urban matters and cannot be replaced by rigid management methods. However, the phenomenon in question still requires in-depth reflection, especially of a theoretical nature. The research findings discussed in this article may significantly contribute to the methodological debate on the fascinating phenomenon of urban leadership. The conclusions presented in the paper are based on the findings of the Multidimensional Leadership Questionnaire, which was used to survey mayors, deputy mayors, and city secretaries in Poland (111 in total).

The paper begins with a discussion of the concept of urban leadership, then goes on to highlight its key traits and to review the post-modern conditions that affect its evolution. This is followed by a synthesis of transactional and transformational leadership, in which their basic assumptions are confronted with the logic of urban leadership. The final section addresses the research findings that will serve as the foundation for future theoretical explorations of the concept in question (in this study, the terms urban leadership and public leadership are used interchangeably).

Literature review

The concepts of transactional and transformational leadership, devised by J. M. Burns (1978), have shaped the perceptions of public leadership for many years (Avolio & Bass, 2002; van Wart, 2003; Vogel & Masal, 2015; Jacobsen & Andersen, 2015; Jensen et al., 2019; Baran & Mazur, 2021). What is also noteworthy is that these approaches are conceptually and methodologically grounded in research on political leadership (Hartley, 2018), which is strongly associated with public leadership and urban leadership¹.

Intellectual interest in transactional and transformational leadership theories is accompanied by a growing research interest in urban issues, including the ways in which leadership roles are fulfilled. Cities and civilisations are undergoing disruptive changes, which invalidate the existing rules of the game (Benington, 2011). Remedies for these challenges are sought in a variety of leadership theories, which offer several catalogues of behaviours and tools for managing complexity (Crosby & Bryson, 2005).

The definition of urban leadership used in this article is based on J. Nye's approach, according to which leadership is a social relationship made up of three closely related components: the leader, the followers, and the environment in which particular interactions can occur (Nye 2010). More in-depth considerations on urban leadership require a general summary of its distinguishing features, which include the following:

- a strong professional identity (Grøn, Bro & Andersen, 2019);
- central influence (authority) (Kwok et al., 2018);
- public accountability for the leadership vision pursued (Haus, 2004);
- promoting norms, ideas, and values, and bringing like-minded people together (Freidson, 2001; Brehm & Gates, 2010; Tummers, 2013; Andersen & Pedersen, 2012);

¹ It should be noted that M. Weber is widely regarded as the father of transactional and transformational leadership, which is owing to his definition of three forms of leadership: charismatic, bureaucratic, and traditional. He thus laid the groundwork for these two theories (cf. Weber, 2002).

- focus on collective (public) goals;
- professional knowledge (Andersen & Pedersen, 2012);
- attachment to bureaucratic logic (Ouchi, 1980) or managerial logic (Hood, 1991);
- consideration of the interests of the political environment;
- the irreducibility of challenges.

When focusing on the evolving context of public leadership, J. Hartley considered globalisation² to be the source of numerous negative outcomes, such as:

- economic and social inequalities;
- erosion of democracy;
- uncontrolled development of technology;
- low quality of public debate;
- adverse effects of climate change;
- migration;
- adverse changes in the structure of societies;
- unstable economic relations;
- a sense of injustice, anxiety, and mistrust.

Nowadays, city authorities are facing a greater financial burden and responsibility towards their residents than before. With fewer resources at their disposal, they must meet people's increasing expectations in terms of the range and quality of public services to be supplied. Their position is further complicated by increasing networking (transnational neo-pluralism)³ that transcends hierarchical structures, which calls for increasingly sophisticated urban leadership strategies.

Individual types of leadership are usually presented as separable concepts; however, there is a growing recognition of the relationships that exist between them. The first one involves the reinforcement of transactional leadership by transformational leadership, which leads to increased effectiveness (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Howell & Avolio, 1993; Luke, 1998), whereas the second one views transactional leadership as a subset of transactional leadership (Weihrich et al., 2008; Wright et al., 2008).

The figure above specifies the various needs that the recipients of transactional and transformational leadership may have as well as how the two styles may be used in combination. Transactional leadership, which meets the most basic, unique needs of its followers, is thus placed at the bottom of the hierarchy of needs. Transformational leadership, on the other hand, promotes a particular environment's more advanced goals and desires, which are collaborative in nature and deeply anchored in ethics. The most desirable model located at the top of the hierarchy attempts to simultaneously fulfil the needs, over time transformed into expectations and derived from transactional and transformational leadership. This synthesis is not so much a new leadership style or an ideal solution as a space for utilising local resources and competencies in the most adaptive manner under the prevailing conditions. In the context of urban leadership, the institutional capacity to develop and implement action plans includes both agencies and structures. The third essential element in this interpretive scheme is the context, consisting of quantitatively fluid and dynamically changing variables. In an open social system, the context is viewed as both an opportunity and a threat that stimulates the improvement of urban leadership tools and mechanisms. The model discussed above is distinguished by complexity and modality, which permits variable application

² For an extensive analysis of the impact of globalisation on public leadership, see Morse et al., 2007.

³ This expression implies an above-average complexity and transversality of the system (cf. Cerny, 1990, 2010a, 2010b).

of leadership styles taking into consideration the competencies of the leader and the demands of his/her followers, who serve as the system's dual driving force.



Figure 1. Hierarchy of the needs of the recipients of transactional and transformational leadership Source: Own elaboration.

Transactional leadership focuses on competent, effective, and efficient management. The incentive system, which is an important part of this style, is exclusively linked to real time and does not take into account strategic thinking about the future.

In practice, transactional leadership leads to:

- attachment to a hierarchy of needs;
- a pursuit of individual interests;
- operating within the boundaries of the existing organisational culture;
- striving for precision;
- creating relationships on the basis of exhaustible replacement;
- making incremental changes to increase efficiency in achieving objectives.

The bureaucratic nature of public administration, characterised by a mechanistic organisational culture, intuitively navigates towards transactional leadership as the most useful one in achieving public tasks. The hierarchical structure of public administration makes this approach an indispensable component of leading a city.

By contrast, transformational leadership⁴ aims to inspire the actors gathered around the leader to achieve higher goals (Robbins & Coulter, 2007). The leader's role is to establish an environment

⁴ Transformational leadership is often equated with charismatic leadership (see: Peters & Austin, 1985; Tichy & Devanna, 1986; Harvey-Jones, 2003).

where team members may continually develop, expand the range of their needs, and raise their level of awareness. Positive change also includes the release of emotions that leads to the consolidation of efforts to achieve the accepted ideas, values, and tasks. This was aptly captured by W. Bennis and B. Nanus (1985), who described transformational leaders as "social architects" of their organisations. Researchers R. Koch and J. Diox divide transformational leaders into "American heroes" (Western democracies) and leaders stuck in a "servant-partner" relationship⁵ (Europe and Great Britain)⁶ (Koch & Diox, 2007).

The most important outcomes of applying transactional leadership include:

- increased motivation;
- the realisation of collective interests;
- the reinforcement of moral values;
- the expression of emotional reactions;
- identification with accepted principles of behaviour;
- managing organisational culture change;
- implementing disruptive change to enhance performance in achieving goals.

When considering the attractiveness of the transformational leader in fulfilling this role in a city, it is important to note the positive correlation between this type of leadership and the achievement of desired outcomes in public institutions (Gabris et al., 2000; Wright et al., 2012; Bellé, 2014; Jacobsen & Andersen, 2015; Vogel & Masal, 2015; Baran, 2019).

From the urban leadership perspective, the notion that transactional leadership focuses on solving problems using the potential found within the structure itself is relevant. When faced with difficulties, transformational leadership, on the other hand, draws not only on its immediate surroundings, but also on the expertise of external stakeholders, forging symbiotic relationships with them in order to seek novel solutions. Another significant difference lies in the superior performance of transactional leadership in crisis situations that require poised and structured action. Conversely, transformational leadership gains the upper hand when it is necessary to respond flexibly and take unconventional decisions informed by a multi-level perception of reality.

A comprehensive comparative study of transactional and transformational leadership embedded in contemporary contextual complexity⁷ was provided by J. Nye (2008), who described their history, impetus, characteristics, and implications. A key aspect of his distinction is charisma, which, by influencing the course of events, either sustains a functioning system or leads to its significant transformation (Burns, 1978). A good example of this was the civilisational leap triggered by economic development and technological transformation, which was abandoned by apologists of transactional leadership, but was successfully exploited by proactive transformational leadership (*status quo* vs. change) (Nye, 2008; Beauregard, 1995). However, regardless of the motivations of leaders and their achievements, the relationship between them and the actors of change or the actors protecting the existing order, the dynamics of social change, and the needs of citizens drives the spectacular evolution of urban leadership (Stewart, 2006).

A valuable contribution to the issue under consideration has been made more recently by A. M. Hochadel (2018), who looked at the role of public agents by examining the transition from

⁵ For more on this subject, see Alimo-Metcalfe & Alban-Metcalfe, 2005, p. 64.

⁶ The former tends to be more distanced, whereas the latter has a close relationship with supporters, seeking to understand and meet their needs. The essence of the role performed by the former is to initiate and mobilise. The role of the latter is to keep supporters active, engaged and gratified in a broad sense.

⁷ This concept was formulated by R. D. Brunner (1997).

transactional leadership in an administrative-executive perspective to transactional leadership in a legislative-activist perspective. The author's motivation for undertaking this inquiry was her belief that there is a need to combine the potentials derived from locally anchored public leadership with those derived from globalisation processes that transcend national boundaries. J. Johansson (2004) offers a somewhat different perspective that is nonetheless linked to globalisation, contending that transformational leadership in the public sector is a response to the negative repercussions of this particular phenomenon.

Political influence on the form and extent of the application of these two leadership types (Stoker, 1991) tends to be reflected in two approaches. The first one is concerned with the primacy of politics and power strategies in urban governance, whereas the other, in an attempt to move away from the discretionary function of urban leadership, focuses on interactions with other structures at local, national, and global levels (Cerny, 1990, 1997, 2010a, 2010b; Sassen, 2000, 2001; Stoker, 1991). In this sense, the first perspective appears to be closer to transactional leadership, while the second one – to transformational leadership⁸.

A different view of transactional vs. transformational leadership is expressed by the Solace (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives), which, while not undermining the cognitive value of these approaches, highlights their negligible adaptability to the dominant context in which cities operate. Urban leadership is heavily dependent on sensitivity to a unique set of dynamically changing local circumstances, in which the resident is the central variable. Therefore, the response to improving the quality of urban life and the prospects for development lies in interactions within the community, which, contrary to the compact statements cited above, are not sufficiently stimulated by transactional or transformational leadership (Solace, 2013; Rigg & Richards, 2006)⁹.

Material and methods

The MLQ leadership model

This part of the article discusses the findings of a multi-factor analysis of leadership skills of Polish city mayors. It combines a broader theoretical perspective (outlined in Section 1) with an empirical-analytical perspective in order to offer coherent interpretations of the studied phenomena.

The attempt to capture the full spectrum of leadership behaviours in a multidimensional manner was one of the motivations behind the development of the Full Range Leadership Model, which provided the basis for the Multi-factor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) (Antonakis et al., 2003; Bass & Avolio 2002). The MLQ consists of 9 scales that measure three leadership styles: *transformational leadership* (5 scales: Idealised Influence [attributes], Idealised Influence [behaviour], Inspirational Motivation, Intellectual Stimulation, Individual Consideration); *transactional leadership* (2 scales: Contingent Reward, Management by Exception [active]); and *passive/avoidant behaviours* (2 scales: management by exception [passive] and *Laissez-faire*). Moreover, the MLQ also has 3 scales measuring leadership outcomes: Extra Effort, Effectiveness, and Satisfaction with the Leadership. The MLQ has two basic versions: (1) designed to self-assess leadership behaviour (Multi-factor Leadership Questionnaire Self Form [MLQ Self] completed

⁸ It is noteworthy that transformational leaders are more likely to be elected when there is growing distrust in central government (cf. also A. M. Hochadel, 2018; Heifetz & Laurie, 2001).

⁹ C. Hobbs (2019) suggests replacing transactional and transformational leadership with contextual leadership skills.

by the leader); and (2) designed to evaluate the leader's behaviour (Multi-factor Leadership Questionnaire Rater Form [MLQ Rater Form] completed by subordinates). The choice of the version to use to evaluate leader behaviour is based on theoretical and empirical research assumptions as well as potential organisational interventions. The section that follows examines the leadership styles of Polish city mayors using the Polish edition of the MLQ.

Methodology

The survey was conducted between 6th December, 2020, and 7th June, 2021, among the mayors of the largest cities in Poland (i.e. with populations over 100 000), their deputies, and city secretaries. The surveyed group (111 persons in total) received MLQ 5X-Short questionnaires: the MLQ Self (37 mayors) and the MLQ Rater (37 deputies and 37 city secretaries). Sample test items for each scale are presented in Table 1 below.

Style	Scale	Sample item
Transformational leadership	Idealised Influence (attributes)	Working with him/her makes me feel proud
	Idealised Influence (behaviours)	He/she talks about his/her most important values and beliefs
	Inspirational Motivation	Speaks enthusiastically about what should be achieved
	Intellectual Stimulation	Seeks different perspectives when solving problems
	Individual Consideration	Takes the time to teach and develop staff skills
Transactional leadership	Award conditioning	Gives me support in return for my input and commitment
	Management by Exception (active)	Draws attention to irregularities, errors, exceptions and deviations from standards
Passive leadership	Management by Exception (passive)	Does not get involved in a problem until it becomes serious
	Laissez-faire	Avoids involvement when important problems arise
Leadership outcomes	Extra Effort	Makes me do more than expected of myself
	Perceived Effectiveness	Can effectively meet the needs and expectations that arise in the organisation
	Satisfaction with the Leadership	Uses rewarding leadership methods

Table 1. Sample items used in the MLQ (MLQ Rater)

Source: Own elaboration.

Our analysis takes into account cities where the questionnaire was completed by the mayor, his/ her deputy, and the city secretary. A total of 48 questionnaires were returned from 16 participating cities.

The analysis assessed the leadership behaviours of 16 individuals. Of all the mayoral office holders who participated in the study, 15 (94%) were men and only one was a woman. Their mean age was 54 years. The most common educational profile in the sample was the humanities (37%) and technical studies (31%). Only three persons had a degree in economics, and two completed

a university course in an administration-related field. As regards work experience, 44% mentioned the public sector, 37% – business, and 19% – other kinds of experience.

Characteristics of the MLQ

The MLQ proved useful in diagnosing the leadership styles of mayors of Polish cities. In the internal consistency test using Cronbach's alpha (presented in Table 2), several scales proved to be unreliable (Transformational leadership: Idealised Influence [attributes] and Transformational leadership: Individual Consideration, Management by Exception [passive]), but most others achieved acceptable or satisfactory scores. However, in order to maintain the integrity of the tool and given that the MLQ was found highly reliable by a number of independent studies using larger international samples (Tejeda et al., 2001), all the subsidiary variables were included in the study.

MLQ scale	Cronbach's alpha	Number of test items
Transformational: Idealised Influence (attributes)	0.34	4
Transformational: Idealised Influence (behaviours)	0.57	4
Transformational: Inspirational Motivation	0.72	4
Transformational: Intellectual Stimulation	0.60	4
Transformational: Individual Consideration	0.51	4
Transactional: Contingent Reward	0.59	4
Transactional: Management by Exception (active)	0.71	4
Passive: Management by Exception (passive)	0.30	4
Passive: Laissez-faire	0.60	4
Extra Effort	0.75	3
Perceived Effectiveness	0.58	4
Satisfaction with the Leadership	0.80	2

Table 2. Reliability indices of the scales used in the study

Source: Own elaboration.

Furthermore, the intercorrelation analysis between the several aspects of the MLQ confirms its utility in the study of local government leadership. The correlations between the scales, as shown in Table 3, follow the predicted direction: there is a negative correlation between passive leadership scales (Management by Exception [passive] and *Laissez-faire*) and most of the scales of transformational and transactional leadership. At the same time, the other leadership scales, while correlated, exhibit significant independence.

One of the most important and interesting issues in this study is the degree of concordance in the assessment of leadership behaviours between the person occupying the mayoral position and his/her deputies and secretaries, as this determines the validity of the assessment and whether our discussion of leadership styles should include self-assessment or external assessment only.

Kendall's W statistic was used to assess the concordance of responses on leadership styles between the mayor and his/her deputies, and between the deputies themselves. It takes values from 0 to 1, where 0 represents a complete disagreement in the assessment, and 1 - a complete

	Idealised Influence (attributes)	Idealised Influence (behaviours)	Inspirational Motivation	Intellectual Stimulation	Individual Consideration	Award conditioning	Management by Exception (active)	Management by Exception (passive)	-faire -faire
Idealised Influence (attributes)	1.00	0.42	0.37	-0.14	-0.12	-0.13	-0.03	-0.32	0.11
Idealised Influence (behaviours)	0.42	1.00	0.41	0.64	0.22	0.34	0.25	-0.58	0.01
Inspirational Motivation	0.37	0.41	1.00	0.42	0.00	0.26	0.42	-0.56	-0.13
Intellectual Stimulation	-0.14	0.64	0.42	1.00	0.27	0.70	0.61	-0.34	0.01
Individual Consideration	-0.12	0.22	0.00	0.27	1.00	0.29	-0.19	0.00	-0.15
Award conditioning	-0.13	0.34	0.26	0.70	0.29	1.00	0.67	-0.18	-0.20
Management by Exception (active)	-0.03	0.25	0.42	0.61	-0.19	0.67	1.00	-0.20	0.29
Management by Exception (passive)	-0.32	-0.58	-0.56	-0.34	0.00	-0.18	-0.20	1.00	0.00
Laissez-faire	0.11	0.01	-0.13	0.01	-0.15	-0.20	0.29	0.00	1.00

Journal of Public Governance 2(60)/2022 13

agreement between the respondents. This was critical in deciding how to analyse the mayors' leadership styles: if the mayors' and deputies' assessments were equivalent, the MLQ scales could be calculated based on their own individual opinions; if not, more confidence would need to be placed in the external assessment results.

Indeed, the mean values of Kendall's W for the leadership behaviours as assessed by the deputies and secretaries turned out to be significantly higher than when assessed by the three interviewees from each municipal office (0.53 vs. 0.74). This provided an additional argument (i.e. apart from the theoretical one) in favour of assessing the leadership style of mayors solely on the basis of the external evaluation – the findings are presented in the following section.

Results and discussion

In order to explore the relationship between the leaders' behaviours and performance indicators as perceived by their subordinates, a simple analysis of correlation coefficients was conducted (see Table 4).

•		· · · ·	
MLQ scale	Extra Effort	Perceived Effectiveness	Satisfaction with the Leadership
Idealised Influence (attributes)	0.28	0.27	0.21
Idealised Influence (behaviours)	0.69	0.47	0.38
Inspirational Motivation	0.39	0.24	0.21
Intellectual Stimulation	0.72	0.41	0.54
Individual Consideration	0.08	0.47	0.27
Award conditioning	0.61	0.49	0.67
Management by Exception (active)	0.54	0.05	0.21
Management by Exception (passive)	-0.21	-0.17	0.03
Passive: Laissez-faire	0.08	-0.27	-0.32

Table 4. Correlation coefficients between the MLQ leadership scales and three performance measures. Shading indicates statistically significant coefficients $(p<0,01)^{11}$

Source: Own elaboration.

Table 4 above reveals an interesting pattern. First, none of the correlation coefficients between leadership scales and perceived leader effectiveness exceeded $0,5^{12}$. Second, contrary to frequent claims – apart from passive leadership, which is universally considered to be neutral or negative in terms of performance – it is difficult to unequivocally indicate the best leadership style. Thus, both transformational (Idealised Influence [behaviour], Intellectual Stimulation) and transactional (Contingent Reward, Management by Exception [active]) leadership scales correlate with Extra Effort, which is generally believed to be one of the most important aspects of effectiveness in the leadership model used in the study. The situation is similar for satisfaction with leadership,

¹¹ See the footnote above.

¹² The correlation coefficients provided in this chapter should be approached with caution due to the common method bias, or the potential overestimation of correlation between variables when measuring dependent and independent variables using the same tool.

which exhibits a strong correlation for both Intellectual Stimulation (transformational behaviours) and Active management by exception (transactional behaviours).

A preliminary look at the findings presented in Table 4 seems to support both those who argue that transformational as well as transactional leadership elements are necessary for effective leadership (Judge & Piccolo, 2004), and the advocates of ambidextrous leadership. According to the latter idea (Zacher & Rosing, 2015), leaders who rely on styles aimed at structuring (such as transactional leadership) and inspiring creativity (such as transformational leadership) make their teams and organisations more effective, especially in terms of innovation and the capacity to develop novel solutions.

It is also interesting to see what the analysis of correlation coefficients reveals regarding the variables that are unrelated to leadership performance items. It turns out, for example, that Individual Consideration is unrelated to Extra Effort and only marginally related to Satisfaction with the Leadership. This may be due to the characteristics of the group that evaluated the mayors – the deputies and city secretaries work closely with their superiors; hence, it is possible that there was little variance in the results in this respect.

Based on the collected data, is it thus possible to accurately predict the performance of the mayor as perceived by his/her subordinates? To further explore the relationship between leadership behaviours and effectiveness, two stepwise linear regression analyses were conducted for the dependent variables identified in the correlation table analysis as potentially related to the types of leadership behaviours diagnosed by the MLQ.

The regression analysis for the dependent variable Satisfaction with the Leadership produced a model explaining approximately 40% of the variance in the dependent variable with the presence of only one independent variable, namely Contingent Reward (the other coefficients did not significantly improve the quality of the model and were therefore not included). The beta coefficient for this model was 0.67 and was the same as Pearson's r correlation coefficient. The situation was different for the model with Extra Effort as the dependent variable. The regression analysis produced a model that explains more than 60% of the variance in the dependent variable by including two independent variables related to transformational leadership: Intellectual Stimulation and Idealised Influence. Details of the model are presented in Table 5.

Model parameters	В	SE	Beta	Т	Significance
(Constant)	-0.163	0.685		-0.238	0.815
Transformational: Intellectual Stimulation	0.73	0.151	0.778	4.841	< 0.001
Transformational: Idealised Influence (attributes)	0.354	0.146	0.39	2.427	0.031
Dependent variable: Extra Effort Adjusted R ² : 0,62					

Table 5. Linear regression model for Extra Effort as the dependent variable

Source: Own elaboration.

The results suggest that Intellectual Stimulation and Idealised Influence have an independent significant impact on Extra Effort on the part of subordinates. Beyond these two variables, behaviours associated with other scales do not significantly explain performance in this area.

Leadership behaviour as a predictor of local government performance

One of the most significant challenges associated with the perceived correlations in the area of leadership in the public sector discussed above is the so-called common method bias, i.e. the risk of identifying correlations that arise not from the actual performance of individual aspects of leadership styles, but from using the same tool to measure the dependent and independent variables. Furthermore, in both public and academic debate, objective indicators of leadership performance rather than the employees' subjective opinions are of special relevance in terms of their implications for local government actions.

To that end, we analysed the correlation between various leadership behaviours and the key outcomes of local government initiatives. We focused on two factors that appear to be particularly strongly related to leadership behaviour: citizen involvement in political life (measured as election turnout) and the accomplishment of goals pertaining to creating sustainable cities (Shmelev & Shmeleva, 2009; measured as the length of bus lanes per 100 000 residents; the number of kindergarten places per 100 000 residents; and the share of green space in urban areas). Table 6 below summarises the findings of the regression analysis using the input technique for the six models, which included all behaviour categories assessed by the MLQ and budget expenditure per resident (controlled variable) as independent variables.

Dependent variable Parameters of the model	Length of bus lanes per 100K residents	Number of kindergarten places per 100K residents	Share of parks, greenery, and residential green areas in total city area	Turnout in the 2019 Senate elections	Turnout in the 2019 parliamentary elections	Turnout in the 2020 mayoral election
Transformational: Idealised Influence (attributes)	-1.01	-0.60	-0.53	-0.15	-0.16	-0.19
Transformational: Idealised Influence (behaviours)	1.52	0.76	1.33	0.96	0.97	0.99
Transformational: Inspirational Motivation	0.55	0.31	0.62	-0.14	-0.14	0.08
Transformational: Intellectual Stimulation	-1.74	-1.56	-1.10	-0.32	-0.33	-0.45
Transformational: Individual Consideration	0.43	0.14	0.03	-0.20	-0.20	-0.31
Transactional: Award conditioning	-0.39	-0.13	0.19	-0.38	-0.38	-0.11
Transactional: Management by Exception (active)	1.13	0.79	0.03	0.30	0.30	0.04
Passive: Management by Exception (passive)	0.57	-0.10	0.30	0.69	0.69	0.79
Passive: Laissez-faire	-0.48	-0.39	-0.23	-0.50	-0.50	-0.18
Total budget expenditure	0.27	0.81	0.29	0.27	0.27	0.29
Adjusted R2	0.70	0.74	0.40	0.60	0.61	0.52
Model significance	0.06	0.04	0.23	0.10	0.10	0.15

Table 6. Summary of basic parameters of linear regression models for selected dependent variables

Shading: green – statistical significance p < 0.05; yellow – statistical significance $p < 0.10^{13}$.

Source: Own elaboration.

¹³ See the footnote above.

An interesting picture emerges from the analysis of these regression models. The only type of behaviour that positively predicts all the outcomes of local government activities is Idealised Influence manifested in behaviours. At the same time, in the case of urban sustainability indicators, behaviours related to Intellectual Stimulation and perceived characteristics of Idealised Influence have a negative impact, whereas those related to Management by Exception (active; especially in the case of the variable length of cycle paths per 100 000 residents) have a positive impact. In the case of variables related to voter turnout, an extra positive influence can be observed in the case of Management by Exception (passive). All these relationships were controlled for the key variable of per capita budget expenditure.

How to interpret these patterns? Undoubtedly, Idealised Influence comes closest to the traditional definitions of charisma, so once again we find that charismatic leaders are capable of achieving very tangible outcomes beyond subjective performance measures (Antonakis & Day, 2017). What is somewhat surprising in this light is the negative correlation between Idealised Influence (attributes) and urban sustainability indicators. Also noteworthy is the data that suggests that the passive attitude of mayors (Management by Exception) is offset by increased voter participation.

Conclusion

The issue of urban leadership is becoming increasingly important at least for two reasons. The first one has to do with its practical relevance to the quality of management of large cities, which are complex, comprehensive, and adaptive systems. In a post-modern, rational society saturated with formal institutions and advanced procedures, it turns out that the leader, his/her attributes, professed ideals, and favoured leadership styles still hold the key to urban matters and cannot be replaced by rigid management methods. The third reason stems from the relatively superficial reflection on urban leadership among leadership scholars in recent decades. The situation began to change dramatically when researchers became aware of the importance of this issue for understanding and conceptualising a range of approaches to urban management. Along with this, both the number of studies and publications devoted to this issue began to increase. However, the phenomenon in question still requires in-depth reflection, especially of a theoretical nature.

The MLQ used to prepare this paper proved to be useful. Its psychometric indices demonstrated strong adherence to theoretical and methodological assumptions. Furthermore, the study's findings tying specific leadership characteristics to leader effectiveness are consistent with meta-analyses and models illustrating the relationship between leader behaviours and validated performance indicators.

Particularly interesting findings from this application of the MLQ include the correlation between the leadership behaviours of mayors and their performance as perceived by their subordinates and captured by objective city performance indices. These insights are worth exploring in more detail.

Devising a typology of this phenomenon and developing theoretical models to explain it should be a priority in future studies on urban leadership. Last but not least, there is a good case for making more extensive use of psychometric indicators to study leadership scales in relation to leader effectiveness in the context of meta-analyses and theoretical models revealing associations between leader behaviours and performance indicators.

A number of observations support the use of the MLQ for studying leadership in local government. Firstly, the appropriate psychometric indicators, including the reliability of the scales

and the intercorrelations between the dimensions measured by the MLQ, are mostly consistent with the theoretical and methodological assumptions. Secondly, the study's findings that tie specific leadership characteristics to leader performance are consistent with meta-analyses and theoretical models demonstrating correlations between leader behaviours and numerous performance measures. And, thirdly, the wealth of practical suggestions that can be obtained from the application of the tool for the study of leadership in local government units cannot be overstated.

What pragmatic conclusions can be drawn from the analyses conducted in this chapter? It turns out that there is a significant correlation between the leadership behaviour of mayors, their evaluation by subordinates, and more objective urban performance indicators. Focusing development efforts and activities on behaviours that are most visibly linked to a wide range of performance measures, such as Idealised Influence or Contingent Reward, may translate into an improved effectiveness of municipal offices. The study also makes a compelling case for maintaining a balance between leadership behaviours that represent a variety of styles. In terms of the future research on leaders in local government units, it may be useful to explore which dependent variables other than those reported in this paper correlate with objective urban performance indicators.

The research findings discussed in this article may significantly contribute to the methodological debate on the fascinating phenomenon of urban leadership. By improving the quality of research in this area, it may serve as the foundation for the development of more theoretically-advanced exploratory models.

Reference List

- Alimo-Metcalfe, B., & Alban-Metcalfe J. (2005). Leadership: Time for a New Direction? *Leadership*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 51-71. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715005049351
- Andersen, L. B., & Pedersen, L. H. (2012). Public Service Motivation and Professionalism. *International Journal of Public Administration* 53 (1): 46–57. https://doi:10.1080/01900692.2011.635278
- Antonakis, J., Avolio, B. J., & Sivasubramaniam, N. (2003). Context and leadership: An examination of the ninefactor full-range leadership theory using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire, *The Leadership Quarterly*.
- Antonakis, J., & Day, D. V. (2017). The Nature of Leadership. SAGE Publications.
- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (2002). Developing Potential Across a Full Range of Leadership. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Baran, K., & Mazur, S. (2021). Przywództwo w administracji publicznej. Perspektywa zarządzania kryzysowego. Wydawnictwo Scholar.
- Baran, K. (2019). Transformational Leadership in Public Administration the Essence and Use. In J. Kopeć & B. Mikuła (Eds.), *Knowledge, Economy, Society. Challenges for Contemporary Economies Global, Regional, Network and Organisational Perspective* (pp. 119–127). Dom Organizatora.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving Organisational Effectiveness through Transformational Leadership. Sage.
- Beauregard, R. (1995). Theorizing the global-local connection. In P. Knox & P. Taylor (Eds.), *World Cities in a World System* (1st ed., pp. 232–248). Cambridge University Press.
- Bellé, N. (2014). Leading to Make a Difference: A Field Experiment on the Performance Effects of Transformational Leadership, Perceived Social Impact, and Public Service Motivation. *Journal of Public* Administration Research and Theory, 24(1), 109–136. https://doi:10.1093/jopart/mut033
- Benington, J. (2011). From private choice to public value. In J. Benington & M. Moore (Eds.), *Public Value: Theory and Practice* (pp. 31–51). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). Leaders: The Strategies for Taking Charge. Harper & Row.

- Brehm, J. O., & Gates, S. (2010). Working, Shirking, and Sabotage: Bureaucratic Response to a Democratic Public. University of Michigan Press.
- Brunner, R. D. (1997). Teaching the Policy Sciences: Reflections on a Graduate Seminar. *Policy Sciences*, 39(2), 217–31.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper and Row.
- Cerny, P. (1990). The Changing Architecture of Politics. Sage.
- Cerny, P. (1997). Paradoxes of the competition state: The dynamics of political globalization. *Government* and Opposition, 32(2), 251–274.
- Cerny, P. (2010a). The competition state today: From *raison d'Etat* to *raison du Monde*. *Policy Studies*, 31(1), 5–21.
- Cerny, P. (2010b). Rethinking World Politics. Oxford University Press.
- Crosby, B., & Bryson, J. (2005). Leadership for the Common Good. Wiley.
- Freidson, E. (2001). Professionalism: The Third Logic. University of Chicago Press.
- Gabris, G., Golembiewski, R., & Ihrke, D. (2000). Leadership Credibility, Board Relations, and Administrative Innovation at the Local Government Level. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 11(1), 89–108.
- Grøn, C. H., Bro, L. L., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). Public managers' leadership identity: concept, causes, and consequences. *Public Management Review*, 22(11), 1696–1716. https://doi.org/10.1080/1471903 7.2019.1645875
- Hartley, J. (2018). Ten propositions about public leadership. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 14(4), 202–217. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-09-2018-0048
- Harvey-Jones, J. (2003). Making it Happen: Reflections on Leadership. Profile Books.
- Haus, M. (2004). Urban Governance and Democracy. Leadership and Community Involvement. Routledge.
- Heifetz, R., & Laurie, D. (2010). The Work od Leadership. Harvard Business Review.
- Hobbs, C. (2019). Systemic Leadership for Local Governance: Tapping the Resource Within. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hochadel, A. M. (2018). Local Leadership in a Global Era Policy and Behaviour Change in Cities. Springer International Publishing.
- Hood, C. (1991). A Public Management for All Seasons? Public Administration, 69(1), 3–19. https:// doi:10.1111/padm.1991.69.issue-1
- Howell, J. M., & Avoiio, B. J. (1993). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, locus of control. and support for innovation: Key predictors of consolidated business-unit performance. *Journal Applied Psychology*, 78, 891–902.
- Jacobsen, C. B., & Andersen, L. B. (2015). Is Leadership in the Eye of the Beholder? A Study of Intended and Perceived Leadership Practices and Organisational Performance. *Public Administration Review*, 75(6), 829–841. https://doi:10.1111/puar.12380
- Jensen, U. T., Andersen, L. B., Bro, L. L., Bøllingtoft, A., Mundbjerg Eriksen, T. L., Holten, A.-L., Jacobsen, C. B., et al. (2019). Conceptualizing and Measuring Transformational and Transactional Leadership. Administration & Society, 51(1), 3–33. https://doi:10.1177/0095399716667157
- Johansson, F. (2004). The Medici Effect: Boston. Harvard Business School Press.
- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, F. R. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 755–768. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755
- Koch, R., & Dixon, J. (2007). Public Governance and Leadership: Political and Managerial Problems in Making Public Governance Changes the Driver for Re-Constituting Leadership. Deutscher Universitäts-Verlag.x.
- Kwok, N., Hanig, S., Brown, D. J., & Shen, W. (2018). How Leader Role Identity Influences the Process of Leader Emergence: A Social Network Analysis. *The Leadership Quarterly*,29(6), 648–662. https:// doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.04.003
- Luke, J. S. (1998). Catalytic Leadership: Strategies for an Interconnected World. Jossey-Bass.

- Morse, R. S., Buss, T. F., & Kinghorn, C. M. (2007). *Transforming Public Leadership for the 21st Century*. National Academy of Public Administration.
- Nye, J. (2008). Transformational Leaders Are Not Always Better. *Christian Science Monitor*, March 28.

Nye, J. (2010). The Powers to Lead. Oxford University Press.

Ouchi, W. G. (1980). Markets, Bureaucracies, and Clans. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 25(1), 129–141. https://doi:10.2307/2392231

Peters, T., & Austin, N. (1985). A Passion for Excellence: The Leadership Difference. Random House.

- Rigg, C., & Richards, S. (2006). *Action Learning, Leadership and Organisational Development in Public Services.* Routledge Studies in Human Resource Development.
- Robbins, S. P., & Coulter, M. (2007). Management (9th ed.). Prentice-Hall.
- Sassen, S. (2000). Cities in a World Economy. Pine Forge Press.
- Sassen, S. (2001). The Global City. Princeton University Press.
- Shmelev, S., & Shmeleva, I. (2009). Sustainable Cities: Problems of integrated interdisciplinary research. *International Journal of Sustainable Development*, Published Online: July 29, 4–23. https://doi. org/10.1504/IJSD.2009.027526
- Solace, Skills for Local Government, & Local Government Association (2013). Asking the Right Questions: The Need for Transformational and New Contextual Leadership Skills for Local Authority Chief Executives. JSSC.
- Stewart, J. (2006). Transformational leadership: An evolving concept examined through the works of Burns, Bass, Avolio, and Leithwood. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, 54, 1–29.
- Stoker, G. (1991). The Politics of Local Government. Macmillan.
- Tejeda, M. J., Scandura, T. A., & Pillai, R. (2001). The MLQ revisited: Psychometric properties and recommendations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 12(1), 31–52.
- Tichy, N. M., & Devanna, M. A. (1986). The Transformational Leader. John Wiley & Sons.
- Tummers, L. (2013). Policy Alienation and the Power of Professionals: Confronting New Policies. Edward Elgar.
- Van Wart, M. (2003). Public-Sector Leadership Theory: An Assessment. Public Administration Review, 63(2) (March/April), 214–228; reprinted in Van Wart & Dicke (2007), pp. 11–34.
- Vogel, R., & Masal, D. (2015). Public Leadership: A Review of the Literature and Framework for Future Research. *Public Management Review*, 17(8), 1165–1189. https://doi:10.1080/14719037.2014.895031
- Weber, M. (2002). Gospodarka i społeczeństwo. Transl. D. Lachowska. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Weihrich, H., Cannice, M. V., & Koontz, H. (2008). Management (12th ed.). Mc Graw Hill.
- Wright, B. E., Moynihan, D. P., & Pandey, S. K. (2012). Pulling the Levers: Transformational Leadership, Public Service Motivation, and Mission Valence. *Public Administration Review*, 72(2), 206–215. https:// doi:10.1111/puar.2012.72.issue-2
- Zacher, H., & Rosing, K. (2015). Ambidextrous leadership and team innovation, *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 36(1), 54–68, DOI:10.1108/LODJ-11-2012-0141

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Research Ethics Committee

Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

The author/autors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright and License

This article is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Published by Malopolska School of Public Administration – Krakow University of Economics, Krakow, Poland.

Data Availability Statement

All data will be available and shared upon request.

Salvatore Giacomuzzi, Martin Rabe, Ivan Titov, Tamila Zozul, Marianna Kokhan, Natalya Zyhaylo, Natascha Barinova, Kira Sedykh, Oleksandr Kocharian, Roman Kechur, Klaus Garber, Rüdiger Stix, Markus Ertl, David Clowes

Health Security as a Global Public Good in the Conditions of the Revolution 4.0

Abstract

Objectives: Although the concept of health security is becoming accepted in public-health-related literature and practice, there is no full agreement on the scope and content. The aim of this paper is to draw attention to the definition of health security and its role within the Revolution 4.0.

Research Design & Methods: This is a theoretical article and as such addresses a problematic situation concerning missing standards in health security and the Revolution 4.0.

Findings: The WHO (2018) has stated unequivocally that 'functioning health systems are the bedrock of health security'. The authors attempt to prove that health security in the conditions of the Revolution 4.0 needs to be defined more precisely and has to be implemented as a global public good nationwide with accepted minimal standards.

Salvatore Giacomuzzi – UN ITU Focus Group on Environmental Efficiency for Artificial Intelligence; Grünangergasse 1/15-1 1010 Vienna & Poltava V.G. Korolenko National Pedagogical University; 2 Ostrogradsky Street, Poltava 66000 Ukraine & Ivan Franko National University of Lviv; Universytetska St, 1, Lviv, L'vivs'ka oblast, Ukraine, 79000; salvatore.giacomuzzi@gmx.at; ORCID: 0000-0002-4218-1685. Martin Rabe - UN ITU Focus Group on Environmental Efficiency for Artificial Intelligence; Grünangergasse 1/15-1 1010 Vienna; martinrabe@me.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-0613-5646. Ivan Titov - Poltava V.G. Korolenko National Pedagogical University; 2 Ostrogradsky Street, Poltava 66000, Ukraine; titovpsy@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-1137-158X. Tamila Zozul - Poltava V.G. Korolenko National Pedagogical University; 2 Ostrogradsky Street, Poltava 66000, Ukraine; tamilazozul@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-0097-7113. Marianna Kokhan - Ivan Franko National University of Lviv; Universytetska St, 1, Lviv, L'vivs'ka oblast, Ukraine, 79000; marianna.kokhan@ gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-9358-2200. Natalya Zyhaylo - Ivan Franko National University of Lviv; Universytetska St, 1, Lviv, L'vivs'ka oblast, Ukraine, 79000; nataliya.zhyhaylo@lnu.edu.ua; ORCID: 0000-0001-5686-26522. Natascha Barinova – V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University; Svobody Square, 4, Kharkiv, Kharkiv Oblast, Ukraine, 61000; barinova.n2310@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3924-7425. Kira Sedykh -Poltava V.G. Korolenko National Pedagogical University; 2 Ostrogradsky Street, Poltava 66000, Ukraine; kirast@ mail.ru; ORCID: 0000-0003-3528-7569. Oleksandr Kocharian – V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University; Svobody Square, 4, Kharkiv, Kharkiv Oblast, Ukraine, 61000; kocharian55@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3439-1364. Roman Kechur - Ukrainian Catholic University; Ilariona Svjentsits'koho St, 17, Lviv, Lviv Oblast, Ukraine, 79000; rkechur@yahoo.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-9489-7351. Klaus Garber - SFU Vienna; Freudpl. 1+3, 1020 Vienna; klaus.garber@rolmail.it; ORCID: 0000-0002-0958-0641. Rüdiger Stix - UN ITU Focus Group on Environmental Efficiency for Artificial Intelligence; Grünangergasse 1/15-1 1010 Vienna; RStix@gmx.at. Markus Ertl – UN ITU Focus Group on Environmental Efficiency for Artificial Intelligence; Grünangergasse 1/15-1 1010 Vienna; ertl.psychologe@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-6408-5045. David Clowes - Cracow University of Economics; Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków, Poland; clowesd@uek.krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-3176-9360

Implications / Recommendations: Health security belongs to the sphere equally important to that of the Revolution 4.0. A concept of Health Security that is not widely accepted and implemented creates a problematic mélange for employees as well as for industrial development. These features will be considered.

Contribution / Value Added: This paper tries to underline the relative shortage of common agreements on health within the Revolution 4.0.

Keywords: Revolution 4.0, health security, mental and physical health

Article classification: conceptual paper

JEL classification: Y

Introduction

In 1948, Norbert Wiener recounted that the origin of ideas in his book on Cybernetics was a ten-year-long series of meetings at the Harvard Medical School, where medical scientists and physicians discussed scientific methods with mathematicians, physicists, and engineers. He detailed the interdisciplinary nature of his approach as well as his early thoughts on the features and design principles of future digital calculating machines. Nowadays, we are on the edge of the Fourth Digital Revolution, also referred to as the Revolution 4.0. Therefore, the link between health and the digital environment is becoming more and more important, but it is very often disregarded in terms of its importance.

In recent years, the authors of this article have been very much concerned with health and working conditions. We had conducted several empirical studies on this issue alone (Titov et al., 2022; Titov et al., 2020, Seyfried et al., 2014, Rabe et al., 2012a, 2012b). These studies were mostly carried out in the context of the Third Industrial Revolution. We are now in the fourth expansion phase of the industrial evolution and health issues in this regard are becoming more and more important. The concept of health security is becoming increasingly accepted in public health literature and practice. However, there is no full agreement on its scope and content.

The link between security and health is not a discovery. According to Augustynowicz et al. (2022), despite the widespread recognition of the social importance of health security, there is no single common definition of this concept. The aim of this paper is to draw attention to the definition of health security and its impact within the Revolution 4.0. Therefore, the authors would like to draw attention to this topic from a more theoretical point of view regarding the more problematic situation of missing standards within health security and the Revolution 4.0.

Health security - an ambiguous concept

As is very well-known, local public good benefits all members of a local community and can possibly include the citizens of more than one country. Furthermore, an international public good benefits more than one country. Global and regional public goods are both international public goods. However, some international public goods are neither regional nor global. According to the Encyclopedia of Health Economics (Culver, 2014), the global public good concept is an extension of the economic tradition of classifying goods and services according to where they stand along two axes - one measuring rivalry in consumption, while the other measuring excludability. Global public good benefits all countries and, therefore, all persons. Public goods theory purports to show why goods with rigorously defined characteristics of publicness cannot be produced efficiently by the private sector of the economy, creating a market failure which implies a role for government in the production of those goods for which the market fails. Technically, in their purest form, public goods are those that share two qualities - non-excludability and non-rivalry, in economists' jargon. This means, respectively, that when provided to one party, the public good is available to all, and consumption of the public good by one party does not reduce the amount available for others to consume. Traditional examples of national public goods include traffic control systems and national security – goods that benefit all citizens and national private actors, but none that any of the latter could afford to supply under their own initiative.

The health sector is one of the sectors that is the most exposed to technological evolution, so it is being impacted by digitisation, revolutionising the way healthcare is provided, from the interaction between patients and caregivers to governments and stakeholders (Schwab, 2017). According to Jagme et al. (2020), the Fourth Industrial Revolution is changing the way in which health is understood, transforming methods of treatment and diagnosis, as well as the relationship between health professionals and patients, altering the management and organisation of health systems.

Within the health sector, mental health plays an important role. Regarding mental health since the end of 2013, the Occupational Health and Safety Act has explicitly required that mental stress must be considered in risk assessments (da Silva et al., 2019). This means that all companies and organisations must also identify those hazards for their employees that result from mental stress at work. In occupational sciences, "mental stress" is understood to mean all influences that come from outside and have a mental effect on people at work. It is, therefore, about the demands of the work or the work activity and the working environment.

William Aldis (2008) underlined that ambiguity and confusion surround the concept of 'health security'. According to Aldis, this has caused damage to international relationships and is likely to lead to more serious problems in the future. For Aldin and many others, the global public health community must work towards a common understanding of the concept, starting with acceptance of the fact that there is a problem. As Aldis pointed out, reaching a consensus on what is meant by 'health security' and 'global public health security' will not be easy; hidden national security agendas will have to be brought out into the open. An uncritical insertion of military and foreign policy (political) interests into the arena of global public health is problematic. Much of the literature makes simplistic assumptions about natural harmony between 'health security', 'global public health security', national security, and foreign policy, as Aldis already underlined in 2008.

In the light of this discussion, Feldbaum et al. already in 2006 gave a more general idea of health security, which could be useful for a more practical point of view:

Global health is a humanitarian endeavour that seeks to improve the world's health including the most vulnerable peoples, while national security works to protect the interests of people within a given state ... While there is potential to expand global health activities through partnership with the security and foreign policy communities, treating global health issues as national security threats may focus attention disproportionately on countries or diseases which pose security threats to wealthy nations, rather than on the greatest threats to global health. The global health community should carefully scrutinise areas where global health and national security interests overlap (p. 196).

Ravi et al. (2019) synthesised various foundational principles for measuring global health security. Their review broadly affirmed that when it comes to the conceptual challenges associated with measuring global health security, several practical barriers continue to pose technical challenges. Even with a strong theoretical foundation, measurement efforts might still be hindered by limited data availability. Many of the metrics employed in other tools – both qualitative and quantitative – are not regularly or systematically collected in a standardised manner. Ravi et al. (2019) stated that, although alternative metrics could support more conceptually sound methods of measurement, poor data availability would still preclude their adoption and meaningful use.

Nevertheless, in 2020, Stoeva pointed out that there was no consensus among analysts about the specific parameters of health security. According to Stoeva, this inhibits comparative evaluation and critique, and affects the consistency of advice for policymakers. She claims that a broader conceptualisation of health security could transform the politics of health security, thus improving health outcomes beyond acute crises and thereby contributing to broader debated within security studies.

According to the last release of the WHO, global public health security is defined as the activities required, both proactive and reactive, to minimise the danger and impact of acute public health events that endanger people's health across geographical regions and international boundaries. Population growth, rapid urbanisation, environmental degradation, and the misuse of antimicrobials are disrupting the equilibrium of the microbial world. New diseases, such as COVID-19, are emerging at unprecedented rates, disrupting people's health and causing negative social and economic impacts. Billions of passengers travel by aeroplanes each year, increasing the likelihood for a rapid international transmission and spread of infectious agents and their vectors (WHO, 2022).

However, within the framework of systematic occupational safety and health action, the risk assessment process should be reviewed from time to time and improved if necessary. The aim of risk assessment is to identify potential health hazards at work as early as possible and to avoid or reduce them by taking appropriate protective measures. How risk assessments are to be carried out is not prescribed by law.

However, the future will be within a more digital construction of cities and environment. They will be called within the UN nomenclature `Smart Cities`.

Revolution 4.0

Since the 1960s, companies have integrated and made increasingly greater use of information technologies. Desktop PCs, the use of office IT, and the first computer-based automation have revolutionised industry. For the development of the Revolution 4.0, the central technology is not the computer, but the Internet (Colombo et al., 2014).

With global networking across companies and country borders, the process of digitalising production integrates new technologies of higher quality: the Internet of Things, machine-to-machine communication and production facilities that are becoming increasingly intelligent and heralding in a new era, namely the Fourth Industrial Revolution. People, machines, and products are being directly networked with each other (Schwab, 2017).

Typical examples include remote diagnostic systems, automated transport trolleys, or cloudbased monitoring of the condition of machinery. However, there are also projects that present more integrated solutions and map an overall concept for the smart factory. However, current examples show that the Industry 4.0 is still very often located in an area of research and development (Lim, 2019).

The term 4.0 should describe the new economic miracle, i.e. digital transformation. If one counts the frequency of these buzzwords in business and in technology media, one could almost get the impression that all of these concepts have already been realised. However, companies are only at the beginning of a development that will determine the next ten years across all sectors (Orsolin et al., 2022).

The number '4.0' is generally intended to express the goal of ushering in the Fourth Industrial Revolution:

- The First Industrial Revolution consisted of mechanisation using water and steam power.
- The Second Industrial Revolution was characterised by mass production with the help of assembly lines and electrical energy.
- The Third Industrial Revolution, or digital revolution, is marked by the use of electronics and IT (especially programmable logic controllers and CNC machines) to automate production.
- The number '4.0' is used to describe the process of automation within digital networks.

Implementing the Industry 4.0

According to Castro et al. (2020), an effective and efficient implementation of disruptive technologies requires global interaction between governments, health professionals, stakeholders, and society, which is essential in ensuring that such changes are made possible. Currently, the effects of certain advances remain largely undefined and unaddressed while many conversations have taken place in a somewhat siloed fashion. Implementing the Industry 4.0 is, therefore, a complex endeavour involving different players. Uniform norms and standards for different industrial sectors, IT security, and data protection all play a more central role than the legal framework, the change in education and work, the development of new business models, and the necessary research. How the global, digital ecosystems of the future can be shaped is stated, for example, within the 2030 mission statement for the Industry 4.0, which emphasises sovereignty, interoperability, and sustainability as a central topic (*BMWi*, 2019).

However, there is still a highly controversial assessment regarding the descriptions on the subject of health. A chain of ambiguities is responsible for this. For example, Popov et al. (2022) state that the Industry 4.0 in healthcare uses a wide range of modern technologies including digitisation, artificial intelligence, user response data (ergonomics), human psychology, the Internet of Things, machine learning, big data mining, and augmented reality. According to these authors, the healthcare industry is undergoing a paradigm shift owing to the Industry 4.0, which provides better user comfort through proactive intervention in the early detection and treatment of various diseases. The sector now seems ready to make its next move towards the Industry 5.0, but certain aspects need further consideration. Dupalga (2022) states that the technologies attributed to Health 4.0 are frequently perceived as the tools supporting patient empowerment. In his own literature review, the author revealed that – in addition to web-based applications – personal health records, remote monitoring, and electronic patient-physician communication are all perceived as keys to enhancing patient empowerment. Participation in online patient communities is also recognised as an enabling solution.

Smart Cities, blockchain¹ and health security within the Revolution 4.0

Blockchain technology (BCT), which emerged during the last decade, has gained a great deal of interest in the healthcare sector (Sharma et al., 2022). BCT was designed to revolutionise the management of smart cities with Blockchain4Cities. The technology, while initially focused on financial services, holds great promise in healthcare. According to Saeed et al. (2022), BCT is being applied in designing novel and advanced interventions to enrich the current protocol of managing, distributing, and processing clinical records and personal medical information. The

¹ A *block* is a list of transactions recorded into a ledger over a given period. The size, period as well as the triggering event for blocks is different for every blockchain. A transaction can be seen as recorded data. Assigning a value to it (such as what happens in a financial transaction) is used to interpret what that data means. A *chain* is a hash that links one block to another, mathematically "chaining" them together. The hash in a blockchain is created from the data that was in the previous block. The hash is a fingerprint of this data and locks blocks in order and time. A *network* is composed of "full nodes." Nodes can be seen as computers running an algorithm that is securing the network. Each node contains a complete record of all the transactions that were ever recorded in that blockchain. *A blockchain* is a decentralised, distributed, and often public digital ledger consisting of records called blocks that are used to record transactions across many computers so that any involved block cannot be altered retroactively, without the alteration of all subsequent blocks.

growing digitisation of medical care has advanced the acknowledgment of issues about secure storage, the accessing of patients' medical records, ownership, and associated medical data. Blockchain is recommended as a method of addressing critical issues faced in healthcare, such as the protected sharing of health records and adherence to data privacy laws (Saeed et al., 2022).

Qui et al. (2018) have recently stated that the integration of healthcare and smart cities has led to the utilisation of information and technology in health and medical practices around the world. According to Qui et al., this integration has improved the life and health quality of residents in smart cities, though they also point out that the integration has also exposed the healthcare industry to security challenges, which include patients' private health information as well as the security of mobile health users in the vicinity. The use of Blockchain (see Qui et al., 2018) is a promising technology, which will enable healthcare to counter security challenges in smart cities. Blockchain technology facilitates a safe and secure storage of patient information within the healthcare system.

In the year 2020, there was a ratio of approximately six intelligent devices/things for every human on the planet. In a world of digital business, individuals and IT leaders will need to orchestrate these new devices, new data streams, and new experiences in order to create value. But what principles will these IT leaders apply? How will they deal in their approach to the issue of health security?

Tim Berners-Lee, one of the founders of the World Wide Web, diagnosed that those digital systems are on an edge. This is because of:

- the accelerated monopolisation of data and services;
- a complete transparency of people (not only direct users) while the procedures of companies remain secret;
- fuelling social polarisation in social networks via filter bubbles;
- increased surveillance by governments;
- pseudo-neutrality by delegation of decision-making processes to algorithms, etc.

Despite technology advancements having significant benefits in our lives, the often-overlooked consequences are scary.

We now almost always need to have something electronic in our hands – a technological device that connects us to the Internet. We are bypassing the real world and spending an unprecedented amount of time socialising, working, and thinking with computers.

People are no longer interfacing with people; instead, they rely primarily on technology for knowledge. With less human-to-human interaction, we stagnate our social skills. It also removes open-ended conversations with others, even though they lead to our most creative moments.

Social inclusion is incredibly important to us - just look at the immense popularity of social networking sites. We are constantly focused on what others think and we post pictures not for ourselves, but for others to enjoy. When we spend too much time attempting to please others, we lose track of what we actually want or like. Think about how different our children will be to our grandparents' generation. Children now play with iPads even before they can talk. What impact will this have on the societies to come?

The United Nations International Telecommunication Union (UN ITU) deals with the assessment and measurement of the environmental efficiency of AI and emerging technologies (Alessie et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2020; ITU, 2021). A smart and sustainable city is considered as an innovative city that uses information and communication technologies (ICTs) and other means to improve the quality of life, the efficiency of urban operations, as well as services and

competitiveness while at the same time ensuring that it meets the needs of present and future generations with respect to economic, social, environmental, and cultural aspects (Recommendation ITU-T Y.4900).

Blockchain is an open and shared distributed ledger technology (DLT), which can record transactions between two parties efficiently, permanently, and in a verifiable way. It consists of a shared digital data storage, replicated and synchronised across multiple devices in a network. The main objective of DLT is to establish trust, accountability, and transparency, with no reliance on a single source of authority or on environments where there is a lack of trust between actors. It also promotes decentralisation and data integrity (ITU Report 03/2021 – Guidelines on Energy Efficient Blockchain Systems Assessment and Measurement of the Environmental Efficiency of AI and Emerging Technologies Working Group Deliverable).

The connection between energy and health can be hard to grasp at first glance. Nevertheless, the negative externalities resulting from the consumption of fossil fuels can be clearly identified. In January 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) named climate change and air pollution as two of the greatest challenges to human health. Energy is now recognised as a foundation for well-being, while recent work has documented the link between access to energy services and health. For example, Mayer et al. (2019) discovered that concerns over energy security reduce subjective well-being, suggesting another avenue through which energy relates to human health. Millions of people rely on electricity to power critical medical equipment. This medicallyvulnerable population is at risk of being left without access to critical medical equipment in the event of a power outage. Therefore, energy efficiency is a crucial issue for today and for future city sustainability, especially due to the growing emergence of smart cities (SC) and that of cutting-edge technologies. Some emerging technologies, for instance, including blockchain and its role in cryptocurrency and contracting, may not take sustainability into consideration during their development. These technologies often require a huge amount of energy, leaving behind significant environmental footprints. It is important to understand how to reduce the environmental impact of these technologies, because it will contribute to the well-being of the market economy as well as to the quality of life of citizens and the users of these technologies (ITU, 2019). In this regard, the definition of blockchain energy requirements and of the means that can enhance blockchain energy efficiency would be useful. Thus, this work aims to define the blockchain's energy efficiency model.

Up until now, no issues regarding health security have been found (Giacomuzzi, $2020)^2$. A disturbing survey recently quoted that the average person in the USA now spends around 5 hours per day on mobile devices. Think of all the life that escapes us? We need to incorporate habitual phone-free moments so that we do not allow life to escape us. At any red light or even whilst driving, we are more inclined than ever before to check our mobile phones. We have come to a point where we would place our tech obsession above our health and the health of others.

"We cannot outsource the moral responsibility of our technologies to third parties" (Google employees in an open letter to CEO Sundar Pichai). Our task is not only to rein in the downsides of information and communication technologies, but to encourage human-centred innovation" (Vienna Manifesto on Digital Humanism). Therefore, the digital humanism approach states that we must go back to the centre of technological developments and making people the benchmark

 $^{^2\,}$ Talk at the UN ITU online-conference December 2020: Digital humanism and human behaviour in businesses.

and rule for digitalisation processes (Carassai, 2022). Humanity needs to realise that every single human being is part of the humanitarian and ecological crisis (Malisova et al., 2022). The emerging digital world requires human-centric digital leadership³. This perspective is driven by the belief that technology is valuable when it allows people to spend less time on mundane, repetitive, and inefficient tasks. Businesses should seek to understand how our shared humanity can define the systems they create and control. Doing so not only allows people a sense of mastery over technology, but it also provides direct benefits to business that digital machinist-driven automation simply cannot deliver.

COVID-19 and accelerated digitalisation efforts

COVID-19 has created an urgent need for organisations to accelerate their digitalisation efforts. The pandemic demonstrated the value of digital initiatives in e-commerce, deliveries, supply chain virtualisation, process automation, and other activities, especially where physical activities were no longer possible. The rapid responses to the pandemic made accelerating digital business critical for the survival of a company. Unfortunately, however, they paid little attention to health security standards despite enhanced time in digital working activities. The vast majority of companies were unable to cope with the crisis in this regard (Gabryelczyk, 2020).

Synthesis and conclusions

Beyond achieving final clarity and openness in the definition of health security, what concrete steps must be taken to implement the health security concept in the national interest, and how can we combine Smart Cities, blockchain, and health security within the Revolution 4.0?

The WHO has stated unequivocally that 'functioning health systems are the bedrock of health security', but it remains to be seen whether development partners, including donors in the socalled developed countries are prepared to make the technical and financial commitments for the development of health systems which are necessary to ensure that poor countries benefit from the timely and open sharing of information in accordance with the global health security concept. The cost of these commitments should not be underestimated; it is much more expensive to develop and maintain a national health system than it is to introduce national communicable disease surveillance and outbreak containment alone. However, failure to do this may result in a breakdown of health security for the rich and the poor alike.

Simply put, a blockchain is a digital record of financial transactions that allows users to securely and transparently store and transfer data. It is a decentralised network of computers that share data in a distributed, immutable, and secure way. Smart cities are cities that use technology to improve the quality of life for citizens by providing better services, improved infrastructure, and increased efficiency. Smart cities can therefore use blockchain to store and share data, allowing them to create systems that are secure, transparent, and efficient. BCT can be used to help improve urban infrastructure, public safety, energy efficiency, and access to services. For example, in the transport

³ Digital humanism is the notion that people are the central focus in the manifestation of digital businesses and digital workplaces. Businesses who embrace digital humanism use technology to redefine the way people achieve their goals and enable people to achieve things not previously possible. Digital humanism stands in contrast to digital mechanism – a view that sees the minimisation of human involvement through automation as the central focus of technology.

sector, blockchain technology can be used to track the movement of vehicles and goods, help manage traffic congestion, and to provide secure payments for public transport.

In addition, blockchain technology can also be used to help manage public records, issue digital identities, store data securely, and facilitate the sharing of resources between public and private entities. Smart cities can also benefit from blockchain technology by using it to manage smart contracts and to ensure the secure transfer of data between citizens, businesses, and the government.

The Fourth Industrial Revolution is changing the way health is understood, transforming methods of treatment and diagnosis as well as the relationship between health professionals and patients while altering the management and organisation of health systems (Castroet al., 2020). The health sector is one of the sectors that is most exposed to technological evolution, so it is being impacted by digitisation, revolutionising the way healthcare is provided, from the actual interaction between patients and caregivers to governments and stakeholders (Schwab, 2017). Global health security is a global public good that is essential to the well-being of individuals, communities, and societies. The Industry 4.0, on the other hand, is the Fourth Industrial Revolution, which has transformed and revolutionised the use of technology in manufacturing and production.

While the global health security and the Industry 4.0 are very different in their nature, they have much in common. For example, both emphasise the importance of collaboration and data sharing in order to maximise efficiency and reach the desired outcomes. Furthermore, the Industry 4.0 technologies can be used to enhance global health security, such as through the use of artificial intelligence and machine learning to detect and respond to disease outbreaks faster. Additionally, new digital technologies can be used to monitor the compliance with global health regulations and to better coordinate global health initiatives. Finally, the Industry 4.0 can help to improve access to healthcare services, including telemedicine and remote monitoring technologies, which can be particularly beneficial in the so-called developing countries. Furthermore, AI can be used to track the spread of disease and identify potential outbreaks before they become pandemics. Robotics can be applied to assist with medical procedures and improve healthcare access in remote areas. Also, the Internet of Things can be employed to monitor the environment and detect potential threats to global health. By utilising the Industry 4.0 technologies, global health security can be improved, which will benefit everyone in the world.

Finally, the global health security can be thought of as a global public good, meaning that it benefits everyone in the world. The Industry 4.0, also known as the Fourth Industrial Revolution, is focused on creating digital solutions for businesses and governments to improve efficiency and productivity. This can be applied to global health security as well, as digital solutions can be used to help monitor, respond to, and prevent health risks on a global scale. Digital solutions can also be used to create secure systems for sharing health data, which can help ensure that health risks are addressed in a timely and effective manner. Additionally, the use of blockchain technology can be applied to create secure and transparent systems for managing health data, which can help facilitate better communication between countries and organisations regarding global health security.

By making these solutions accessible to everyone, we can help ensure that everyone is aware of the importance of global health security. To implement health security in the national interest, concrete steps must be taken to ensure that citizens have access to accurate and up-to-date information on health risks. Therefore, there is a strong need for a re-definition of global public health because of new challenges propelled by these new technologies. Furthermore, there is also a need to educate the public, policymakers, and providers about the impending transformation, to modernise the existing governance systems and structures, and to develop a coordinated and collective framework⁴.

Reference List

- Aldis, W. (2008). Health security as a public health concept: a critical analysis. *Health Policy and Planning*, 23(6), 369–375. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czn030
- Allessie, D., Sobolewski, M., & Vaccari, L. (2019). Blockchain for digital government: An assessment of pioneering implementations. Public Services. EU Joint Research Center.
- Augustynowicz, A., Opolski, J., & Waszkiewicz, M. (2022). Health Security: Definition Problems. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(16):10009. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191610009
- Banai, R., & Rapino, M. A. (2009). Urban Theory Since "A Theory of Good City Form (1981)": A progress review. Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability, 2(3), 259–276.
- Carassai, M. (2022]). Digital Humanities and the Humanistic Tradition Situating Digital Humanism. *The Routledge Companion to Humanism and Literature*. Routledge. ISBN 9781003046004
- Castro, E., Jagme, M., & Araújo, F. (2020). Impact of the Fourth Industrial Revolution on the Health Sector: A Qualitative Study. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, 26(4), 328–334. https://doi: 10.4258/ hir.2020.26.4.328
- Colombo, A. W., Karnouskos, S., & Bangemann, Th. (2014). Towards the Next Generation of Industrial Cyber-Physical Systems. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-05624-1_1
- Culyer, A. J. (Ed.). 2014. Encyclopedia of Health Economics Encyclopedia of Health Economics. ISBN 978-0-12-375679-4
- Duplaga, M. (2022). Patient empowerment in Health 4.0. In M. Ćwiklicki, M. Duplaga & J. Klich, (Eds.), *The Digital Transformation of Healthcare: Health 4.0.* (pp. 46–62). Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003144403
- Digitale Ökosysteme global gestalten. Leitbild 2030 für Industrie 4.0 (2019). Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi).
- Feldbaum, H., Patel, P., Sondorp, E., & Lee, K. (2006). Global health and national security: the need for critical engagement. *Medicine, Conflict and Survival*, 22, 192–198.
- Gabryelczyk, R. (2020). Has COVID-19 Accelerated Digital Transformation? Initial Lessons Learned for Public. Administrations, Information Systems Management, 37(4), 303–309, DOI: 10.1080/10580530.2020.1820633
- Guo, Y-M., Huang, Z-L., Guo, J., Guo, X-R., Li, H., Liu, M-L, Ezzeddine, S., & Nkeli, M. J. (2021). A bibliometric analysis and visualization of blockchain. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 116, 316–332.
- ITU (2020). U4SSC: Blockchain for smart sustainable cities. ITU Publishing. Available at: http://www.itu. int/pub/T-TUT-SMARTCITY-2020-54 (accessed: 05.02.2021).
- Jagme, C., & Araújo, N. M. F. (2020). Impact of the Fourth Industrial Revolution on the Health Sector: A Qualitative Study. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, 26(4), 328–334. doi: 10.4258/hir.2020.26.4.328
- Lim, T. W. (2019). Quiz 1: Tech Giants, Digitized Workplaces and Societies Quiz. In: *Industrial Revolution* 4.0, Tech Giants, and Digitized Societies (pp. 155–161). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-7470-8_12
- Malisova, K., & Stavrakis, M. (2022). Designing Sustainable Interactions for Digital Humanism. New Explorations: Studies in Culture and Communication, 2(3), 150–161. https://jps.library.utoronto.ca/ index.php/nexj/article/view/39031
- Mayer, A., & Smith, E. K. (2019). Exploring the link between energy security and subjective well-being: A study of 22 nations. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 9, 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-019-0216-1

⁴ 2016–2018 Global Future Council on the Future of Health and Healthcare (2019). www.weforum.org

- Orsolin Klingenberg, C., Borges, M., & do Vale Antunes, J. (2022). Industry 4.0: What makes it a revolution? A historical framework to understand the phenomenon. *Technology in Society*, 70, C. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102009
- Popov, V. V., Kudryavtseva, E. V., Kumar Katiyar, N., Shishkin, A., Stepanovm S. I., & Goelm, S. (2022). Industry 4.0 and Digitalisation in Healthcare. *Materials (Basel)*, 14/15(6), 2140. doi: 10.3390/ma15062140
- Saeed, H., Malik, H., Bashir, U., Ahmad, A., Riaz, S., Ilyas, M., Bukhari, W. A., & Khan, M. I. A. (2002). Blockchain technology in healthcare: A systematic review. *PLoS One*, 17(4), 1–31. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0266462
- da Silva, S., & Amaral, F. (2019). Critical factors of success and barriers to the implementation of occupational health and safety management systems: A systematic review of literature. *Safety Science*, 117, 123–132. doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2019.03.026
- Schwab, K. (2017). The Fourth Industrial Revolution. Penguin Books.
- Seyfried, K., Rabe, M., Nübling, M., & Giacomuzzi, S. (2014). Stress und Burnout bei Richteramtsanwärtern, RZ, 11, 246–250.
- Sharma, V., Gupta, A., Ul Hasan, N., Shabaz, M., & Ofori, I. (2022). Blockchain in Secure Healthcare Systems: State of the Art, Limitations, and Future Directions. *Security and Communication Networks*, 17, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9697545
- Stoeva, P. (2020). Dimensions of Health Security-A Conceptual Analysis. *Global Challenges*, 4(10), 1700003. https://doi: 10.1002/gch2.201700003
- Rabe, M., Giacomuzzi, S., & Nübling, M. (2012a). Psychosocial workload and stress in the workers' representative. BMC PUBLIC HEALTH, 12, 909. https://doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-909
- Rabe, M., Giacomuzzi, S., & Nübling, M. (2012b). Psychosoziale Belastungen und Bewältigungsstrategien von betrieblichen Interessensvertretern. *HEILBERUFESCIENCE*, 1–10. https://doi: doi: 10.1007/ s16024-012-0116-1
- Ravi, S. J., Meyer, D., Cameron, E., Nalabandian, M., Pervaiz, B., & Nuzzo, J. B. (2019). Establishing a theoretical foundation for measuring global health security: A scoping review. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 954. https://doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7216-0
- Titov, I., Sedykh, K., Titova, T., Myroshnyk, O., Giacomuzzi, S., Ertl, M., & Rabe, M. (2022). Psychosocial implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on the employees of the automotive industry in Germany. *International Journal of Health Sciences*, 6(2), 738–757. https://doi.org/10.53730/ijhs.v6n2.7975
- Titov, I., Titova, T., Sedykh, K., Giacomuzzi, S., Ertl, M., & Rabe, M. (2020). Psychological well-being of personality during the COVID-29 pandemic. *Psychology and Personality*, 2(18), 55–75. doi: 10.33989/2226-4078.2020.2.211913
- Qiu, J., Liang, X., Shetty, S., & Bowden, D. (2018). Towards Secure and Smart Healthcare in Smart Cities Using Blockchain. IEEE International Smart Cities Conference (ISC2), 1–4. doi: 10.1109/ISC2.2018.8656914

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Research Ethics Committee

Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

The author/autors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright and License

This article is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Published by Malopolska School of Public Administration – Krakow University of Economics, Krakow, Poland.

Data Availability Statement

All data will be available and shared upon request.

Michał Wnęk

El Salvador's Adoption of Bitcoin from the Perspective of One Year: The Influence on the State Budget and a Comparison to Poland's Legislature

Abstract

Objectives: With each passing year, cryptocurrencies are becoming more popular and play an increasingly important role in economic trading. This growing importance is related not only to the increased interest in this subject, but also to the growing theoretical and practical problems. The author's goal is to portray circumstances and implications of the adoption of cryptocurrency by the Republic of El Salvador – which recently included bitcoin as part of the state budget – as well as discuss possibility of similar precedent in Poland.

Research Design & Methods: Cryptocurrencies are still a relatively new invention and, simultaneously, a complicated one. Therefore, reliable sources and references are still scarce, and those which exist are mostly in the Internet space. In the following article, I have used dogmatic-theoretical method of research in subsequent steps; I analyse proper subject literature, journalistic reports, as well as legal regulations.

Findings: El Salvador has become the first country in history that had decided to equate the status of a cryptocurrency with its native currency. Recently, it was also followed by the Central African Republic. However, the Republic of El Salvador takes a step forward and includes bitcoin as part of the state budget, thus binding the country's economic condition with the market pricing of cryptocurrency. A one-year's investment has, so far, gone negatively for the country, as Bitcoin price has declined sharply throughout the year. When comparing the situation of El Salvador to the Polish reality, it should be stated that cryptocurrencies may, in the current legal state, be part of the state budget. However, this applies only to single instances; therefore, such a negligible share can be omitted in further discussion. Certainly, adoption on El Salvador's scale is not currently possible. Apart from obvious risks, it would require a thorough reform of not only the legal system, but, above all, the economic mentality of the society.

Implications/Recommendations: Given the fact that Bitcoin is a cryptocurrency with neither issuer nor central authority, such step is to be considered a significant precedent in the history of world's economy and for cryptocurrencies themselves. Due to the well-known price volatility of the market, the adoption seems to be highly risky, but, if successful, it may bring measurable benefits to country's economy. However, the true question is – is it justified to base the state's budget, which is economic foundation of society, on cryptocurrencies? Almost a year after the adoption, bitcoin price is significantly lower and, consequently, El Salvador's loss is higher. Yet, bitcoin proved to recover many times – even after slumping over 90%. To conclude, it is advisable to observe El Salvador's economic situation in order to be able to more precisely define the impact of such a decision in the future, both on the country and on the cryptocurrency market itself.

Contribution/Value Added: The adoption of cryptocurrencies by El Salvador was broadly discussed not only in the cryptocurrency community, but also in the financial and economical ones. Journalists from around the world as well as international institutions such as the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank all became

Michal Wnęk – master degree in Law, Faculty of Law and Administration, Jagiellonian University – 1st place in contest organised by the *Przegląd Prawa Handlowego* monthly for the best thesis in the field of commercial law in 2021, with a thesis titled *Natura Prawna Kryptowaluty* [*The Nature of the Law of Cryptocurrency*], Chief Editor of *Bithub.pl*, e-mail: michal3wnek@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-0218-7679.

interested in the situation of El Salvador. In this article, I organise information, assessments, and opinions of the international community regarding the Salvadoran precedent. I also indicate whether and at what level cryptocurrencies can be part of the Polish budget under current legal regulations. The Salvadorian case, due to being a precedent, has already become a valuable lesson for the future legal proposals, research, and discussion. Yet, the development of such a situation may be surprising, which is why further observation is advisable.

Keywords: Bitcoin, cryptocurrency, El Salvador, state budget, Poland, Administrative Law

Article classification: theoretical (conceptual) article

JEL classification: K23, E58, F53

Introduction

On 7th September, 2021, El Salvador adopted Bitcoin as the country's other legal tender, alongside the dollar. From that point on, it has been possible to make payments using the cryptocurrency directly. This also applies to settlements with public institutions. The decision itself has left international public opinion stunned, yet the Salvadorian authorities went a step further. Indeed, Bitcoin has been incorporated into the state budget and is regularly acquired using public funds¹. Bitcoin was also adopted as an additional legal tender by the Central African Republic (Zygiel, 2021)

The novelty of the topic, apart from it being a pioneering step, is about El Salvador causing a real debate on the possibility of accepting cryptocurrency as legal tender and even a national currency. This article, together with an entire series of other publications that have appeared primarily online, stands testament to the latter (Bitcoin.pl, 2021). This step, which not long ago seemed to belong in the realm of fantasy, is now discussed across various fields of social sciences (Alvarez et al., 2022). Economists and financiers have begun to closely follow the fate of El Salvador. This indirectly translates into more thorough analyses of the industry itself, leading to its development. Observing the Salvadorian case is important to hypothetical future adoptions in other states, as it will allow to correct possible mistakes.

How did a currency which has no issuer, and one that some – notably its fiercest critics – consider to be a financial pyramid, attain such a status? In this article, I provide an abridged history of cryptocurrencies and the circumstances in which El Salvador adopted cryptocurrency as legal tender. However, the main objective of this article is to analyse the influence that bitcoin adoption has exerted on El Salvador from the perspective of one year, as well as the possibility of the Republic of Poland following.

Material and methodology

I perform the analysis in a few subsequent steps, using dogmatic-theoretical method of research, combined with some minor calculations. First, I present the key terms referring to the article's subject alongside with a background of cryptocurrencies' historical development, which, in my opinion, is necessary to understand this novel topic. Secondly, I recall the key events portraying bitcoin adoption by El Salvador, combined with international overtones. Thirdly, I describe cryptocurrencies' legal background in Poland, highlighting key regulations.

I obtained data from various sources, depending on the subject of research. For the key terms, I used mostly scholars' literature which has increased vastly in recent years. Internet sources were inevitable to depict the adoption circumstances, alongside with institutional websites (for example the IMF site). Finally, when it comes to legal regulations in Poland, I based my findings on official legislative acts, followed by scholars commentaries, if available.

Combined with the time passed since the adoption, all this data allows me to address two main problems. First, what influence has El Salvador's decision exerted, not only on the country's

¹ When referring to the entire network, I use capitalised 'Bitcoin' and only in the singular, as in my opinion there is only one designation for the term 'Bitcoin', as is the case with the Internet network. When referring to the monetary units of the Bitcoin network, I use a lower case 'bitcoin', generally in the plural, as there are 21 million of the term. The technical details of the network will be discussed later in this paper.

state budget, but also on the international community? Second, is such a step possible in the Republic of Poland and could it be beneficial?

What is Bitcoin?

Bitcoin was launched on 3rd January, 2009, by the anonymous *Satoshi Nakamoto*². It is a complete and organised software used as a payments system across the Internet. At first, it was known primarily within the IT community. It also attracted interest from liberal and even anarchist circles (Cohan, 2017). While the Creator's initial intention was to allow Internet users to make payments without the involvement of a trusted third party, it soon became apparent that the mechanism invented by *Nakamoto* had the potential for much more than just fast and secure online payments. In less than a decade, Bitcoin has gone from being a curiosity for geeks to being the focal point of interest for investors from around the world, funds, and state institutions (Duggan, 2022).

However, Bitcoin is not the only cryptocurrency that exists. In fact, there are thousands of them which aim to solve different problems and present various approaches³. The brightest example is Ethereum – the second cryptocurrency after Bitcoin. In contradiction to its predecessor, its main goal is to create a decentralised platform for developing applications, and not being a system of payments (Antonopoulos & Wood, 2019).

Cryptocurrencies began to emerge in large numbers in several past years and are increasingly seen as an alternative form of investment and a currency over which the state has no control. Spectacular price rallies and even more dramatic crashes have undoubtedly contributed to its rising popularity. The value of bitcoins has been known to increase by thousands of percent in a single year, only to fall by as much as 90 percent thereafter. Within a decade, the value of a bitcoin changed from a few cents to nearly 70,000 USD (Runkevicius, 2021). However, it was the technical aspects and potential deflationary features that attracted the original interest from those who saw the potential for the cryptocurrency's growth.

The term 'cryptocurrency' itself refers to a currency that is secured by cryptography and exists only in the virtual space (Kessler, 2022; Nakamoto, 2008). In fact, Bitcoin is simply a publicly accessible database (much like the Internet), although its main purpose it to serve as a system of payments, thus making it a widely accessible network inside the Internet. However, every participant of this network has equal privileges. In this system, there is no hierarchy as well as there are no administrators and no users. Anyone can contribute to sustaining the network (by multiplying and enhancing the database) and use it on equal terms. Just this brief description explains the interest from liberal circles, especially those with a socialist streak, alienated by the practices of state institutions (Iqbal et al., 2021)⁴. Since free and unlimited access to

² It is worth adding that the Creator remains anonymous to this day. We do not know who is hiding under the pseudonym Satoshi Nakamoto. Furthermore, there has been no communication with the Creator for nearly a decade. Effectively, this is tantamount to a definitive withdrawal from the project, which is now being developed by the community.

³ The actual number of cryptocurrencies published on public websites varies depending on source, as it is sometimes difficult to consider particular project as a cryptocurrency or as still being used and developed. Based on *coingeko.com*, there are over 13,000 cryptocurrencies, whereas based on *coinmarketcap.com*, there are more than 20,000.

⁴ One of the most known postulates of liberalism is *'laissez faire'*, which refers to the lack of economic interventionism used by the state. Therefore, a currency without possibility of printing suits this saying perfectly.
the decentralised Bitcoin network, subject only to Internet access, is available to everyone, it began to develop into an alternative financial system (Livni & Lipton, 2021). There are even accounts on the Internet of people claiming to have completely stopped using cash, bank cards, or online transfers in favour of cryptocurrencies (Harrington, 2022). And that is not as ridiculous is it may sound. The number of entities – especially businesses offering goods and services – which accept bitcoins is increasing steadily (Ciesielski, 2021).

Twenty-one million is an important number when it comes to cryptocurrencies. This is the maximum number of bitcoins – the monetary units of the Bitcoin network, which, unfortunately, share common name, making it hard to differ between those terms⁵. Due to restrictions implemented in the source code, no more bitcoins can ever be created, and due to an automatic supply model, the last bitcoin is going to be created around year 2140 (Kim, 2019). The twenty-one million limit attracts supporters of a currency which is independent of government, as it not only lends a deflationary character to the project, but also makes printing additional bitcoins impossible. Therefore, similar hard-cap limits are introduced in alternative cryptocurrency projects⁶.

This feature – alongside with the aforementioned decentralisation – is the main advantage of such currencies, according to adherents. The inability to print more money is one of the most important qualities of Bitcoin. However, its opponents counter that a certain amount of inflation is necessary – in line with the assumptions of some schools of economics (Skidelsky, 2011) – and, moreover, that control over money supply is required to handle various perturbations. And that is not possible with Bitcoin. At the same time, the lack of this control should be understood as the lack of discretionary influence over the functioning of the cryptocurrency, and not as chaos inherent in the functioning of the project. It is quite the opposite, i.e. everything is meticulously written down in the source code, therefore leaving little space for manipulation. A cryptocurrency has no issuer-guarantor, as it is with traditional currencies, where usually the state bank issues a country's currency, making it reliable based on its authority (Ofiarski, 2017). Instead, the issuer-guarantor's role – to a meagre extent – is essentially performed by computers. And it is these computers that implement the aforementioned network rules, as well as a number of other important features, and make sure that it constitutes a coherent whole (MonitorFX, 2022).

However, if there is no issuer-guarantor, and no entity is able to influence the currency, how can such a system be trustworthy? As I mentioned at the beginning, Bitcoin is actually a database that contains a range of information. This information is stored and processed according to the algorithms encoded by the Bitcoin's Creator in the IT source code. Computers, which perform a series of complex operations every second, make sure it is not possible to modify this code, or the information contained in the ledger (which could lead to Bitcoin's annihilation). On top of that, all the information in this ledger is public and publicly available, making it easier to identify any possible attempts to change it. The security of the entire network (database) improves as the number of computers 'defending' its integrity is on the increase. Modifying the information would – in theory – require computing power at least equal to that of the network itself. Considering that at the moment, the power of Bitcoin's network is greater than the world's 500 largest supercomputers combined, one would have to conclude that Bitcoin is the most secure database in existence (Santos, 2018); or at least in IT terms, as opponents continue to

⁵ Cf. footnote 1.

⁶ For example, Dash limit is 21 million coins, as it with Zcash. On the other hand, Ethereum does not have hard-cap limit, but its main function is not monetary, as was already mentioned.

make economic accusations against cryptocurrencies and also point out that there may be a yet unnoticed critical bug in the code (Meng, 2021). The technology for recording and storing data (known as blockchain) deserves a separate discussion in itself, as it is applicable to more than just a monetary system (Hassan et al., 2020).

Cryptocurrency, therefore, not only constitutes the first serious attempt to digitally represent value, but is also an attempt to eliminate the human factor from the currency operation process. This has only been made possible by the technological and scientific progress made in recent years. And it might take additional years or even decades to see whether these efforts were justified.

El Salvador's precedent

The following is a brief description of money without an issuer-guarantor, created by someone whose name and surname are unknown and secured by the computing power of machines. Money, which is impossible to print and, above all, whose price is incredibly volatile. Daily fluctuations of between ten and twenty percent and even more are no surprise to most market 'veterans'. At the same time, cryptocurrencies are often used in the process of committing various crimes, especially money laundering (Konieczny et al., 2018). This begs the obvious question of why a sovereign state, such as the Republic of El Salvador, decided to be the first in the world to recognise Bitcoin as legal tender and to base part of the state budget on bitcoin reserves. That decision may seem insane whilst being trivial and insignificant. This is primarily due to the rather limited significance of El Salvador on the international arena. However, this is a precedent that merely a few years ago seemed like the most exuberant fantasy of a cryptocurrency fanatic. The above becomes even more profound once the decision by the Central African Republic to integrate so staunchly with the cryptocurrency system is taken into account. While merely a few years ago such steps might have seemed like literary fiction, and even El Salvador itself might have been downplayed, today – in view of two separate states pursuing that path – this group is expected to expand in the near future.

However, there are two clearly separate issues here. First of all, in terms of cryptocurrencyfriendly regulation, El Salvador is not a pioneer, and in most countries cryptocurrency trading is permitted and regulated to some extent; more on this below. What is a real precedent is the commitment of public funds to acquire bitcoins and to take active steps to encourage citizens to use the Bitcoin ecosystem. Since introducing the legal changes, El Salvador has been regularly acquiring further batches of the cryptocurrency. El Salvador's last bitcoin purchase was at the end of June and its total balance (as of November 2022) stands at almost than 2,400 BTC⁷. The country's President, Nayib Bukele, has very enthusiastically tweeted about subsequent bitcoin purchases⁸. And, incidentally, he was the main force behind the 'Bitcoin revolution' idea and was instrumental in convincing the parliament to pass the relevant laws. In adopting Bitcoin, Bukele sees an opportunity to attract foreign investors to the country and save on money transfer fees that poor people have to pay to intermediaries, as well as a chance for financial independence of the state and its citizens. Perhaps unsurprisingly, money transfers sent to families by Salvadoreans working abroad account for nearly a quarter of the country's GDP, so the potential savings could have a significant impact on the local economy (Kopańko, 2021). Furthermore, it should be noted that

⁷ Data based on https://exchangerate.guru/btc/svc/9500/ (accessed: 12.02.2022)

⁸ Cf. official twits on Twitter.com, https://twitter.com/nayibbukele/status/1542672286490271744

the vast majority of citizens have no realistic access to banking and, as such, financing through borrowing is not a viable option for them (*Investing.com*, 2021).

However, the new legal regulations coming into force have been met with considerable criticism from financial institutions as well as the indigenous population, where the President nevertheless enjoys considerable support (Jemioło, 2021). The World Bank has adamantly disassociated itself from El Salvador's actions and announced that it will not support the implementation of cryptocurrency payments (Campos, 2021). The Moody's credit rating agency has warned against the country's high risk of default, citing bitcoin investments among the reasons (Moodys, 2021). A communiqué from the International Monetary Fund states that 'The adoption of cryptocurrency as legal tender entails significant risks to financial and market integrity, financial stability and consumer protection' (IMF, 2022). At the same time, the IMF recommended to narrow the scope of the law on cryptocurrencies and increase supervision over the crypto-payment system. Indeed, as part of its cryptocurrency adoption programme, El Salvador has set up a special 150-billion-USD fund (Renteria, 2021). Businesses have been obliged to accept bitcoin payments and access has been provided for every citizen to the government's bitcoin wallet, where the equivalent of 30 USD will await each registered participant. These measures are aimed at encouraging the public to use this new legislative solution (Eyal, 2021). Despite international institutions issuing protests and recommendations, El Salvador's authorities remain adamant and refuse to comply with the IMF guidelines (IMF, 2022).

In spite of notable criticism, there were some who voiced their support for the path taken by El Salvador. Understandably, the cryptocurrency community itself was enthusiastic. Also, Ukraine began to consider taking similar steps (Parkin, 2021). Similar to Bukele, the incumbent President Volodymyr Zelenski is a well-known cryptocurrency fan. Preparatory steps for a wider adoption of cryptocurrencies were already taken in 2018, with 2023 as the target implementation year. Ukraine would become a dual-currency state, with the *hryvnia* and bitcoin in use alongside one another. Nevertheless, plans for such an integration are likely to be changed or at least delayed in the light of Russia's invasion. At the same time, Ukraine is not the only country seeking to replicate El Salvador's actions. Officials from Paraguay, Mexico, Brazil, and Argentina, to name but few, are also thinking along similar lines⁹. Such an approach by Latin American countries should not come as a surprise, as that is where actual cryptocurrency use has been on the rise for many years. In Venezuela, a government project for a centralised Petro 'cryptocurrency' was established as a solution to the country's continuing hyperinflation. However, the currency was criticised by a significant part of the community as well as Venezuelans (mainly due to centralisation), and, in retrospect, it can be said that the project was a failure (Adamiak, 2018).

Cryptocurrencies in Poland

Cryptocurrencies, and in particular Bitcoin, can be legally traded in the Republic of Poland. This conclusion is based not only on the lack of a provision prescribing a clear prohibition, but also on the letter of the Minister of Finance to the Speaker of the Sejm of 28 June, 2013, which stated that 'the operation and trading of virtual currencies in the Republic of Poland does not violate Polish or EU law'¹⁰. At the same time, the document states that Bitcoin does not meet the definition

⁹ Cf. footnote 29.

¹⁰ (BPS/043-30-1238/13), Lex.pl

of electronic currency in the light of the Act on Payment Services¹¹. With the growing popularity of cryptocurrencies, trying to define Bitcoin in legal terms is the subject of an increasingly lively debate (Bala et al., 2016; Michna, 2018; Szewczyk, 2018; Zacharzewski, 2017; Behan, 2022). Without entering into a detailed discussion here, it should be noted that in the light of the current regulations, Bitcoin is not legal tender, as this is taken by, according to Article 32 of the Act on the National Bank of Poland, media of exchange issued by the National Bank of Poland. In fact, that institution has an exclusive monopoly in this sphere. Also, the definition of virtual currency, as it appeared in the Act on Counteracting Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing, states that a virtual currency is a digital representation of value which is not legal tender issued by the NBP or other central banks. *As per* the earlier discussion, when it comes to Bitcoin, it is difficult to talk of an issuer.

However, this is not the only component and, in fact, the definition itself is quite complicated, being a result of implementing EU law and the AML Directive¹². The virtual currency is, therefore – from the positive side – a digital reproduction of value, which is convertible in economic transactions into legal means and accepted as a means of exchange, and can also be electronically stored or transferred, or may be the subject of electronic trade. On the other hand, from the negative side, the virtual currency will not be the above digital reproduction of value, as these belongs to: a) a legal payment means emitted by the NBP, foreign central banks, or other public administration bodies; b) an international settlement unit established by an international organisation and accepted by individual countries belonging to this organisation or cooperating with it; c) electronic money as understood by the Act of 19 August, 2011, on payment services; d) a financial as understood by the Act of 29 July, 2005, on trading in financial instruments; and e) a promissory note or check.

Such a multitude of requirements contained in the definition seems to darken the essence of cryptocurrency, and yet, taking into account the definition of virtual currency, one must also consider the equally extensive definitions of financial instruments or electronic money, to which the above definition referred to. Nevertheless, this is the legal framework. It should also be noted that the Polish law does not differentiate the legal situation of individual cryptocurrencies, which, if they meet the conditions of definition, will be considered a virtual currency. Some legislatures regulate this issue separately. In particular, it should be noted that El Salvador adopted Bitcoin only.

Cryptocurrencies have already been the subject of numerous rulings by common and administrative courts, as well as the Supreme Court¹³ and the Supreme Administrative Court¹⁴. Unsurprisingly, the vast majority of cases were on tax law grounds. Finally, after numerous perturbations, aided by the position of the Court of Justice of the European Union, trading in cryptocurrencies becomes exempt from value added tax, similar to trading in traditional currencies¹⁵. Further, as a result of protests and administrative difficulties, cryptocurrencies have been exempted from tax on civil law transactions (Tabka, 2018),¹⁶ while income from cryptocurrencies was classified similar to income on financial capital and taxed at a flat rate

¹¹ Journal of Laws 2011 No. 199 item 1175, as amended.

¹² Directive (EU) 2015/849 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2015, Official Journal of the European Union L141/73.

¹³ See, *inter alia*, Judgment of the Supreme Court of 3 June 2018; ref. no. II FSK 488/16; Judgment of the Supreme Court of 3 December 2009; ref. no. II CSK 550/09.

¹⁴ Cf., *inter alia*, Judgment of the Supreme Administrative Court of 6 March 2018; ref. no. II FSK 488/16; Judgment of the Supreme Administrative Court of 19 August 2021 ref. no. I FSK 590/18.

¹⁵ Judgment of the Court of Justice of the European Union of 22 October 2015; ref. C-264/14 ¹⁶Article. 9 section 1a) of the Act on Tax on Civil Law Transactions (Journal of Laws of 2022, item 111, 655).

of 19% (compared to the previous rate of up to 32%)¹⁷. Finally, as of this year, exchanging or brokering in the exchange of cryptocurrencies is a regulated activity. This entails an entry in the register of providers of such activities and is subject to a number of requirements, including having no criminal record as well as relevant knowledge¹⁸.

Following this brief discussion, one may conclude that the legal environment for cryptocurrencies has evolved positively. Not only have rules emerged creating a more secure footing for businesses and consumers, but also a certain body of case law has appeared in this area, providing a kind of behavioural guide for interested parties. Cryptocurrencies seem to have taken hold in both the economic and legal consciousness. Both the body of rulings and the literature on cryptocurrencies can be expected to grow for the simple reason that there is a clear trend towards increasing the use of cryptocurrency in business.

Looking at the general legal environment of cryptocurrencies in Poland in the backdrop of the situation in Latin America, one has to wonder whether Poland is ready for a similar step. The issue may be considered at two levels: legal and economic.

In legal terms, the permissibility of private trading in cryptocurrencies is not in doubt, although some public-law restrictions arise. The Treasury's general ability to acquire property, including stocks and shares, is assumed (Gniewek, 2017). Traditionally, a state's participation in economy is divided between two roles: the *dominium* sphere and the *imperium* sphere. The former one is plural and equal with other market participants, whereas the latter one is unequal and rather discretional. Since civil law transactions are permissible, the acquisition of virtual currencies by the State Treasury should also be considered permissible, at least within the *dominium* sphere, as a participant in economic trading on equal terms with other entities¹⁹. Limits in this respect are based on specific provisions, and there are no such specific provisions within the scope of cryptocurrencies at the moment. Article 9 of the Act on the Principles of Managing State Property, which prescribes the purpose for which the State Treasury may acquire shares, is an example of restrictions on the acquisition of shares²⁰.

The permissibility of acquiring cryptocurrencies is supported not only by the lack of restrictions, but also by their tax reclassification into the financial capital category. Stocks and shares are in the same category. Differentiating their status – in this respect – in view of such a notable legislative evolution and the creation of a relatively liberal trading environment would be inadvisable and without a convincing justification. It should also be mentioned that, since it would be possible to acquire shares in a company that actively invests in cryptocurrencies and is, therefore, strongly linked to their valuation, it would be reasonable to allow the acquisition of the cryptocurrency itself. Analogously, it should be considered that the same restrictions would apply to the acquisition of cryptocurrencies as for shares and stocks. Thus, the acquisition of a cryptocurrency should be considered primarily for the purpose of implementing a social or economic policy of the state. However, there is no denying that this objective is relatively broad with ample capacity for arguing a justification. Appropriate regulation in this area can be expected in the future, provided that

¹⁷ Article 12 paragraph 12 item 11) and Article 1a of the Personal Income Tax Act (Journal of Laws of 2021, item 1128, as amended).

¹⁸ Article 129 m et seq. of the Act on Counteracting Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing (Journal of Laws of 2018, item 723, as amended).

¹⁹ Ibidem.

²⁰ Journal of Laws of 2016, item 1240, as amended.

cryptocurrencies continue to grow in popularity and importance across the business world. At present, the economic viability of such an acquisition is a separate issue.

The situation is somewhat more complicated for the *imperium* sphere, i.e. sovereign public-law relations, where other entities must obey the state²¹. Referring to the problem stated in the title, it should be pointed out that the budgetary procedure is a complex process that requires special care. The state budget is the economic foundation thereof, and no public body could function in the long term without financing. Therefore, including cryptocurrencies in the budget seems to be an overly risky exercise in terms of economics, considering their volatility and the lack of a guarantor. Nonetheless, it should be stated that to some small extent it is possible under the current state of the law and is mainly a consequence of the *dominium* sphere.

The primary legal act in this respect is the Public Finance Act of 27 August, 2009²². Pursuant to Article 3 thereof, public finance includes, inter alia, the collection of public revenues and incomes and the management of public funds. Further, Article 5 provides an extensive list of definitions explaining what public funds are. Pursuant to Article 5 paragraph 1 item 4b, these are, inter alia, state budget revenues from the privatisation of State Treasury assets. Article 5 paragraph 1 item 8) which, in case of doubt, will also apply here, is somewhat complementary to this provision. Accepting the permissibility of the Treasury acquiring virtual currencies may lead to a situation where the assets that they were part of are going to be privatised. A similar conclusion follows from Article 5 paragraph 2 item 1), which lists certain public revenues. Among these is a profit contribution by national companies and State Treasury-owned companies. One also has to mention the institution of forfeiture, which can be applied to cryptocurrencies struggling with a 'criminal label'. While it may be debatable whether Article 44 or 45 of the Criminal Code²³ will apply due to dematerialisation, the admissibility of the institution itself should not be in doubt. Funds from forfeiture are taken over by the State Treasury; it is worth emphasising that cases of cryptocurrencies being confiscated are not literary fiction, as they have happened in the past (Hern, 2020; Business Insider Polska, 2017)²⁴. Finally, the possibility of donating, bequeathing, or bequesting to units in the public finance sector, which by virtue of Article 5 paragraph 2 item 5) are public revenues, should also be mentioned. The same will apply to statutory succession in the absence of a will and statutory heirs (Article 935 of the Civil Code).

Results

The study of the Salvadorian case shows that the very first problem that a particular country needs to address is international criticism, especially from important financial institutions such as the International Monetary Fund or rating agencies, which can further lead to economic isolation. Although this issue would probably become less vital in the future if more countries were to follow suit, the criticism has put El Salvador in a difficult situation. As the country's economy has been recently worsening, it seeks help, and the World Bank refuses²⁵. In order to grant development aid, the IMF requires conducting certain reforms, one of which is reversing Bitcoin adoption – a step which President Bukele persistently rejects (Reuters, 2022). Lowering the country's rating

²¹ Cf. footnote 49.

²² Journal of Laws 2009 No. 157 item 1240, as amended.

²³ Journal of Laws 2022, item 1138, 1726, 1855.

²⁴ Among the most famous was the American FBI confiscating more than 170,000 bitcoins from Silk.

²⁵ Cf. footnote 31.

makes the situation even worse, causing borrowing money to be more expensive, as worse rating involves higher risk for lender, thus generating the need to compensate it with a higher interest rate.

Once a particular country manages to deal with criticism (or perhaps its economic situation is better), another threat is risk involved with cryptocurrency market pricing. A one-year's perspective clearly shows its significance. As I highlighted in the beginning of the article, cryptocurrencies are well-known for being volatile and the current year, alongside with the previous one, confirms it neatly. After reaching a price of nearly 70,000 USD per bitcoin in early November 2021, it then dropped to below 20,000 USD in the middle of June 2022. The price of bitcoin fell by more than 80% in just seven months, making El Salvador's loss significant. In fact, dollar cost average price for El Salvador is 45,000 USD, with bitcoin price itself being 20,000 USD, contributing to a nearly-60% loss since the beginning of the adoption. Taking into account these circumstances, the fact that El Salvador's case is held to be inspirational through some countries is only a small consolation for the Pioneer itself – at least until more followers are to be found.

From another perspective, one may claim that had El Salvador bought bitcoins earlier, it would have still had a decent profit. The same conclusion could be proposed if bitcoin was to gain in price again in the future, which is possible considering, once again, strong volatility and historical price action. Conceding this statement to be truthful (e.g., bitcoin price in October 2021 was 10,000 USD), it is at least questionable whether a country's economic condition should be based on not only one of the most risky assets in the world, but also a very young one and, thus, highly unpredictable.

Despite the fact that El Salvador's unrealised loss is nearly 60% of the investment, President Bukele remains unshaken (Sigalos & Kharpal, 2022). He continues to systematically acquire further batches, leading to the price averaging out (Bellusci, 2022). Thus, any subsequent price increases would mean a sizeable profit for the Republic of El Salvador, in practice impossible to generate on any other market in such a short term. However, this is only an assumption, as future prices cannot be predicted with any certainty, and such a gamble with public funds seems extremely risky and could end tragically for the general public. The relatively significant dissatisfaction of the local population – particularly business-owners, who have been forced to revolutionise the way they do business in a fairly short space of time – is also noteworthy. Public protests continue to take place, so it seems that another several months are necessary to have a fuller picture of the situation (Renteria, 2021).

When it comes to an analysis of the Polish case, cryptocurrencies have been granted a firm position in recent years. Not only were they legally defined, but also first regulations on running cryptocurrency business started to appear, alongside with some tax concessions. It seems that the participation of cryptocurrencies in the state budget is possible, although it is somewhat forced, passive, and incidental. In fact, those cases are so exceptional that they seem to be negligible. While the phrase 'management of public funds' in Article 3 item 5) of the Public Finance Act of 27 August, 2009²⁶, is quite broad, it does not seem to include the possibility of converting some public funds into cryptocurrencies, thus making it impossible to obtain any considerable amounts under state's *imperium* sphere. In contradiction, it seems to be much easier for The State to obtain cryptocurrencies in the *dominium* sphere, where regulations are not as strict. Yet, this seems to be justified, as this part of state participates in the economy on the equal, free-market rules, as other participants do. Still, there is no evidence for acquiring any significant cryptocurrency, even in this sphere, which, in my opinion, indicates reasonable governing.

²⁶ Journal of Laws 2009 No. 157 item 1240, as amended.

Concluding Remarks

If Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies were recognised as legal tender in Poland, a certain proportion of public revenue and income would necessarily be collected in the form of cryptocurrencies. The introduction of such a possibility into the legal system would, in practice, require an actual investment of public funds in cryptocurrencies. Otherwise, it would be irrational to allow such an option and immediately re-exchange crypto-income as soon as it flows into the Treasury. Storing some part of public funds in crypto-assets would, in turn, probably raise discussion on whether to increase that share or not. From this point it takes just one step to allow the Salvadorian option, although a thorough reform of many domestic law branches would be required. One may, therefore, assume that such a regulation will not appear any time soon, if it is at all possible in the legal and economic culture of Europe.

When addressing this issue at an economic level, it is necessary to answer the question of whether the share of cryptocurrencies in a state budget is beneficial and, thus, whether it would make sense to conduct relevant legislative changes. Studies on bitcoin price action and Salvadorian case show that it may be beneficial, but the reality has verified the – perhaps too optimistic – predictions, leaving El Salvador with a considerable loss. All sorts of risks associated with such a novel construct as cryptocurrencies are surfacing. Firstly, the lack of an issuer-guarantor means that the entire risk of an undertaking is borne by the investor. Secondly, very significant price fluctuations are a factor that amplifies risk and uncertainty. However, it should be noted at this point that, despite spectacular crashes, the price of bitcoin has been rising steadily in a wider time frame, though it may not always be the case. Thirdly, one has to bear in mind the ever-present possibility of project failure caused either by a critical error in the code or by a final economic unsuitability that may not manifest itself until some time later.

Compared to gold, which has been the basis of national reserves for millennia, the age of cryptocurrencies, counted in a dozen years, speaks for itself. The risk is, therefore, considerable and, as such, any possible economic commitment should be proportional to it. State institutions engaging in such operations would be bordering on gambling. However, one can already find international funds that cautiously include cryptocurrencies in their investment portfolio, but they do so for a very negligible percentage of money (Semenova, 2021). This seems like a reasonable strategy, one that minimises losses while, in the event of success, leading to a sizeable profit to compensate the efforts.

Finally, it has to be said that, while a passive observation of the actions taken by other countries rules out the possibility of a pioneering cryptocurrency adoption, it also avoids any possible perturbations associated with the new situation, and as such seems most appropriate. The fact that countries in a fairly poor economic situation are deciding or considering such a step in the first place also seems quite critical. When it comes to El Salvador, the CAR or Venezuela, such an 'experiment' is perhaps a last-ditch attempt before bankruptcy. Regardless of the position taken on this matter, it has to be said that Poland is not a country that would require such drastic measures, even though its debt is approaching a critical level²⁷. In my opinion, for the time being, the best strategy is to observe the situation. Any possible pro-cryptocurrency actions should be taken

²⁷ Based on Eurostat data, Poland's public debt constituted 56.6% of its GDP in the third quarter of 2021. Meanwhile, pursuant to Article 86 of the Public Finance Act (Journal of Laws of 2019, item 869, as amended), the Council of Ministers is obliged to take remedial measures once the debt exceeds 55% of the country's GDP, with 60% of GDP being taken as a critical point.

once harmonisation at the European level becomes possible. Public funds, which by definition are 'public', are too valuable an asset to take such a huge risk alone.

The study of the Salvadorian case leads me to a conclusion that making cryptocurrencies a part of the state budget is inappropriate and even irresponsible, as public funds are the society's economic foundation. It is also not recommended to make Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies legal tender too soon. Despite the fact that it may be beneficial to allow wider payment liberty for citizens and enterprises, such a step requires multilevel changes in the structure of law system and, therefore, should be proceeded with great caution. As for now, it seems that the best option, one which balances risks and opportunities, is to make regulations encouraging the private sector to develop this industry. Once it grows enough and becomes more stable, re-discussion is advisable. Also, further observation of El Salvador's path is strongly recommended, especially its return on investment, since this country seems to be far from reversing its course.

Reference List

- Adamiak, B. (2018). *Petro nie wypaliło. Wenezuela pogrąża się nadal.* GoldenMark. Available at: https://goldenmark.com/pl/mysaver/petro-ptr/ (accessed: 15.11.2022).
- Alvarez, F. E., Argente, D., & Van Patten, D. (2022). Are Cryptocurrencies Currencies? Bitcoin as Legal Tender in El Salvador. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Antonopoulos, A. M., & Wood, G. (2019). *Mastering Ethereum. Building Smart Contracts and DApps*. O'Reilly Media.
- Bala, S., Kopyściański, T., & Srokosz, W. (2016). *Kryptowaluty jako elektroniczne instrumenty platnicze bez emitetna. Aspekty informatyczne, ekonomiczne i prawne*. Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Wrocławskiego.
- Behan, A. (2022). Waluty wirtualne jako przedmiot przestępstwa. Krakowski Instytut Prawa Karnego.
- Bellusci, M. (2022). El Salvador Purchases 410 More Bitcoins Amid Market Drop, President Bukele Says. CoinDesk. Available at: https://www.coindesk.com/business/2022/01/21/el-salvador-purchases-410--more-bitcoins-amid-market-drop/ (accessed: 17.12.2022).
- "Bułgaria w szoku. Rząd właśnie zorientował się, że posiada 200 tys. Bitcoinów" (2017). *Business Insider Polska*. Available at: https://businessinsider.com.pl/gielda/kryptowaluty/bulgaria-posiada-200-tys-bitcoinow-to-18-proc-dlugu/l364lcm (accessed: 15.12.2022).
- Campos, R. (2021). "World Bank rejects El Salvador request for help on bitcoin implementation". *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/business/el-salvador-keep-dollar-legal-tender-seeks-world-bankhelp-with-bitcoin-2021-06-16/ (17.12.2022).
- Ciesielski, M. (2021). "Banki poszerzają ofertę o kryptowaluty". *Obserwator Finansowy*. Available at: https://www.obserwatorfinansowy.pl/bez-kategorii/rotator/banki-poszerzaja-oferte-o-kryptowaluty/ (accessed: 13.11.2022).
- Cohan, U. W. (2017). "Cryptoanarchism and Cryptocurrencies". *Social Science Research Network*. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3079241 (accessed: 12.11.2022.)
- "Czy bitcoin stanie się walutą narodową krajów, które tracą w wyniku kryzysów gospodarczych?" (2021). *Bitcoin.pl.* Available at: https://bitcoin.pl/bitcoin-waluta-narodowa (accessed: 11.11.2022).
- Duggan, W. (2022). "8 Best Cryptocurrency ETFs to Buy". USNews. Available at: https://money.usnews. com/investing/cryptocurrency/slideshows/best-cryptocurrency-etfs-to-buy (accessed: 15.12.2022).
- "El Salvador angrily rejects IMF call to drop Bitcoin use" (2022). *abcNews*. Available at: https://abcnews. go.com/International/wireStory/el-salvador-angrily-rejects-imf-call-drop-bitcoin-82588223 (accessed: 10.11.2022).
- "El Salvador finance minister says possible IMF deal no panacea" (2022). *Reuters*. Available at: https://www. reuters.com/world/americas/el-salvador-finance-minister-says-possible-imf-deal-no-panacea-2022-07-14/ (accessed: 13.12.2022).

- Eyal, I. (2021). "On Cryptocurrency Wallet Design". *Tokenomics 2021 3rd International Conference on Blockchain Economics, Security and Protocols*. New York.
- "Główne cechy Bitcoina". MonitorFX. Available at: https://monitorfx.pl/glowne-cechy-bitcoin/ (15.12.2022).
- Gniewek, E. (2017). In E. Gniewek & P. Machnikowski (Eds.), *The Civil Code. Commentary* (pp. 78 et seq). C.H. Beck.
- Harrington, B., & Valenzuela, J. (2022). "Why Joel Stopped Using a Bank Account". *Choice YouTube*. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FGOOoTmoZMs&ab_channel=Choice (accessed: 15.12.2022).
- Hassan, A., Mas'ud, M. Z., Shah, W. M., Abdul-Latip, S. F., Ahmad, R., Ariffin, A., & Yunos, Z. (2020). A Systematic Literature Review on the Security and Privacy of the Blockchain and Cryptocurrency. OIC-CERT Journal of Cyber Security, 2(1), 1–17.
- Hern, A. (2020). "Silk Road bitcoin worth \$1bn change hands after seven years". *The Guardian*. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/nov/04/silk-road-bitcoins-worth-1bn-change-hands-after-seven-years (10.11.2022).
- International Monetary Fund (2022). *IMF Executive Board Concludes 2021 Article IV Consultation with El Salvador*. [Press release no. 22/13]. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2022/01/25/ pr2213-el-salvador-imf-executive-board-concludes-2021-article-iv-consultation (13.11.2022).
- Iqbal, Z. A., Abid, G., Arshad, M., Ashfaq, F., Athar, M. A., & Hassan, Q. (2021). Impact of Authoritative and Laissez-Faire Leadership on Thriving at Work: The Moderating Role of Conscientiousness. *European Journal of Investigation in Health, Psychology and Education 11*(3), 667–685.
- Jemioło, D. (2021). "Bitcoin City w Salwadorze to marzenie ściętej głowy?" *MamStartUp*. Available at: https://mamstartup.pl/bitcoin-city-w-salwadorze-to-marzenie-scietej-glowy/ (accessedL 11.11.2022).
- Kessler, G. C. (2022). "An Overview of Cryptography". *Gary Kessler Associates*. Available at: https://www.garykessler.net/library/crypto.html (accessed: 15.12.2022).
- Kim, C. (2019). "With 18 Million Bitcoins Mined, How Hard Is That 21 Million Limit?" Coindesk. Available at: https://www.coindesk.com/with-18-million-bitcoins-mined-how-hard-is-that-21-million-limit (accessed: 09.11.2022).
- Konieczny, J. (2018). In J. Konieczny, R. Prabucki & R. Wielki (Eds.), *Kryptowaluty perspektywa krymi-nologiczna i kryminalistyczna* (pp. 103 et seq). Instytut Wydawniczy EuroPrawo.
- Kopańko, K. (2021). "Przełom w historii bitcoin. Rewolucja dokonała się dzięki małemu krajowi w Ameryce Łacińskiej". SpidersWeb. Available at: https://spidersweb.pl/bizblog/bitcoin-salwador/ (accessed: 09.12.2022).
- "Kraje Ameryki Łacińskiej adoptują Bitcoina. Dlaczego?" (2021). *Investing*. Available at: https://pl.investing. com/news/cryptocurrency-news/kraje-ameryki-acinskiej-adoptuja-bitcoina-dlaczego-289547 (accessed: 17.11.2022).
- Livini, E., & Lipton, E. (2021). "Crypto Banking and Decentralized Finance, Explained". *The New York Times*. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/09/05/us/politics/cryptocurrency-explainer.html (accessed: 13.11.2022).
- McCall, B. M. (2022). How El Salvador Has Changed U.S. Law by a Bit: The Consequences for the UCC of Bitcoin Becoming Legal Tender. *Oklahoma Law Review*, 74(3), 313–335.
- Meng, M. H. (2021). "Here are five problems with bitcoin that will cause it to fail eventually". *LiveMint*. Available at: https://www.livemint.com/money/personal-finance/here-are-five-problems-with-bitcoin-that-will-cause-it-to-fail-eventually-11622132978626.html (accessed: 09.10.2022).
- Michna, M. (2018). Bitcoin jako przedmiot stosunków cywilnoprawnych. Uniwersytet Mikołaja Kopernika w Toruniu.
- "Moody's downgrades El Salvador's rating to Caa3 from Caa1; maintains negative outlook". (2021). *Moody's*. Available at: https://www.moodys.com/research/Moodys-downgrades-El-Salvadors-ratingsto-Caa3-from-Caa1-maintains--PR_464838 (12.10.2022).

Ofiarski, Z. (2017). Prawo bankowe. Wolters Kluwer.

Parkin, D. (2021). "Ukraine set to become next country to make Bitcoin legal tender". *CityA*. Available at: https://www.cityam.com/ukraine-set-to-become-next-country-to-make-bitcoin-legal-tender/ (10.11.2022).

- Quarmby, B. (2021). "World Bank refuses El Salvador's request for help on BTC transition". Cointelegraph. Available at: https://cointelegraph.com/news/world-bank-refuses-el-salvador-s-request-for-help-on-btctransition (accessed: 13.12.2022).
- Renteria, N. (2021). "El Salvador Congress backs \$150 mln fund for bitcoin ahead of adoption". *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/technology/el-salvador-congress-backs-150-mln-fund-bitcoinahead-adoption-2021-08-31/ (accessed: 13.12.2022).
- Renteria, N. (2021). "Thousands in El Salvador join protests against Bukele government". *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/thousands-protest-el-salvador-against-bukelegovernment-2021-10-17/ (13.09.2022).
- Runkevicius, D. (2021). "Bitcoin Could Soon Hit \$70,000, And That Has Nothing To Do With Currencies". *Forbes*. Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/danrunkevicius/2021/01/07/bitcoin-could-soon-hit-70000-and-that-has-nothing-do-with-currencies/?sh=4e10613c2910 (12.12.2022).
- Santos, M. (2018). "Not even the top 500 supercomputers combined are more powerful than the Bitcoin network". 99 Bitcoin. Available at: https://99bitcoins.com/not-even-the-top-500-supercomputers-combinedare-more-powerful-than-the-bitcoin-network/ (accessed: 09.11.2022).
- Semenova, A. (2021). "Why hedge funds are warming up to crypto". Yahoo Finance. Available at: https:// finance.yahoo.com/news/hedge-funds-warm-up-to-crypto-as-institutional-involvement-expands-175512467. html (accessed: 14.11.2022).
- Sigalos, M., & Kharpal, A. (2022). "El Salvador's bitcoin experiment: \$60 million lost, \$375 million spent, little to show so far." CNBC. Available at: https://www.cnbc.com/2022/10/13/el-salvadors-bitcoinholdings-down-60percent-to-60-million-one-year-later.html (09.09.2022).

Skidelsky, R. (2011). The relevance of Keynes. Cambridge Journal of Economics 35(1), 1-13.

Szewczyk, J. (2018). O cywilnoprawnych aspektach bitcoina. Monitor Prawniczy, 5, 243-255.

Szostek, D. (2018). Blockchain, a prawo. C.H. Beck.

Szpringer, W. (2019). Blockchain jako innowacja systemowa. Poltext.

- Tabka, M. (2018). "Kryptowaluciarze mówią dość i wychodzą na ulice. To pierwszy taki protest w Polsce". Spidersweb. Available at: https://spidersweb.pl/2018/04/protest-kryptowaluciarzy-w-polsce.html (accessed: 05.12.2022).
- Valenta, M., & Sandner, P. (2017). Comparison of Ethereum, Hyperledger Fabric and Corda. FSBC.

Vazquez, E. (2022). The Technical Fix: Bitcoin in El Salvador. South Atlantic Quarterly 121(3), 600-611.

- Zacharzewski, K. (2017). Obrót walutami cyfrowymi w reżimie obrotu instrumentami finansowymi. *Przegląd Sądowy*, 11–12, 140–152.
- Zygiel, A. (2021). "Republika Środkowoafrykańska uznała bitcoin za oficjalny środek płatniczy". *RMF.fm*. Available at: https://www.rmf24.pl/ekonomia/news-republika-srodkowoafrykanska-uznala-bitcoin-za-oficjalny-sro,nId,5987619#crp_state=1 (accessed: 13.09.2022).

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Research Ethics Committee

Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

The author/autors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright and License

This article is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Published by Malopolska School of Public Administration – Krakow University of Economics, Krakow, Poland.

Data Availability Statement

All data will be available and shared upon request.

Michał Król, Anna Gomola

How to Reduce Low-Stack Emissions? An Assessment of the Willingness of Residents of Single-Family Houses to Replace Fossil Fuel Heating Systems

Abstract

Objective: The objective of this study is to determine whether occupants of single-family houses in Poland, where low-stack emissions have a particularly negative impact on air quality, are willing to replace their current fossil fuel heating systems. To that end, four research hypotheses were formulated: 1. The majority of households using solid fuel boilers are considering switching to another heat source; 2. Their willingness to replace solid fuel boilers is affected by several statistically significant factors; 3. The main impediment to replacing the heat source is its cost; and 4. The anticipated amount of subsidy is critical in deciding whether or not to purchase a new heat source.

Research Design & Methods: This research was considered in the context of data from a CATI survey conducted in July and August 2021 among a representative sample of occupants of single-family houses in Poland. A total of 1007 responses were collected, of which 432 were considered in the subsequent analysis. A literature review, questionnaire results analysis, and a logit regression model were used to verify the hypotheses.

Findings: 1. Nearly 80% of the respondents would like to replace their heat source, but only 20% are considering ecological heat pumps; 2. People with more knowledge about renewable sources, who are more concerned about the environment and live in older houses, are more likely to replace their heat sources; 3. The high cost of purchasing a new appliance, low subsidies or lack thereof, and the fear of rising bills are the main factors slowing the transition; 4. Higher subsidies increase the number of people willing to replace their heat sources, with the median expecting at least a 50% replacement subsidy regardless of the price of the appliance.

Implications/Recommendations: The results of the study can be used by decision-makers when formulating and adapting support programmes for people replacing old and inefficient solid fuel boilers.

Contribution/Value Added: The research results indicate the issues that have not been formulated in the literature so far, regarding the factors determining the willingness to replace old fossil fuel boilers. The added value of this article is the indication of statistically-significant variables such as the age of the house, knowledge about renewable energy, and attitude to the environment, which affect the willingness to replace.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: heating transformation, low-stack emissions, single-family houses, preference analysis

JEL classification: Q42, Q56, R11

Michał Król (corresponding author) – Department of Public Economics, Kraków University of Economics, Rakowicka 16, 31-505 Kraków; e-mail: krolm@uek.krakow.pl, ORCID: 0000-0001-9648-3139. Anna Gomola – Department of Public Economics, Kraków University of Economics, Rakowicka 16, 31-505 Kraków; e-mail: gomolaa@uek.krakow.pl, ORCID: 0000-0002-1121-4958.

Introduction

The importance of phasing out coal-fired heating systems is underscored by the fact that Poland's air quality is generally poor, as noted, among others, by the European city air quality viewer (EEA 2021), which identifies a number of Polish cities where the levels of PM2.5 exceed WHO standards. According to current guidelines, the maximum average annual PM2.5 concentration should not exceed 5 μ g/m³ (WHO, 2022b). In 2017, the figure for Poland was 23 μ g/m³; Poland thus ranked fourth among the European Union countries with the worst air quality (Adamkiewicz & Matyasik, 2019). In 2021, the average PM2.5 concentration in Poland exceeded the annual WHO guideline 3.8 times (IQAir, 2022).

A major contributor to air pollution is low stack emissions caused by the combustion of solid fuels (mostly coal and wood) by households and small manufacturing facilities (Adamkiewicz et al., 2021). Households that use fossil fuels for heating purposes are largely responsible for these emissions, which are particularly evident during the heating season (Frankowski & Herrero, 2021). According to recent data, 55% of households still use solid fuel boilers, more than half of which are old, low-grade, and predominantly coal-fired appliances (GUNB, 2022). In Poland, air pollution has a number of negative consequences, including lower health quality and a nearly three-year reduction in life expectancy (EEA, 2019). Moreover, studies show that it costs the domestic economy between 40 and 120 billion PLN annually (Adamczyk et al., 2017).

The literature lacks research explicitly devoted to the factors that account for the limited interest in switching from solid fuel heat sources to more environmentally-friendly ones. In Poland, most studies similar to those conducted by the authors of this paper have been produced by the Polish Smog Alert (Adamkiewicz et al., 2021; Pytliński, 2016; Pytliński et al., 2021; Wietrzny & Dworakowska, 2019). Dąbrowski (2022) demonstrates how coal consumption policies affect PM2.5 emissions, whereas other studies focus on the impact of anti-smog resolutions on coal consumption (Stala-Szlugaj, 2018) and low stack emissions (Flaga-Maryańczyk & Baran-Gurgul, 2022). An examination of reasons for replacing solid fuel boilers, including those cited by the beneficiaries of programmes promoting the transition to clean heat sources, revealed that households were hesitant to abandon solid fuel heating mostly due to the perceived uncertainty about future energy prices and supply availability (Frankowski & Herrero, 2021). The vast majority of studies address the impact of low stack emissions on the health of residents (e.g. Kowalska, 2020; Traczyk & Gruszecka-Kosowska, 2020; Zieliński et al., 2018).

Although the research reported in this paper clarifies and expands on certain topics previously covered in the literature, its findings are extremely relevant given the current energy crisis enhanced by the conflict in Ukraine. Identifying the disincentives to energy transition, as well as the current scale of the problem, may thus prove to be of interest to policymakers.

The aim of this article is to investigate the factors that affect the use of coal by single-family house occupants in Poland. Four research questions were proposed to this end:

- 1. What percentage of households that use solid fuel boilers do not intend to replace their heat sources?
- 2. What factors affect people's willingness to replace their heat sources?
- 3. What factors are the most likely to prevent people from replacing their heat sources?
- 4. What subsidy levels would effectively induce people to replace their solid fuel boilers? Questions (1) and (4) will be addressed using the existing research (Pytliński, 2016; Pytliński

et al., 2021; Zaborowski & Walczak, 2018), whereas answers to (2) and (3) are intended to

complement the existing state of knowledge. In this way, we set out to show not only how many people are willing to replace their heating systems but also what factors affect their attitudes. To that end, we shall review the selected literature and data from our CATI survey of 1007 households, 432 of which stated that they heated their homes with a solid fuel boiler. This paper is structured as follows: (1) Introduction; (2) Literature review on research into the use of coal boilers and low stack emissions; (3) Description of the research methods; (4) Presentation of the survey results and statistical analysis, and discussion with particular focus on measures that should be taken to reduce low stack emissions; (5) Conclusions.

Literature review

In Poland, more than 10 million tonnes of coal are burned each year by households – mainly by a large proportion of the 5.5 million existing single-family houses (Łukaszczyk, 2018). A number of studies in the literature address the relationship between the use of solid fuels and local air quality (Mamica, 2022; Wierzbińska & Adamus, 2020).

The replacement of a large number of solid fuel boilers before to the 2017–2018 heating season resulted in improved air quality in Kraków, with a marked decrease in the average PM10 and PM2.5 levels (Rataj & Holewa-Rataj, 2020). It is worth noting that clean air is one of the three main goals of the Energy Policy of Poland until 2040 strategy, which also include a fair transition policy and a zero-carbon energy system. The primary goal of the strategy is to transform the heating sector (district and individual heating systems), electrify transportation, promote zero-emission and passive housing. The strategy identifies a number of actions that, if implemented, should eventually solve Poland's air pollution problem. The following objectives are set forth in the strategy: increasing the number of efficient district heating systems; investment in heat pumps and electric heating; a shift away from household coal combustion (by 2030 in cities, by 2040 in rural areas); improving the energy efficiency of buildings and moving towards zero-emission transportation by 2030 in cities with populations of more than 100,000 (Ministry of Climate and Environment, 2021).

In order to reduce low stack emissions, it is critical to stop using solid fuels to heat buildings. Heat pumps appear to be a viable option in this regard. A recent study found that switching to a heat pump (or gas heating) without considering thermal retrofit reduces the amount of particulate matter and benzo(a)pyrene emissions produced by households by nearly 100%. Another method of lowering stack emissions is to improve thermal insulation, which can reduce emissions by 65% per dwelling while also significantly lowering seasonal heating expenses. It should be taken into account that the replacement of coal boilers, and thermo-modernisation also leads to a reduction in CO_2 emissions (Mamica, 2022).

Low stack emissions are the most significant contributor to smog (Kazmierska-Patrzyczna, 2022). In 2018, the Clean Air Programme was launched with the primary goal of supporting the replacement of 3 million off-grade boilers and performing thermal upgrades. The programme has a budget of \in 22.4 billion and its targets should be achieved within ten years (Blazy et al. 2021). Subsidies, however, are only one tool for addressing the issue. Adoption of anti-smog resolutions or laws, such as prohibiting the use of low-efficiency solid fuel boilers in a specific area, is another. In early 2017, the Małopolska region passed the first anti-smog resolution, which outlined the requirements for household solid fuel boilers and placed restrictions on the type of fuel that could be used (Polish Smog Alert, 2022). In 2019, a total ban on solid fuels for heating was

enacted by Kraków, and by January 2021, 14 out of Poland's 16 provinces had introduced similar anti-smog measures (Polish Smog Alert, 2022).

Despite these measures, one of the factors impeding the transition to low-carbon sources was the lack of reliable information on the types of heating systems actually used by households (Pietras-Szewczyk, 2021). Until recently, it had primarily been based on various types of estimates, including those by Pytliński (2016), Pytliński et al. (2021), Zaborowski and Walczak (2018). Since 1 June, 2021, however, all property owners and managers in Poland have been required to report the heat sources they own and use to the Central Emission Register of Buildings (CEEB). As of 24 November, 2022, 33% of the 9 million CEEB entries comprised solid fuel boilers with manual or automatic feeders, 6% coal boilers, 5% solid fuel masonry heaters/stoves, and 11% fireplaces, freestanding iron stoves, and solid fuel air heaters. A quick calculation reveals that approximately 55% of the surveyed households still use solid fuel (coal being by far the predominant one). Furthermore, more than half of the solid fuel boilers (51.4%) are rated as low-grade or off-grade (i.e. below class 3; cf. GUNB 2022). The types of heating fuels included in the CEEB demonstrate unequivocally that more needs to be done to address the issue at hand. Several studies show that individuals' quality of life is severely impacted by poor air quality (Kowalska, 2020; Traczyk & Gruszecka-Kosowska, 2020; Zieliński et al., 2018).

City	EEA Ranking (total 344)	Mean annual concentration of PM2.5 (µg/m ³)
Nowy Sącz	344	26.8
Zgierz	337	22.5
Łomża	336	22.4
Gliwice	335	22.1
Żory	334	22.1
Katowice	329	21.4
Piotrków Trybunalski	328	21.3
Kalisz	325	20.8
Kraków	324	20.8
Kielce	323	20.7
Bielsko-Biała	322	20.7
Lublin	321	20.4

Table 1. Cities in Po	oland with annual mean	n PM2.5 emissions	above 20 μ g/m ³ in 2021
-----------------------	------------------------	-------------------	---

Source: own study based on EEA (2021).

Numerous studies have demonstrated that particulate matter (PMx) has an extremely negative impact on human health (Adamkiewicz et al., 2021). Ambient air pollution has been identified as a significant environmental health risk factor, contributing to the premature death of approximately 4.2 million people each year (WHO, 2022a). It reduces life expectancy by 2.8 years in Poland, and by 2.2 years in Europe (EEA, 2019). According to studies, Poland may be losing up to 120 billion PLN per year as a result of hospital admissions and missed workdays by people whose health has been adversely affected by exposure to particulate matter and benzo(a)pyrene (Adamczyk et al., 2017). Table 1 shows the most polluted cities in Poland by PM2.5. In as many as 12 of them, air pollution exceeds 20 μ g/m³ (by comparison, the current WHO standard is 5 μ g/m³; cf. WHO

2022b). The table clearly shows that the problem with PM2.5 air pollution mainly affects Poland and Italy, as well as a handful of cities in Croatia, Bulgaria, and the Czech Republic (EEA, 2021).

It should be emphasised, nevertheless, that low stack emissions can vary in nature and are affected by a variety of factors depending on the locality. PM2.5 is merely one of several dangerous substances that contribute to smog. Others include nitrogen oxides, PM10, and PAHs (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons), which are primarily the side effects of road transportation (Adamkiewicz & Matyasik, 2019).

Research methodology

The analysis relies on data from a CATI survey conducted in July and August 2021 among a random sample of individuals who own or live in single-family homes in Poland. Since approximately half of the country's population lives in single-family houses and more than half still use solid fuel boilers, the selection of this group appears justified; additionally, respondents came from all over the country, hence the survey can be considered representative. The questions (yes/no, single-choice, multiple-choice, and open-ended) addressed various aspects of energy transition, such as self-assessment of the respondents' knowledge, attitudes, behaviours, and plans to implement energy-saving measures. A total of 1007 responses were collected, of which 432 homeowners were selected who marked one of the following as their main heat source: 1. solid fuel boiler (coal, wood or biomass) with a manual feeder; 2. solid fuel boiler (coal, wood or biomass) with an automatic feeder; 3. solid fuel masonry heater/tiled stove (coal, wood or biomass); 4. coal-fired stove/boiler. The list of heat sources was taken from the form that residents were obliged to complete for the CEEB. For the purpose of this study, 12 survey questions were used.

The study aimed to determine whether people who use solid fuel boilers are open to switching to another heat source as well as what factors affect their willingness to do so. To this end, the following research hypotheses were formulated, which correspond to the research questions mentioned above:

H1: The vast majority of households using solid fuel boilers are considering switching to another heat source,

H2: Their willingness to replace solid fuel boilers is affected by several statistically-significant factors,

H3: The main impediment to replacing the heat source is its cost,

H4: The anticipated amount of subsidy is critical in deciding whether or not to purchase a new heat source.

In order to test these hypotheses, descriptive statistics were analysed for both the respondents and the buildings in which they live. A logit regression model was also used in the study. In the final stage of our investigation, we looked at the most effective level of subsidy for replacing the heat source.

Results and Discussion

Table 2 shows the survey participants' demographics, including gender, age, education, and labour market status, as well as the period of time in which their house was completed. The survey participants were also asked about their self-assessed level of environmental awareness and familiarity with renewable energy sources, since these two factors were considered likely

Feature	Specification	Ν	Percentage
Gender	Male	168	38.89
	Female	264	61.11
Age bracket	Below 25	55	12.73
	25–34	139	32.18
	35–44	103	23.84
	45–54	75	17.36
	55-64	155	35.88
	65 or more	20	4.63
Education	primary	7	1.62
	lower secondary	6	1.39
	basic vocational	55	12.73
	secondary	189	43.75
	Higher	175	40.51
Labour market status	private sector employee	190	43.98
	public sector employee	81	18.75
	self-employed	30	6.94
	farmer	14	3.24
	student	29	6.71
	pensioner	41	9.49
	unemployed and others	47	10.88
House completed (in)	before the 1980s	133	30.79
	the 1980s	67	15.51
	the 1990s	81	18.75
	2000–2010	80	18.52
	2010-2020	62	14.35
	after 2020	9	2.08
Awareness of environmental issues	very high	196	45.37
	high	147	34.03
	average	75	17.36
	small	8	1.85
	very small	6	1.39
Familiarity with RES	very high	72	16.67
	high	155	35.88
	average	171	39.58
	small	30	6.94
	very small	4	0.93

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the studied population, including awareness of environmental issues and familiarity with RES

Source: own study based on CATI results.

to affect their willingness to switch to more ecological heat sources. For this reason, they were included in analysis.

Most survey participants were female (61.11%). The 55–64 age bracket was the most numerous (35.88%), followed by those aged 25–34 (32.18%). More than 40% of survey participants worked in the private sector, with public sector employees coming in second. Over 80% of the respondents had a university degree or completed secondary education. About 3% had primary or lower secondary education. The largest group in the survey was made up of people living in houses built in the 1990s, and between 2000 and 2010, respectively (both over 18%). The smallest group lives in houses built after 2020 (2.08%). More than three-quarters of those surveyed said they cared or cared a lot about the environment with only 4% reporting little or no awareness of environmental matters. The largest group (39.58%) considered their familiarity with renewable energy sources as average, whereas 35.88% claimed to have extensive knowledge of RES.

Willingness to replace solid fuel boilers

When asked whether they would be prepared to switch from their current heat source to another, the respondents were also requested to indicate what kind of appliance they would like to replace it with (cf. Figure 1). Seventy-seven per cent of the respondents were open to this possibility, but 18% declared their intention to purchase a biomass boiler (i.e. one that uses wood pellets as fuel). Switching from, for instance, a low-grade coal boiler to a modern biomass-fired one was viewed as a positive development, since our study focused on generally conceived readiness to replace. However, even though pellets can be seen as an improvement on coal, they only reduce rather than resolve the issue of pollution. The same can be said for gas, which is currently regarded as a transitory energy source. The latter option was chosen by 22% of the respondents, a further 20% opted for heat pumps, widely regarded as the most promising and environmentally-friendly solution, while 9% contemplated switching to electric heating.



Figure 1. Willingness to replace the current heat source Source: own study based on CATI results.

As a result, despite their willingness to replace their heat source, only about 30% of the survey respondents are thinking about switching to a zero-emission fuel, with the remainder viewing it as a more temporary solution. However, it should be noted that converting to gas, for example, would significantly alleviate the problem of low stack emissions in Polish cities, and as such is regarded as desirable from the perspective adopted in this paper.





Further, the respondents were asked whether they would install a heat pump or a solar panelassisted heat pump if they were forced to abandon their current solid-fuel heating system. As many as 62% said they would replace it, 30% said they did not know, whereas only 8% responded in the negative.

Factors that affect the willingness to replace solid fuel boilers

In the next stage of the analysis conducted in this study, a logit regression model was developed (logit regression allows the prediction of a future outcome based on a set of predictor variables).

In our study, the regression is given by the formula:

$$Y_{i} = \beta_{0} + \text{Sex}_{i} + Age_{i} + Education_{i} + Job + Houseage_{i} + Environmentalawareness_{i} + Familiarity with RES_{i} + \varepsilon_{i}$$
(1)

The willingness to replace coal heating with an alternative energy source was the dependent variable (with 1 denoting the willingness, whereas 0 unwillingness to replace). Explanatory variables included the time period in which the house was built; gender and age of house occupants; their education, occupational status, environmental awareness, and familiarity with renewable energy sources. The amount of subsidy had no effect on the decision to replace, as confirmed by the Wald test (Bursac et al., 2008). Our analysis thus focused on the factors shown in Table 2.

The estimated logit regression model is correct. The model itself is statistically-significant, which was attested by the likelihood ratio chi square statistical test, with 37.60 for 7 degrees

of freedom (information criterion AIC 551). To check how the model fit the data, we calculated the pseudo R (McFadden), which was 0.062, whereas the Cox and Snell pseudo R was 0.12. These low values may indicate a poor data-model fit, which may be due to the relatively small number of observations (Greene, 2003). However, the Brier score, which measures the accuracy of probabilistic predictions, was 0.21. Such a low score confirms that the predictive value of the model is good (Brier, 1950). Taking into account the three different measures of estimation, we can consider our model to be correct.

	Variable	Estimate	Std Error	z value	Pr(> z)	Odd Ratio
β_0	Intercept	-2.263	0.847	-2.672	0.008	0.104
β_1	Gender	-0.058	0.221	-0.260	0.795	0.944
β_2	Age	-0.085	0.084	-1.011	0.312	0.919
β_3	House age	-0.172	0.072	2.390	0.017	1.188
β_4	Education	-0.223	0.295	-0.757	0.449	0.800
β_5	Ecological awareness	0.468	0.126	3.706	0.000	1.597
β_6	Job	0.039	0.218	0.177	0.860	1.040
β ₇	Familiarity with RES	0.286	0.130	2.188	0.029	1.331

Table 3. Logit regression model for 7 studied variables

Source: own study based on CATI results.

Accordingly, the statistically-significant variables that affect the decision to replace the heat source are: 1. the age of the house; 2. the occupants' environmental awareness; and 3. the occupants' familiarity with renewable energy sources. Because the p is greater than 0.05, the remaining variables, such as the respondents' gender and age, occupation, or education, are not statistically-significant. As a result, these factors have no bearing on the decision to replace the heat source in this survey. The crucial factors in order of significance were environmental awareness, familiarity with renewable energy sources, and the age of the house. The greater the age of the house, environmental awareness, and familiarity with RES, the greater the willingness to replace the heat source.

Disincentives to replace solid fuel boilers

Next, we attempted to estimate which factors have the greatest negative impact on people's readiness to switch to a different heat source. For this purpose, we selected 10 factors that, in our opinion, were most likely to affect energy transition in Poland. These factors are shown in Figure 3 along with the percentage of people who feel that a particular one has a negative impact on their decision to replace their solid fuel boiler.

High costs of purchasing a new appliance (69.4%); little or no subsidy (66.8%); concern about higher bills (56.5%); lack of knowledge of full purchase and running costs (54.4%); complicated installation process (53%); complicated subsidy application procedure (45.1%) were mentioned as disincentives to replace the heat sources. The least popular responses were: negative feedback from others and the belief that replacing the heat source has no effect on air quality. Thus, more than 60% of people recognise that the type of heating they use affects air quality, and more than 60% are unconcerned about negative feedback from others, which is a positive trend.





It should be noted that replacing a heat source is very expensive; in fact, three of the most significant disincentives are financial in nature.

Expected subsidy levels

The final section of the survey focused on hypothetical subsidy levels expected to induce single-family households to replace their solid fuel boilers. To that end, two questions were asked about the anticipated subsidy levels for appliances worth 20,000 PLN and 40,000 PLN, respectively, which reflect the various purchase and installation costs. Figures 4 and 5 show the final results.



Figure 4. Expected subsidy levels to induce the respondents to replace their heat source if the total replacement cost was 20,000 PLN

Source: own study based on CATI results.

Almost a quarter of those surveyed would like to receive a replacement subsidy of up to 5,000 PLN with the optimal amount around 26–50% of the total replacement cost. Interestingly, 27% of the respondents put the optimal subsidy at 50% of the total cost. Only 13.89% expected a subsidy greater than 15,000 PLN, with 8% expecting the subsidy to cover all the expenses incurred. Almost 5% of the respondents were unable to specify the preferred amount. It should be noted that if the hypothetical subsidy did not exceed 25%, only one-quarter of the survey participants would be interested; however, if it was increased to 50%, the interest rose by 36%. By comparison, a 75% subsidy translated into an additional 20% increase. Finally, if the subsidy covered all the costs, a further 14% of the respondents would consider replacing their heat source.



Figure 5. Expected subsidy levels to induce the respondents to replace their heat source if the total replacement cost was 40,000 PLN

Source: own study based on CATI results.

Table 4. Hypothetical subsidy statistics

	Subsid	Subsidy (PLN)		
	20,000	40,000		
Mean	9,481	20,066		
Median	10,000	20,000		
Mode	10,000	20,000		

Source: own study based on CATI results.

If the total replacement cost was 40,000 PLN, the responses are more evenly distributed. Nearly a quarter of the respondents would like to receive a subsidy of up to 10,000 PLN, however, most expected a 26–50% subsidy. In this group, 15% expected a subsidy of 20,000 PLN, almost 22% expected more than 30,000 PLN, and a further 6% wanted the subsidy to cover all the replacement costs. More than 5% of the survey participants were unable to specify the optimal subsidy amount. It should be noted that if the subsidy covered up to 25% of the costs, only a quarter of those surveyed would consider replacing their heat source, whereas if the subsidy increased to 50%, the interest increased to 27%. Upping the subsidy to 75% resulted in another increase, this

time of 21%. A further 21% of the respondents would consider replacement if the subsidy level was increased to 100%. Accordingly, it is possible to conclude that the level of subsidy affects the willingness to replace the heat source: the higher the proposed subsidy, the more people are willing to switch to another, more environmentally-friendly heat source.

Comparison of research results with the existing knowledge in the literature

A number of authors attempted to estimate the percentage of households interested in replacing their heat source. In a study conducted among residents of single-family houses by Pytliński et al. (2021), as many as 48.2% stated that they had no plans in this regard. Switching to gas was considered by the second-largest group (17.4%), followed by coal-fired boilers (8.6%), pellet boilers (8.3%), heat pumps (5.4%), and electricity (3.7%). In contrast, according to another, slightly less recent study, as many as 78% of those surveyed stated that they did not intend to replace their heat source in the near future, fewer than 12% only wanted to replace their coal boiler with a more efficient one, whereas nearly 7% considered switching to gas heating. Fewer than 1% of the respondents stated that they planned to switch to environmentally-friendly sources, such as heat pumps (Zaborowski & Walczak, 2018). The authors of the cited study also inquired about a five-year perspective - if boilers had to be replaced due to poor air quality – and found that more than 47% of the respondents would be able to do so within this time frame if the cost did not exceed 8,000 PLN (Zaborowski & Walczak, 2018). A very similar response structure was reported in a survey of occupants of singlefamily houses in the Małopolska region, where more than 77% of the respondents declared that they were not planning to replace their coal boilers, more than 10% showed interest in switching to gas, whereas 7% intended to upgrade their old gas boilers. In the cited survey, ecological heat sources were chosen by fewer than 2% of the participants (Pytliński, 2016). By contrast, in our survey, approximately 23% of the respondents declared that they had no plans to replace their heat source, switching to gas was planned by 22% of the respondents, whereas as many as 20% chose heat pumps. Despite the varying responses and percentage breakdowns, a number of conclusions can be drawn from all of the preceding studies.

First, popular awareness of the importance of air quality is increasing (Białynicki-Birula et al., 2022; CBOS, 2019, 2021). As a result, it appears that the more recent the research, the greater the interest in heat pumps and, more broadly, heat source replacement. Environmental awareness aside, the existing support programmes and anti-smog resolutions may affect people's willingness to replace/upgrade or even trigger the entire process. It is worth noting that the proportion of the respondents who chose heat pumps is higher in the study reported in this paper than in research published two years ago (Pytliński et al., 2021), which may be due to the fact that the said programmes (such as Clean Air) have been in place long enough to be noticed.

Second, a sizeable proportion of the respondents in each of the discussed studies were considering switching to gas heating. It would be interesting to repeat these surveys in the current situation, i.e. after the outbreak of war in Ukraine, to see if these figures have decreased. Another intriguing finding is that a subset of participants in each study preferred to continue using solid fuels for heating, even though they were willing to upgrade their current appliance to a more efficient one.

Our research also uncovered a number of factors that discourage people from replacing their current heat source, with financial concerns playing a major role. Nearly two-thirds of the respondents felt that the proposed subsidy levels were insufficient. The existing literature implies that subsidies have a significant impact on people's decisions in this respect. With a subsidy of 30%, 46% of those surveyed would be willing to replace their heat source, with a 50% subsidy the number increases by 13%, while a 70% subsidy adds another 12% to the pool (Pytliński, 2016). Aside from purely financial factors, the lack of knowledge, the complexity of the installation process, and bureaucratic constraints all have a negative impact on willingness to upgrade.

A number of studies deal with factors that affect people's willingness to pay extra for green electricity (Hojnik et al., 2021; Kowalska-Pyzalska, 2019; Mamica, 2021; Zorić & Hrovatin, 2012) or clean air (Dong & Zeng, 2018; Guo et al., 2020). They all emphasise the importance of environmental awareness and attitudes as determinants of willingness to contribute to the costs of energy transition (Kowalska, 2020). This relationship is also supported by our research, but in the context of upgrading heat sources. Furthermore, our findings suggest that people living in older houses are more inclined to replace their heat sources, which, according to the authors of this paper, may be due to higher heating bills caused by the poor performance of current thermal insulation. However, in order to confirm this hypothesis, additional research would need to consider a variety of energy efficiency improvements in this specific segment of the housing stock.

In view of the foregoing, the authors of this paper believe that priority should be given to:

- adjusting subsidy levels in support programmes to current prices (i.e. taking inflation into account),
- removing bureaucratic obstacles,
- promoting RES and expanding knowledge of their positive impact on the environment,
- promoting support programmes so that as many people as possible are aware of their existence.

Conclusions

Low stack emissions are unquestionably a serious issue that must be addressed effectively, particularly in view of recent decisions to extend the deadlines for phasing out all coal-fired heating systems, which will likely have a significant impact on air quality during the current heating season, including in the Małopolska region. Concerns about what would be burned in boilers this winter have long been a media topic, as researchers discover more and more links between air pollution and declining health (Kowalska, 2020; Traczyk & Gruszecka-Kosowska, 2020; Zieliński et al., 2018).

In Poland, households that use solid fuel (especially coal) for heating purposes are primarily responsible for low stack emissions. In order to solve or mitigate the severity of this problem (as well as issues with coal supply caused by restrictions on imports from Russia), it is critical to replace the old and inefficient coal boilers with heating systems based on heat pumps or electric boilers. To accomplish this, support programmes must be tailored to the needs and expectations of those who continue to use solid fuels; moreover, increased public awareness initiatives about energy efficiency and air quality are required. In-depth knowledge of potential heat sources and how they work should be disseminated more broadly. The analysis of a representative group of single-family house occupants reported above allows important conclusions about current heating systems and preferences for change to be drawn. The most important findings that correspond to the research questions and hypotheses presented in this paper are as follows:

Almost 80% of the respondents expressed interest in replacing their heat source. Approximately 60% of them want to upgrade their current boiler, but prefer to continue using solid fuels. Heat pumps and electric heating proved to be the least popular, whereas gas boilers and pellet boilers were the most common alternatives. However, switching from coal to gas or increasing the use of pellets should result in a significant reduction in low stack emissions per household.

According to logit regression analysis, the following factors influence people's willingness to replace boilers: the age of the house, environmental awareness, and knowledge of renewable energy and heat sources. The strongest correlations were found among those respondents who declared a high level of environmental awareness. Those who were more familiar with renewable energy sources and lived in older buildings were also more likely to consider upgrading their heating systems (as the current ones are likely to generate high bills). The other variables studied, such as gender, the respondents' age, employment status, and educational level, proved to be statistically-insignificant.

The high costs of purchasing a new appliance, little or no subsidy, and the fear of rising bills are the main deterrents to replacing a solid fuel boiler. The respondents frequently mentioned all of these, which means that financial factors constitute the most significant impediment to heating transition in Poland. Other barriers include a lack of familiarity with full purchase and operating costs, a complicated installation process, a failure to adapt the home to the needs of ecological heating, and a fear that the new heat source will not provide full thermal comfort. The final factor of note was the complexity of the subsidy application process. Knowledge-related issues should thus be recognised as another significant obstacle.

The expected subsidy levels are comparable regardless of the purported cost of the new appliance. A 50% subsidy towards replacement costs is most commonly expected based on the median and the dominant; likewise, only about 5% of those surveyed in both cases are unable to specify the level of subsidy that would encourage them to switch from a solid fuel boiler. In the less expensive scenario, approximately 14% of those surveyed expect a subsidy of 76–100%, whereas in the more expensive one, the percentage of those anticipating the highest possible subsidy rises to over 21%. According to the findings, the higher the subsidy, the more people are willing to replace their heat source. In both the examined scenarios (i.e. 20,000/40,000 PLN), each increase in subsidy results in more people expressing interest in replacing their heat source.

The analysis contained in this paper presents general conclusions, without taking into account the specific needs of people in a difficult financial situation. Future research should focus on separating those who are energy-poor from those who can afford to replace their heat source but for various reasons do not.

Acknowledgments:

The publication was financed from the subsidy granted to the Cracow University of Economic Project nr 047/GAG/2022/POT.

Reference List

- Adamczyk, J., Piwowar, A., and Dzikuć, M. (2017). Air protection programmes in Poland in the context of the low emission. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 24(19), 16316–16327. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-017-9233-9
- Adamkiewicz, Ł., Cygan, M., & Mucha, D. (2021). DROGA DO CZYSTEGO POWIETRZA OCENA DZIAŁAŃ ANTYSMOGOWYCH W POLSCE I REKOMENDACJE NA PRZYSZŁOŚĆ: NISKA EMISJA, TRANSPORT, PRZEMYSŁ. Polski Alarm Smogowy.

Adamkiewicz, Ł., Kryza, M., Mucha, D., Werner, M., Gayer, A., Drzeniecka-Osiadacz, A., & Sawiński, T. (2021).
Estimating Health Impacts Due to the Reduction of Particulate Air Pollution from the Household Sector Expected under Various Scenarios. *Applied Sciences*, *11*(1), 272. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11010272
Adamkiewicz, Ł., & Matyasik, N. (2019). *Smog w Polsce i jego konsekwencje*.

- Białynicki-Birula, P., Makieła, K., & Mamica, Ł. (2022). Energy Literacy and Its Determinants among Students within the Context of Public Intervention in Poland. *Energies*, 15(15), 5368. https://doi. org/10.3390/en15155368
- Blazy, R., Błachut, J., Ciepiela, A., Łabuz, R., & Papież, R. (2021). Thermal Modernization Cost and the Potential Ecological Effect—Scenario Analysis for Thermal Modernization in Southern Poland. *Energies*, 14(8), 2033. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14082033
- Brier, G. W. (1950). Verification of Forecasts Expressed in Terms of Probability. *Monthly Weather Review*, 78(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0493(1950)078<0001:VOFEIT>2.0.CO;2
- Bursac, Z., Gauss, C. H., Williams, D. K., & Hosmer, D. W. (2008). Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code for Biology and Medicine, 3, 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0473-3-17
- CBOS (2019). *Polacy o smogu (Poles about smog)* (Nr 33). Centrum Badania Opinii Społecznej. https://www.cbos.pl/PL/publikacje/raporty.php
- CBOS (2021). Smog i jak sobie z nim radzić (Smog and how to deal with it) (Nr 41). Centrum Badania Opinii Społecznej. https://www.cbos.pl/PL/publikacje/raporty.php
- Dąbrowski, K. M. (2022). Impact of fossil fuel usage reduction policy on PM2.5 level changes in a Lesser Poland Area. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 85, 104036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2022.104036
- Dong, K., & Zeng, X. (2018). Public willingness to pay for urban smog mitigation and its determinants: A case study of Beijing, China. Atmospheric Environment, 173, 355–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. atmosenv.2017.11.032
- EEA (2019). Air Quality in Europe 2019 Report. Luxembourg. Publications Office of the European Union.
- EEA (2021). European city air quality viewer: European Environment Agency. https://www.eea.europa.eu/ themes/air/urban-air-quality/european-city-air-quality-viewer
- Flaga-Maryańczyk, A., & Baran-Gurgul, K. (2022). The Impact of Local Anti-Smog Resolution in Cracow (Poland) on the Concentrations of PM10 and BaP Based on the Results of Measurements of the State Environmental Monitoring. *Energies*, 15(1), 56. https://doi.org/10.3390/en15010056
- Frankowski, J., & Tirado Herrero, S. (2021). "What is in it for me?" A people-centered account of household energy transition co-benefits in Poland. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 71, 101787. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101787
- Greene, W. H. (2003). Econometric analysis. Pearson Education India.
- GUNB (2022). Statystyki. Główny Urząd Nadzoru Budowlanego. https://www.gunb.gov.pl/strona/statystyki
- Guo, D., Wang, A., & Zhang, A. T. (2020). Pollution exposure and willingness to pay for clean air in urban China. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 261, 110174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110174
- Hojnik, J., Ruzzier, M., Fabri, S., & Klopčič, A. L. (2021). What you give is what you get: Willingness to pay for green energy. *Renewable Energy*, 174, 733–746.
- IQAir. (2022). Air quality in Poland: Air quality index (AQI) and PM2.5 air pollution in Poland. https://www.iqair.com/poland
- Kaźmierska-Patrzyczna, A. (2022). Realizacja uprawnień sejmiku województwa w zakresie ochrony jakości powietrza, związanych z przyjmowaniem uchwał antysmogowych. *Studia Prawnoustrojowe*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.31648/sp.7982
- Kowalska, F. (2020). Zanieczyszczenie powietrza istotnym zagrożeniem dla zdrowia mieszkańców polskich miast. *Refleksje. Pismo Naukowe Studentów I Doktorantów WNPiD UAM*(21), 71–84. https://doi. org/10.14746/r.2020.1.6
- Kowalska-Pyzalska, A. (2019). Do Consumers Want to Pay for Green Electricity? A Case Study from Poland. *Sustainability*, *11*(5), 1310. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051310
- Łukaszczyk, Z. (2018). Coal Yes, Smog Not Awareness and Responsibility. Systems Supporting Production Engineering(7(1) Górnictwo – perspektywy i zagrożenia. Węgiel – tania czysta energia i miejsca pracy), 484–496.
- Mamica, Ł. (2021). Willingness to pay for the renewable energy sources of the residents of Kraków and their perception of the actions aimed at reducing the level of environmental pollution. *Polityka Energetyczna – Energy Policy Journal*, 24, 117–135. https://doi.org/10.33223/epj/135830

- Mamica, Ł. (Ed.). (2022). Koszty ogrzewania domów jednorodzinnych według źródeł ciepła ekonomiczne i środowiskowe korzyści termomodernizacji.
- Ministry of Climate and Environment (2021). Polityka Energetyczna Polski do 2040 r., Streszczenie (Polish energy policy until 2040, abstract).
- Pietras-Szewczyk, M. (2021). The Potential to Reduce Pollutant Emissions from Individual Household Sector by Involving Citizens as Project Stockholders. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 10(1), 257. https://doi.org/10.14207/ejsd.2021.v10n1p257
- Polish Smog Alert (2022). Uchwały antysmogowe (Anti-smog resolutions). Polski Alarm Smogowy. https://polskialarmsmogowy.pl/jak-wygrac-ze-smogiem/uchwaly-antysmogowe/
- Pytliński, Ł. (2016). Stan techniczny budynków jednorodzinnych w województwie Małopolskim źródła ogrzewania i standardy izolacyjności cieplnej, Raport z badań. Kraków. Krakowski Alarm Smogowy.
- Pytliński, Ł., Dworkowska, A., & Guła, A. (2021). Domy jednorodzinne w Polsce. Źródła grzewcze, stan energetyczny, priorytety inwestycyjne (Single-family houses in Poland. Heat sources, energy condition, investment priorities). Krakowski Alarm Smogowy.
- Rataj, M., & Holewa-Rataj, J. (2020). Analiza zmian jakości powietrza Małopolski w latach 2012–2020. *Nafta-Gaz*, 76(11), 854. https://doi.org/10.18668/NG.2020.11.11
- Stala-Szlugaj, K. (2018). Uchwały antysmogowe w Polsce a ich oddziaływanie na zużycie węgla kamiennego w gospodarstwach domowych. Journal of the Polish Mineral Engineering Society, JULY – DECEMBER. https://doi.org/10.29227/IM-2018-02-21
- Traczyk, P., & Gruszecka-Kosowska, A. (2020). The Condition of Air Pollution in Kraków, Poland, in 2005-2020, with Health Risk Assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176063
- WHO (2022a). *Air pollution*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/health-topics/air-pollution#tab=tab_2
- WHO (2022b). *New WHO air quality guidelines will save lives*. https://www.iqair.com/newsroom/2021a-WHO-air-quality-guidelines
- Wierzbińska, M., & Adamus, A. (2020). Impact of the type of fuel burned and the heating device on the quality of atmospheric air. *Inżynieria Ekologiczna*, 21(1), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.12912/23920629/120380
- Wietrzny, K., & Dworakowska, A. (2019). Kontrola jakości węgla: Ocena wdrożenia nowych przepisów kontroli jakości węgla. Kraków. Polski Alarm Smogowy.
- Zaborowski, M., & Walczak, E. (2018). Energy Efficiency in Poland 2017 Review (ISBN: 978–83-89230-52-2). Kraków. Institute of Environmental Economics. www.iee.org.pl
- Zieliński, E., Wielgus, A., Dreliszak, J., & Zukow, W. (2018). Air pollution selected health effects in Poland. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2527086
- Zorić, J., & Hrovatin, N. (2012). Household willingness to pay for green electricity in Slovenia. Energy Policy, 47, 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.055

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Research Ethics Committee

Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

The author/autors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright and License

This article is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Published by Malopolska School of Public Administration – Krakow University of Economics, Krakow, Poland.

Data Availability Statement

All data will be available and shared upon request.

Agata Krukowska-Miler

Vaccination Management in the Republic of Poland and in Selected Countries

Abstract

Objectives: The aim is to look at the vaccination management process, which may lead to its improvement. The article focuses on the analysis of management activities in healthcare, the vaccination process, and its impact on the development of the pandemic. It will show not only information about the pandemic, but, most of all, the impact of actions on the spread of the disease compared to other countries at different times.

Research Design & Methods: The main research method includes a critical analysis of secondary data. The study covers the period from January to April, 2021.

Findings: Operating in a situation where raw materials (vaccines) are of a limited availability and the social and economic situation is difficult (pandemic) poses challenges. This situation is completely new to the whole world and as such requires a new perspective on the problem. The thesis that good management contributes to the improvement of a given process is confirmed.

Implications/Recommendations: Secondary research, illustrating the course of the vaccination process in various countries, has shown that it is possible to create an optimal vaccine management method only by taking into account the elements that make up the socio-cultural and political factors.

Contribution/Value Added: The hypothesis in this article was based on the statement that there is an optimal crisis management based on the experiences of different countries and the meeting of their different methods of organising vaccination against SARS-CoV-2. From the point of view of economic sciences, it is a novel topic, because, for the first time. it is possible to examine the relationship between health policy and the state of a global epidemic in the era of general access to information, fast data transfer, high mobility, and globalisation.

Keywords: pandemic; vaccination process; management; COVID-19

Article Classification: review article

JEL classification: I110

Agata Krukowska-Miler, PhD – Częstochowa University of Technology; ul. J. H. Dąbrowskiego 69, 42-201 Częstochowa; e-mail: agata.krukowska-miler@wz.pcz.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-5881-2007.

Introduction

The COVID-19 epidemic began in China, Hubei Province, Wuhan City on November 17, 2019, and spread worldwide (WHO, 2020a). On March 11, 2020, it was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2020b). Infections with the SARS-CoV-2 virus were recorded in Poland since March 4, 2020 (Ministry of Health, 2020). On March 13, the WHO announced that Europe was considered the epicentre of the coronavirus pandemic (Puls Medycyny, 2020). Patients were registered on all continents except Antarctica.

In the period from March 14 to 20, 2020, an epidemic threat was in force in Poland, and from March 15, a sanitary cordon was introduced on the Polish borders, significantly limiting border traffic. According to the regulation of the Minister of Health, an epidemic was in force in Poland since March 20. It is connected with a number of restrictions both for citizens and entrepreneurs, cultural institutions, sports, science, and higher education. These restrictions are introduced or repealed depending on the epidemic situation in a country. The pandemic hit all areas of human activity. Countries and the WHO both indicate mass vaccination as the only effective fight against the virus (May 2021). The following SARS-CoV-2 vaccines are currently available worldwide.

In December 2020 and January 2021, BioNTech, Pfizer (December 21), Moderna (January 6), and AstraZeneca (January 29) were granted a conditional marketing authorisation based on a positive safety, quality, and efficacy assessment by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) (European Commission, n.d.).

Vaccines by both Pfizer and Moderna are genetic and based on mRNA material. "In genetic vaccines, one or more genes of the virus are used to trigger an immune response in the body. This means that there is genetic information in the preparation, in this case, in the structure of a protein on the spines of the virus, which causes the cells to start producing this protein. It is recognised by the body as 'foreign', which results in the production of the appropriate antibodies" (Ważna & Mikołajska, 2021).

The Astra-Zeneca (new name: Vaxzevria) and Johnson & Johnson are vector vaccines that rely on the use of fragments of other viruses to elicit an immune response against a specific virus. Like genetic vaccines, vector vaccines are a relatively new technology. They have already been extensively studied in research on HIV and other diseases, such as the Ebola virus (Ważna & Mikołajska, 2021).

On March 11, 2021, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) issued a positive opinion on the vaccine from Janssen Pharmaceutica, which is part of Johnson & Johnson. The preparation has been approved for use in the European Union countries. It is a single-dose vector vaccine and its delivery in Poland was expected in the second half of April, 2021. There are also vaccines not approved for vaccination in Poland and the EU. These are: the Sputnik V vector vaccine; recombinant protein vaccines, which contain the purified SARS-CoV-2 S (spike) protein or a protein fragment (Ministry of Health, 2021). Advanced research is also carried out with regard to: the Novavax recombinant adjuvanted vaccine and the Sanofi-GSK recombinant adjuvanted vaccine.

The European Medicines Agency is conducting a rolling review of three COVID-19 vaccines: the Novavax recombinant protein vaccine (NVX-CoV2373) (staged procedure from February 3, 2021); the CurVac AG (CVnCoV) mRNA vaccine (staged procedure from February 12, 2021); and the Sputnik V vector vaccine (Gam-COVID-Vac) (staged procedure from March 04, 2021) (Ministry of Health, 2021).

Managing decisions related to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic

The introduction of the vaccination process in the countries of the European Union and globally is subject to a management process. The management principles enable the optimisation of the taken actions and the control over the entire process. Process management is an activity that consists of optimising the structure of organisational elements due to their impact on creating the value of the final effect of the separated processes. It is an attempt to maximise positive value elements in the structure, i.e. process components, and at the same time to minimise ineffective operations (Grajewski, 2007). More broadly, the entire vaccination process can be considered as a management process, of which the state is the lead organisation in this case. According to the definition, management is a set of activities (including planning and making decisions, organising, leading, i.e. managing people, and controlling) directed at the resources of the organisation (human, financial, material, and information) and carried out with the intention of achieving the organisation's goals in an efficient and effective way (Griffin, 2005). In this case, the organisation is the state and the resources to be protected are the citizens who ultimately contribute to the smooth functioning of that state (Regulation of the Prime Minister of April 11, 2011 on the organisation and operation of the Government Center for Security; Journal of Laws of 2015, item 508).

Other definitions of management emphasise the action of disposing resources, because people constitute the most important resource, and money is a resource, and, thus, people are affected. Management is associated with leadership, and the phrases 'organisation and management' as well as 'leadership and management' are very often used together (Pszczołowski, 1978). It is an activity aimed at causing the functioning of entities, organisations, or subordinates, in accordance with the goals of the manager (Gliński, 1974).

Management consists of providing (consciously creating) conditions for the organisation to operate in line with its assumptions, i.e. to carry out its mission, achieve goals consistent with it, and maintain the necessary level of consistency enabling survival (i.e. isolation from the environment) and development (i.e. implementation of the mission and goals in the future) (Koźmiński & Jamielniak, 2011). The basic management functions include: planning; organising; motivating; control (Stoner, 1992; Mintzberg, 1973; Lamond, 2004).

For pandemic vaccine management, we may consider crisis management. Studies on Poland in this regard can be found, among others, in:

- The Act of April 26, 2007 on crisis management (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 209);
- The Act of April 18, 2002 on the state of natural disaster (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 1897);
- Regulation of the Prime Minister of April 11, 2011, on the organisation and operation of the Government Centre for Security (Journal of Laws of 2015, item 508);
- Regulation No. 67 of the Prime Minister of October 15, 2014, on the organisation and operation of the Government Crisis Management Team (MP of 2014, item 926);
- The Act of March 8, 1990, on neighbourhood self-government (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 1875);
- The Act of June 5, 1998, on district self-government (Journal of Laws of 2016, item 814 as amended);
- The Act of June 5, 1998, on provincial self-government (Journal of Laws of 2016, item 814 as amended);

- The Act of September 8, 2006, on the State Medical Rescue (Journal of Laws of 2016, item 1868);
- The Act of January 23, 2009, on the voivode and government administration in the province (Journal of Laws of 2015, item 525);
- The Act of November 22, 2013, on the emergency notification system (Journal of Laws of 2013, item 1635 as amended).

Crisis management concerns both controlling and overcoming a crisis situation, as well as preparing for its possible occurrence. Crisis management is discussed, among others, by K. Holla, J. Ristvej, M. Titko, (2018), S. Kovoor-Misra S. (2019), J. Ziarko (2010). Considering potential emergencies usually prevents them, or at least reduces their adverse effects (Hayes, 2021). The actions to be taken in a crisis situation partly overlap with the actions customarily taken in management. The actions to be taken include:

- the appointment of an anti-crisis team;
- the establishment of communication and information methods;
- range limitation;
- the elimination of the threat;
- the restoration of normal functioning;
- the long-term liquidation of the effects of the crisis;
- lessons for the future.

Materials and methods

This study uses a comparative analysis based on secondary data with the aim of confronting the actions that individual countries are taking to ensure epidemic safety for their citizens by providing them with the possibility of vaccination against SARS-CoV-2.

The hypothesis assumes that the better the rules governing the vaccination process are, the more efficient the process is. Among the studied countries, particular emphasis was placed on anticrisis measures in Poland against the background of other EU states such as Spain and Germany, and non-EU countries such as the United Kingdom, Israel, and the United States of America. All these of them belong to highly-developed countries that do not have major economic problems with financing the purchase of vaccines. Also, all of them have a well-developed healthcare system. Seven countries were selected for this study, representing different approaches to vaccine management in the pandemic era. These are: Poland, Germany, Spain, the United Kingdom, the USA, Israel, and Brazil. The first three, despite their presence in the structure of the European Union, take various steps to increase security. Poland is a country where crisis and vaccination are managed in an inconsistent and uncoordinated manner. Germany is the opposite, because the vaccination process there is progressing in a coordinated manner despite relatively strong anti-vaccination movements. Spain is the country where resistance to vaccination is the lowest, but human relations are strong. The UK is a liberal country in which it is very difficult to ensure compliance with restrictions. Also, social resistance to vaccination is the strongest there. The same is true in the case of the USA, which only changed its vaccine management policy after Biden had become the president. Israel is the country that quickly lifted the restrictions due to an efficient mass vaccination management system and very small anti-vaccination movements. Brazil, which ends the ranking, is an example of a less-developed country in which the failure of the vaccination process is additionally determined by the country's rulers who are sceptical about richer countries.

This comparison provides a picture of the difficulties involved in managing the vaccination process in a pandemic era. This picture shows different paths and makes it possible not only to compare them, but also choose the optimal way out of the pandemic crisis for different countries.

Results

It must be said that the distribution of vaccines is not proportional and depends on the wealth of the affected country. For this reason, the COVAX programme (COVID-19 Vaccines Global Access) was implemented. However, more affluent nations have entered into national bilateral agreements with vaccine manufacturers. Last year, 56 such contracts were concluded (Puls Medycyny, 2021), which hinders the implementation of the COVAX programme, which aims to ensure fair distribution of the vaccine around the world. This programme was launched in February 2021; 190 countries have joined the WHO's initiative, the GAVI Global Vaccine Alliance, and the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovation (CEPI), half of which are paying countries. The programme is expected to enable the purchase of 2 billion doses of COVID-19 vaccines by the end of 2021. These vaccines are to be distributed to 92 poorer countries around the world (Polityka Zdrowotna, 2021a). Only the European Union allocated 500 million EUR to COVAX, and some EU countries also paid additional money. The graphs below include data on people who have received at least one dose of the COVID-19 vaccine in a given country, i.e. the adopted vaccination policy in the world (Our World in Data, 2021).

When analysing Figure 1 and 2, the following aspects can be noted. The analysed data shows that the USA was the first to start vaccinating. On 11 December, 2020, the Agency for the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the COVID-19 vaccine developed by Pfizer and BioNTech for emergency use. On December 14, the vaccination process began in the USA (Mikołajska, 2020).



Total number of people who received at least one vaccine dose, divided by the total population of the country.

Figure 1. Share of people who received at least one dose of COVID-19 vaccine Source: Our World in Data (2021).



Policies for vaccine delivery. Vulnerable groups include key workers, the clinically vulnerable, and the elderly. "Others" include select broad groups, such as by age.



Both federal and state governments are responsible for the distribution of vaccines in the USA. The government administration decides how many vaccines each state will get, then ships them to distribution centres. The preparation of vaccination plans and the order of administration of the preparation is the responsibility of state institutions. They are based on guidelines prepared by the Donald Trump administration. These provisions ambiguously define the priority of receiving the vaccine. Health institutions are not able to handle large numbers of patients. The very process of registering for vaccinations is slow due to overloaded websites and constantly busy telephone lines through which appointments are made. Organisational errors, combined with unclear guidelines, are causing too many vaccines to be delivered to some parts of the country, while other states are experiencing shortages of supplies.

This situation gave rise to 'vaccine tourism' in the USA. Visitors to the New York City as well as Florida vacation home owners go to these states not as tourists, but in order to get the vaccine in advance. Another problem is the reluctance to vaccinate. Statistics from New York show that while white residents in the city have taken nearly half of the vaccines available, the numbers among black and Latin Americans are 11% and 15%, respectively. This is due to the lack of Spanish-speaking volunteers who would assist Hispanic seniors with vaccination registration (Naftulin & Attkar, 2021). The situation changed completely after Joe Biden had started the presidency, as he considers vaccination to be a priority action.

The situation is different in Israel, a country that is a leader in terms of the number of vaccinations, which began on December 19, 2020 (Forsal, 2021). Israel has a system to fully monitor the vaccination process through a customised digital citizen vaccination record and one unique identifier used in all healthcare facilities to keep data on doses and the number of vaccinations on

a day-to-day basis. The registry also enables the monitoring and evaluation of post-vaccination side effects and provides real data on vaccine efficacy. Israel has a large body of well-trained nurses who are authorised to administer vaccinations without the presence of doctors. Israel also acted swiftly to change the laws governing paramedics' practice so that they, too, could administer vaccines (MEDEXPRESS, 2021).

In July 2021, a special law came into force, allowing services to track citizens' mobile phones. The act did not came across very well. People were so scared of the virus that they thought it was better for the services to know where they were. A similar attitude concerned the government application, which also tracked the whereabouts and sent notifications in a situation where contact with an infected person could have occurred. The app was not mandatory, but Israelis were eager to install it anyway. Moreover, owing to trust in the State of Israel, the country is the world leader in terms of vaccination rate. More than 55% of the public have already received one dose of the vaccine, and more than 50% have received both doses.

The problem in this country only appeared in the group of ultra-orthodox religious followers, but even here the rabbis allowed them to vaccinate (Krämer, 2021). Health experts cite the relatively small size of the country, with a population of only about 9 million, as the reason for rapid nationwide immunisation in Israel. Every Israeli citizen must be a member of one of the four health insurance companies that run their own clinics. The vaccination campaign is conducted by these units as well as by hospitals and specially-created vaccination centres, seven days a week. Here, too, people over 60, medical staff, and careers, as well as people at risk, were vaccinated first.

The situation is different in the Gaza Strip and the West Bank, which is administered by the Palestinian Authority, and where infection rates have increased. There is no vaccination schedule there. The Palestinian Authority focuses primarily on participation in a special programme of the World Health Organization and the Gavi Vaccine Alliance. Owing to the COVAX programme, vaccines can be delivered there by mid-2021 (Deutsche Welle, 2020). In the countries of the European Union, the vaccination process started officially on December 27, 2020 (Krzysztofek, 2020b).

In Germany, vaccinations started earlier than planned, all owing to the decision of the management of the nursing home in Halberstadt in Saxony-Anhalt, where 101-year-old Edith Kwoizalla and approximately 40 other residents and 10 nurses were vaccinated. In Berlin, the national vaccination programme began on December 28 in one of the nursing homes. However, starting vaccination too early in one of the centres turned out to be a problem in the first days of vaccinations. Due to the breakdown in several Bavarian counties, the initiation of the vaccination had to be postponed, as there were inconsistencies in the cold chain, which are to be cleared with the manufacturer of the preparation. Similar problems arose in Upper Saxony. GPs in Germany have been dealing with coronavirus vaccinations since April 2021. Family doctors' clinics were to be supplied with vaccines through pharmaceutical wholesalers and pharmacies. At the same time, the large vaccination centres that were set up at the end of the year 2020 were still operational. According to the data of the Federal Association of Health Insurance Physicians, vaccination could be carried out in 75,000 medical clinics in Germany. If 50,000 clinics admitted 20 people every day, up to five million people could be vaccinated per week.

The Association's simulation shows that, if there are enough vaccines in Germany, all volunteers will be vaccinated by August 2021 at the latest. The head of the European Commission, Ursula von der Leyen, announced that, from April, European Union countries will receive 100 million doses of vaccines per month (Deutsche Welle, 2021a).

Germany published recommendations on vaccination sequences on December 8, 2020, through the German Standing Committee on Vaccination operating at the Robert Koch Institute. The recommendation concerned the priority of people over the age of 80, carers of the elderly and the sick, as well as employees of hospital emergency departments and COVID-19 departments. As explained by the commission, these people are at the highest risk of severe disease and even death, or, because of their work, they are at the highest risk of infection, or are in constant contact with people at risk. Nursing homes, as well as medical staff in transplantology or oncology departments, are also mentioned. In total, over 8 million people will be vaccinated in the first phase. Vaccines were also first given to people suffering from other diseases and representatives of systemically important professions, such as teachers, policemen, and firefighters (Deutsche Welle, 2021b).

In Spain, vaccinations began on December 28, 2020, in Guadalajara, where the Pfizer's logistics centre is located. On Sunday morning, a 40-year-old female worker and her 96-year-old protégé were vaccinated in a local nursing home. Other residents of the centre and staff also received the vaccine. In Spain, healthcare workers, especially hospital infectious wards, paramedics, and staff in intensive care units, were the first to be vaccinated. The next vaccinated group consisted of nursing home residents and the staff of these institutions. For over 30 years, Spain has had a law that makes it compulsory for citizens to vaccinate against COVID-19 (Mandatory Vaccination Provision). However, Pedro Sánchez's government did not take such radical steps; only a register of people who refused to participate in voluntary vaccination was introduced. The Spanish government had planned to vaccinate about 70% of the population against coronavirus by September 2021. Achieving this goal was probably difficult due to the relatively low interest in vaccination against COVID-19 in the country. According to the results of public opinion polls, about 28% of citizens do not want to be vaccinated.

In such a situation, the condition for enabling compulsory vaccinations must be the existence of a threat to public health, while the decision to introduce compulsory vaccinations is to be confirmed by the court. The Spanish government is trying unconventional methods compared to other countries to encourage citizens to get vaccinated. A special register has been set up for all those refusing to participate in vaccination. The register will include people who have been included in the vaccination programme but have not participated in it. Moreover, the data from the database will be made available to other European countries. Vaccinations in Spain are carried out by 13,000 public health facilities. There is a national immunisation programme there. First of all, it was available to healthcare workers, and then, *inter alia*, to the residents of nursing homes. Approximately 2.5 million people were expected to receive the vaccine during the first phase of vaccinations. People who have recovered from COVID-19 are to be vaccinated last (Krzysztofek, 2020).

Vaccination in Poland began on December 28, 2020. It is up to national governments to develop vaccination plans, but there is a general tendency to vaccinate healthcare professionals and the elderly at the outset, i.e. groups at the highest risk of severe cases of COVID-19. In Poland, as well as in other EU countries, the vaccine is free and voluntary. Vaccinations are first targeted at those most vulnerable to infection. The division took place into groups (I, II), and now there is a tendency to release vaccination dates. Earlier restrictions were due to problems with the availability of vaccines (Krzysztofek, 2020).

The average rate of vaccination per day is at the level of 200,000, but about 1.5% of scheduled patients fail to attend the scheduled date (Ministry of Health, 2021). On April 19, 2021, the first universal vaccination point against COVID-19 was launched in Poland, and with it, 16 similar

points as part of the pilot programme. The government assumed that if mass vaccinations were launched in May, all Poles who wanted to be vaccinated would receive the first dose by the end of August (Interia, 2021; Bieńczak & Markiewicz, 2021). Poland reported long delays in the supply of individual vaccines, causing delays related to the vaccines themselves. There is also a phenomenon of blocking vaccination sites by the so-called 'anti-vaxxers', who do not show up for vaccinations (Polityka Zdrowotna, 2021b).

In the UK, vaccinations have been available from 8 December, 2020. The British are not obliged by EU decisions, because they are no longer a member state. The British organised the mass vaccination programme in an almost exemplary fashion and kept strict restrictions for a long time. They also approached the dosage quickly and, initially, differently than others, and delayed the administration of the second dose of the COVID-19 vaccine so as to give the first dose as soon as possible to the largest group of people at the highest risk of severe disease and death. The UK ordered over 400 million doses of seven of the most promising vaccines. In the UK, three brands are used: AstraZeneca, Pfizer, and Moderna. AstraZeneca is produced in several factories in the United Kingdom, hence a certain independence from vaccine supplies. The next doses were to come from the Serum Institute of India and the Halix plant in the Dutch city of Leiden. The Pfizer's vaccine is imported to the UK from a factory in Puurs, Belgium, and Moderna doses come from factories in Switzerland and Spain, and are also shipped from Belgium (Bellon, 2021).

According to the plans, by April 15, 2021, all nine priority groups, i.e. 32 million people, were to be vaccinated. According to the statistics from Our World in Data, which tracks vaccination progress, the number of doses administered in the UK per 100 people was, at the time of writing this article, 39.04. In the USA, it was 33.11, and in the European Union, it was 11.81 (Gazeta Prawna, 2021).

From September 2020, the most vulnerable and oldest British citizens were to receive a third dose of the COVID-19 vaccine, which was expected to offer better protection against new variants of the coronavirus. The next boosting dose was to be given first to people over the age of 70, healthcare workers, and social workers, as Zahawi told the newspaper in an interview published on Saturday. People up to 30 years of age could decide whether they preferred the Pfizer or Moderna vaccine (Onet, 2021).

For comparison, the vaccination process in Brazil is presented. Brazil is a less-developed country and there are insufficient resources to look after the entire society. It is one of the most affected countries in the world. In terms of mortality, it is the second country in the world after the USA (at the moment, i.e. April 4, 2021, the worst situation is India). To date, more than 12.3 million cases of infection have been confirmed, and 303,000 Brazilians have died. Thursday (04.04.2021) was record-breaking in terms of infections, which were recorded at the level of over 100.1 thousand (Medonet, 2021).

Vaccination with the Chinese Sinovac Biotech vaccine and the AstraZeneca vaccine started in Brazil. On January 29, 2021, they were approved for use by the Anvisa Brazilian drug control agency (Stasiński, 2021). In Brazil, the country's first COVID-19 vaccine, ButanVac, was produced at the Butantan Institute in Sao Paulo. The new formula was supposed to enter into use in the first half of 2021. It will initially be produced only in Brazil, where vaccination against SARS-CoV-2 is carried out by several foreign products, mainly from China. So far, more than 30 million doses of coronavirus vaccines have been delivered to Brazilian states. Among the 15 million already vaccinated citizens, more than 11 million are those who took the first dose. Brazil's problem involves the lack of a consistent government policy, and the Brazilian President Jair Bolsonaro
said that the rush to vaccinate against COVID-19 is unjustified. He also criticised pharmaceutical companies and announced that he would not undergo vaccination.

Bolsonaro is one of those who question the severity of the pandemic and criticise any restrictions on social contact to limit it. Still, the president signed an executive decree that allows the government to incur a debt of 20 billion *reais* (about 4 billion USD) to purchase vaccines against COVID-19. The Ministry of Health also announced the main assumptions of the vaccination campaign. It assumes, *inter alia*, immunising everyone, i.e. 210 million inhabitants of the largest country in Latin America, within 16 months (Gazeta Prawna, 2021).

Brazil had one of the largest coronavirus outbreaks in the world: it had the second highest number of daily deaths (964) and the third highest number of new daily infections (54,000). More than 200,000 Brazilians have already died from the coronavirus, and more than 8.5 million have become ill. The governor of Sao Paulo was the first to bring the (Chinese) vaccine to Brazil. It is also his personal triumph, as the vaccine is now also produced by the Brazilian company Butanan. As of April 2021, the company had 6 million doses of the vaccine ready in Sao Paulo, but could not distribute them around the country due to the lack of government approval. Paradoxically, President Bolsonaro tried to block the production and legalisation of the vaccine. The president himself announced that he would not get vaccinated, and he advised his compatriots to use an anti-malaria drug, chloroquine, which is not recommended by Brazilian medics and scientists, or by the World Health Organization. First, doctors and healthcare professionals were vaccinated, then the transport of vaccines to the most affected areas of the country began. The Butanan company announced that it would be able to produce 46 million doses of Coronovac by April, 2021. The federal government was unable to deal with the distribution of vaccines (Stasiński, 2021).

Table 1 shows that the most important factors lie in two areas: socio-cultural and political. In details, it can be assumed that the socio-cultural area focuses on elements such as: social discipline, the strength of anti-vaccine movements, trust in the State, confidence in promotional campaigns and the State's communication policy. In the political area, the most important elements are as follows:

- the organisation of vaccinations from the practical side (the availability of vaccines, deliveries, the organisation of a network of points);
- affiliation with international organisations;
- authorities' attitude to science and to the pandemic;
- organisations and recommendations of age, and social groups for vaccination;
- campaigns promoting vaccination at the central level;
- the centralisation or decentralisation of vaccination activities.

All these elements and factors influence the speed of controlling the epidemic situation and the advancement of the vaccination process until collective immunity is achieved, and, as a result, overcoming the epidemic and normalising the social and economic life.

Factor	Poland	Germany	Spain	UK	US	Israel	Brazil
Start of vaccination	28/12/20	26/12/20	28/12/20	8/12/2020	14/12/20	19.12.20	29.01.21
Supervision	State	State/ Landes	State	State	Individual states/ country	State/ accurate record system	Local Government
Is there a programme recommending people to get vaccinated?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No clear guidelines
Epidemic situation	Controlled	Controlled	Controlled	Controlled	Controlled	Very good	Very bad
Access to vaccines – production/ distribution	Import	Own	Import	Own	Own	Import	Own
Power of anti- vaccine movements	Mean	Mean	Small	Mean	High	Very small	High
Population vaccinated with 2 doses	10,1%	10%	13.9%	27,7%	35.8%	56.2%	7,5%
Falling ill with COVID-19	4159 (12/5/21)	7321 (10/5/21	6428 (12/5/21)	2357 (10/5/21)	33789 (8/5/21)	(5/5/21) 68	76,692 (10/5/21)
Total population	37,660,000 (2021)	82,186,000 (2021)	46,468,000 (2021)	67,082,000 (2021)	335,190,000 (2021)	9216,000 (2021)	215,278,000 (2021)

Table 1. Management of the vaccination process in selected countries	Table 1.	1. Management	of the	vaccination	process in se	elected countrie
--	----------	---------------	--------	-------------	---------------	------------------

Source: Own study based on Mathieu, Ritchie, Ortiz-Ospina et al. (2021).

Conclusions

Based on secondary research, the most important factors influencing the course and management of the vaccination process can be determined. The hypothesis in this article was based on the statement that there is an optimal crisis management based on the experiences of different countries and the meeting of their different methods of organising vaccination against SARS-CoV-2. From the point of view of economic sciences, it is a novel topic, because, for the first time. it is possible to examine the relationship between health policy and the state of a global epidemic in the era of general access to information, fast data transfer, high mobility, and globalisation. The hypothesis relies on the statement that there is an optimal crisis management based on the experiences of different countries and the meeting of their different methods of organising vaccination against SARS-CoV-2.

Secondary research, illustrating the course of the vaccination process in various countries, has shown that it is possible to create an optimal vaccine management method only by taking into account the elements that make up the socio-cultural and political factors. A detailed analysis has shown that the effectiveness of the vaccination process during a pandemic does not directly depend on the availability of vaccines. The example of vaccination in Israel shows that it does not matter whether the vaccine is imported or produced in a given country. As long as it facilitates

distribution and makes it independent, with the proper organisation of deliveries, the influence of this factor can be minimised.

Among the socio-cultural elements influencing the course of the vaccination process, social discipline and the power of anti-vaccination movements come first. In Israel, the impact of anti-vaccination movements has been minimised to almost zero, but in the USA and developed countries, through the Internet, the strength of anti-vaccination movements is strong. This creates a situation where many people have not come for vaccinations. This, in turn, disrupts the vaccination process and causes the still-relatively-low vaccination rates against the virus. Another element is the lack of trust in the State, manifested in the dissemination of – and belief in – conspiracy theories about the impact of politicians and the richest people on the pandemic, the belief that the epidemic is false, and that the purpose of vaccination is surveillance or even extermination. As in the previous example, where the State applied strict rules, the vaccination process was more efficient and the society recovered faster from pandemic restrictions.

The lack of trust in the State is also associated with the lack of trust in promotional campaigns. This has its roots in a general reluctance to advertising and marketing. The more the vaccination process is promoted, the greater the fears that the goal of this promotion is not to overcome the pandemic itself. All of the above should be reflected in the communication policy which would be strictly adapted to the target audience. In this aspect, it is worth considering a less formal way of persuading people to vaccinate.

Political factors include, primarily, the country's membership in international organisations. Research shows that this affiliation does not guarantee an efficient vaccination process; it only facilitates control over the process and protects political interests. An extremely important element that influences the vaccination process is attitude to science. The attitude of the President of Brazil has had a negative impact not only on the vaccination process, but, above all, on the uncontrolled development of the pandemic in this country. The lack of guidelines related to the process of restrictions (and then vaccinations) caused the virus to mutate and become more and more dangerous.

Age recommendations in the vaccination process were the first step in recommending patients and victims of the pandemic. The organisation of this process in the countries of the European Union was similar. While the majority of countries countries introduced formal recommendations, in practice, the age recommendation did not exist in the USA and Israel. In Israel, the emphasis was on mass vaccination, and in the USA, the recommendation system was ambiguous. On the other hand, in Poland, the dates of recommendations were variable, which gave the impression of chaos in the vaccination process.

Vaccination promotional campaigns appeared along with the emergence of vaccines. Their main goal was to achieve collective immunity in specific age groups. In this case, age recommendations were a problem, which in many countries made it impossible to vaccinate against one's own will. Promotional campaigns include not only commercials on TV or lotteries for the vaccinated, but also promises of freedom of movement, free holidays, or minimising restrictions. Even so, the persuasion towards vaccines in many countries has not worked entirely. As a result of the research, it can be said that the optimal vaccination process should involve the following:

- communication policy adjusted in terms of information and organisation to target recipients;
- limiting the impact of anti-vaccination movements through constant education adapted to the age of the recipients;

- strengthening confidence in the State through honest information and relative stability of rules in the face of a pandemic and the attitude of politicians;
- the constancy of the rules of the vaccination process and appropriate information policy at the individual level;
- ensuring the stability and quantity of vaccine supplies according to the size of the centres;
- introducing age recommendations, but also making it possible to vaccinate other groups at the same time while maintaining priority or separation at the point of vaccination;
- facilitating the vaccinated persons and a coherent information policy in this regard;
- emphasising the role of science in fighting the pandemic and the role of vaccination in this process;
- emphasising the role of vaccination in achieving normality;
- communicating problems related to vaccines in a neutral manner which does not arouse concern in the recipients.

All these elements avoid creating unnecessary divisions in society and the state in the face of the fight against the pandemic. Overcoming a pandemic is essential on the way to normality and economic development.

This study may contribute to the presentation of the problem of operating in a situation of the limited availability of raw materials (vaccines) and a difficult social and economic situation (pandemic). This situation is completely new to the whole world and requires a new perspective on the problem. The thesis that good management contributes to the improvement of a given process is confirmed once again. However, cooperation is required in every stage of the activity. This article describes only a small selection of activities related to the SARS-CoV-2 vaccination process. The study covers the period from January to April, 2021. It is based on secondary data that can be extended with primary data that significantly enrich the subject matter. Secondary data largely includes Polish-language articles available on websites. The inability to conduct direct research is related to, among others, the epidemic situation in Poland and the related restrictions, especially in the healthcare sector. Another danger and weakness of this study is that it describes a process that is still ongoing and cannot be judged from perspective. The final result of the actions is unknown. As previously mentioned, all these considerations and activities can be based on the theory of crisis management, which is widely discussed in the literature on the subject.

Reference List

- Bellon, M. (2021). Wielka Brytania fatalnie zaczęła walkę z pandemią. Teraz Europa jej zazdrości. Available at: https://businessinsider.com.pl/firmy/strategie/wielka-brytania-fatalnie-zaczela-walke-z-pandemia-teraz-europa-jej-zazdrości/e01e4y8 (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Bieńczak, E., & Markiewicz, N. (2021). Startują punkty szczepień powszechnych przeciw Covid-19. Kłopoty ze szczepionką Johnson & Johnson [RAPORT]. RMF24.pl, available at: https://www.rmf24. pl/raporty/raport-koronawirus-z-chin/najnowsze-fakty/news-startuja-punkty-szczepien-powszechnych--przeciw-covid-19-klop,nId,5166478 (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Deutsche Welle (2020). Kto pierwszy do szczepienia w Niemczech, *Deutsche Welle*, available at: https://www.dw.com/pl/kto-pierwszy-do-szczepienia-w-niemszo-s%C4%85-wycyczne/a-55864027 (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Deutsche Welle (2021a). Szczepionka na COVID-19 u lekarza rodzinnego, *Deutsche Welle*, available at: https://www.dw.com/pl/niemcy-szczepionka-na-covid-19-u-lekarza-rodzinnego/a-56814256 (accessed: 26.04.2021).

- Deutsche Welle (2021b). WHO krytykuje nacjonalizm szczepionkowy (18.01.2021), available at: https://www.dw.com/pl/who-krytykuje-narodalizm-szczepionkowy/a-56265136 (accessed: 22.04.2021).
- European Commission (n.d.). Questions and answers on COVID-19 vaccination in the EU, European Commission, Directorate-General for Communication. Available at: https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/coronavirus-response/safe-covid-19-vaccines-europeans/questions-and-answers-covid-19-vaccination-eu_en (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Forsal (2020). Izrael rozpoczął akcję szczepień. Netanjahu pierwszy w kraju zaszczepiony przeciwko Covid-19 (19.12.2020). Available at: https://forsal.pl/swiat/artykuly/8048785,izrael-rozpoczal-yki-szczepien-netanjahu-pierwszy-w-kraju-zasz single-pwiedzko-covid-19.html (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Gazeta Prawna (2020). Pośpiech ze szczepieniami jest nieuzasadniony (20.12.2020), *Gazeta Prawna*, available at: https://www.gazetaprawna.pl/wiadomosci/swiat/artykuly/8049181,bolsonaro-prezydent-brazylii-szczepienia-paniemko-koronawirusowi.html (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Gazeta Prawna (2021). 15 mln mieszkańców Wielkiej Brytanii zaszczepionych. Cel osiągnięty. *Gazeta Prawna*. Available at: https://www.gazetaprawna.pl/wiadomosci/swiat/artykuly/8122463,szczepienia--wielka-brytania-koronawirus.html (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Gliński, B. (1974). Mała encyklopedia ekonomiczna. PWE.
- Grajewski, P. (2007). Organizacja procesowa. PWE.

Griffin, R. W. (2005). Podstawy zarządzania organizacjami. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.

- Hayes, A. (2021). Crisis management. Encyclopedia of Management. Available at: https://www.investopedia. com/terms/c/crisis-management.asp (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Holla, K., Ristvej, J., & Titko, M. (2018). Crisis Management. Theory and Practice. Intech Open.
- Interia (2021). Szczepienia w Polsce. Konferencja Michała Dworczyka. Interial.pl, available at: https:// wydarzenia.interia.pl/raporty/raport-koronawirus-chiny/polska/news-szczepienia-w-polsce-konferencja-michala-dworczyka,nId,5193577 (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Jaxa Dębicka, A. (2008). Sprawne państwo. Available at: https://sip.lex.pl/komentarze-i-publikacje/monografie/sprawne-panstwo-369189464 (accessed: 21.04.2021).
- Kovoor-Misra, S. (2019). Crisis Management: Resilience and Change. USA SAGE.
- Koźmiński, A. K., & Jemielniak, D. (2011). Zarządzanie od postaw. Wolters Kluwer.
- Krämer, T. (2021). Podano już ponad 1,5 miliona dawek. Izrael "mistrzem świata" w szczepieniach (10.01.2021). Available at: https://www.dw.com/pl/podano-ju%C5%BC-ponad-15-miliona-dawek--izrael-mistrzem-%C5%9Bwiata-w-szczepieni/a-56182453 (accessed: 21.04.2021).
- Krzysztofek, A. (2020a). Koronawirus: Hiszpania posiada przepisy, które pozwalają na nakazanie szczepień przeciw COVID-19, EURACTIV.pl. Available at: https://www.euractiv.pl/section/bezpieczenstwo--i-obrona/news/koronawirus-hiszpania-przepisy-prawo-nakaz-szczepienie-szczepionki-rejestr-illa/-(accessed: 26.04,2021).
- Krzysztofek, A. (2020b). Koronawirus: Szczepienia w UE oficjalnie rozpoczęte. Jak poradziły sobie kraje członkowskie? Available at: https://www.euractiv.pl/section/bezpieczenstwo-i-obrona/news/koronawirus--szczepienia-szczepionka-ue-kraje-europa-pandemia/ (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Lamond, D. (2004). A Matter of Style: Reconciling Henri and Henry. Management Decision, 42(2), 330-356.
- Mathieu, E., Ritchie, H., Ortiz-Ospina, E. et al. (2021). A global database of COVID-19 vaccinations. Nature Human Behaviour, 5, 947–953. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01122-8
- MEDEXPRESS (2021). Sukces programu szczepień. Czego inne kraje powinny się nauczyć od Izraela? (16.02.2021). Available at: https://www.medonet.pl/porwońmyoszczepionce/szczepionka-na-covid-19,sekret-sukcesu-izraela--zaden-kraj-nie-szczepi-tak-Szybko-na-covid-19,artykul,54577753.htm (accessed: 26.04.2021).
- Mikołajska, M. (2020). Episkopat USA o stosowaniu szczepionek na COVID-19 przez katolików. Jest oświadczenie (15.12.2020) https://www.medonet.pl/koronawirus/koronawirus-na-swiecie,koronawirus--usa--szczepionki-na-covid-19---stanowisko-biskupow,artykul,76068998.html (accessed on April 26, 21)
- Ministry of Health [Ministerstwo Zdrowia] (2020). Pierwszy przypadek koronawirusa w Polsce [The first case of coronavirus in Poland], Ministry of Health, March 4. Available at: https://www.gov.pl/web/zdrowie/pierwszy-przypadek-koronawirusa-w-polsce (accessed: 09.03.2020).

- Ministry of Health [Ministerstwo Zdrowia] (2021). Szczepienia przeciwko COVID-19Pacjent.gov.pl. Available at: https://pacjent.gov.pl/aktualnosc/szczepienia-przeciwko-covid-19 (accessed: 26.04.2021).
 Mintzberg, H. (1973). *The Nature of Managerial Work*. Harper & Row.
- Naftulin, J., & Attkar, A. (2021). Masz pieniądze? Możesz się zaszczepić. Smutna rzeczywistość w USA (05.02.2021). Available at: https://businessinsider.com.pl/wiadomosci/szczepienia-na-covid-w-usa--bogaci-ludzie-omijaja-kolejki/ewflcgv (accessed 26.04.2021).
- Onet (2021). Wielka Brytania zacznie szczepić osoby poniżej 30 roku życia (08.04.2021). Available at: https://wiadomosci.onet.pl/swiat/koronawirus-wielka-brytania-zacznie-szczepic-osoby-ponizej-30--roku-zycia/76j1p3w (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Our World in Data (2021). Share of people who received at least one dose of COVID-19 vaccine. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/share-people-vaccinated-covid (accessed: 22.04.2021).
- Puls Medycyny (2020). WHO: Europa stała się epicentrum pandemii koronawirusa SARS-CoV-2, Puls Medycyny, 13 marca. Available at: https://pulsmedycyny.pl/who-europa-stala-sie-epicentrum-pandemii-koronawirusa-sars-cov-2-985110 (accessed: 23.03.2020).
- Puls Medycyny (2021). WHO: Umowy dwustronne ws. szczepień nie są dobre dla programu COVAX (05.03.2021). Available at: https://pulsmedycyny.pl/who-umowy-dwustronne-ws-szczepien-nie-sa--dobre-dla-programu-covax-1110217 (accessed: 22.04.2021).
- Medonet (2021). Nowa szczepionka na COVID-19. Z Brazylii. Metodonet.pl. Available at: https://www. medonet.pl/porozmawiajmyoszczepionce/szczepionka-na-covid-19,brazylia-produkuje-nowa-szczepionke-na-koronawirusa,artykul,43739403.html (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Polityka Zdrowotna (2021a). COVAX: pierwsza transza 330 mln szczepionek do biednych krajów (05.02.2021), available at: https://www.politykazdrowotna.com/69901,covax-pierwsza-transza-330-mln-szczepionek-do-biednych-krajow (accessed: 22.04.2021).
- Polityka Zdrowotna (2021b). Antyszczepionkowcy blokują terminy szczepień. Available at: https://www. politykazdrowotna.com/72578,antyszczepionkowcy-blokuja-terminy-szczepien (accessed: 26.04.2021).

Pszczołowski, T. (1978). Mała encyklopedia prakseologii i teorii organizacji. Ossolineum.

- Regulation No. 67 of the Prime Minister of October 15, 2014 on the organisation and operation of the Government Crisis Management Team (MP of 2014, item 926).
- Regulation of the Prime Minister of April 11, 2011 on the organisation and operation of the Government Center for Security (Journal of Laws of 2015, item 508).
- Scher, I. (2020). The first COVID-19 case originated on November 17, according to Chinese officials searching for 'patient zero'. Available at: businessinsider.com. (accessed: 21.03.2020).
- Stasiński, M. (2021). Brazylia zaczyna szczepienia, (18.01.2021). Available at: https://wyborcza.pl/7,75399, 26697951,brazylia-zaczyna-szczepienia-panstwowa-agencja-medyczna-zalegalizowala.html (accessed: 27.04.2021).
- Stoner, J. (1992). Kierowanie, pub. 3. Polskie Wydawnictwo Ekonomiczne.
- The Act of April 18, 2002 on the state of natural disaster (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 1897).
- The Act of April 26, 2007 on crisis management (Journal of Laws of 2017, item 209).
- The Act of January 23, 2009 on the voivode and government administration in the province (Journal of Laws of 2015, item 525).
- The Act of June 5, 1998 on district self-government (Journal of Laws of 2016, item 814 as amended).
- The Act of June 5, 1998 on province self-government (Journal of Laws of 2016, item 814 as amended).
- The Act of March 8, 1990 on the commune self-government (i.e. Journal of Laws of 2017, item 1875).
- The Act of November 22, 2013 on the emergency notification system (Journal of Laws of 2013, item 1635 as amended).
- The Act of September 8, 2006 on the State Medical Rescue (i.e. Journal of Laws of 2016 item 1868).
- Ważna, M., & Mikołajska M. (2021). Rodzaje szczepionek przeciw COVID-19. Czym się różni wektorowa od szczepionki mRNA? (12.04.2021) Available at: https://www.medonet.pl/porozmawiajmyoszczepionce/szczepionka-na-covid-19,rodzaje-szczepionek-przeciw-covid-19--czym-sie-roznia---wyjasniamy--,artykul,29622013.html (accessed: 12.04.2021).

- WHO (2019). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, World Health Organisation, available at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019 (accessed: 15.03.2020).
- WHO (2020). Virtual press conference on COVID-19 11 March 2020, World Health Organisation, available at: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/transcripts/who-audio-emergencies-coronavirus-press-conference-full-and-final-11mar2020.pdf (accessed:11.03.2020).
- Ziarko, J., & Walas-Trębacz, J. (2010). Zarządzanie kryzysowe. Krakowskie Towarzystwo Edukacyjne sp. z o.o. Oficyna Wydawnicza AFM.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Research Ethics Committee

Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

The author/autors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright and License

This article is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Published by Malopolska School of Public Administration – Krakow University of Economics, Krakow, Poland.

Data Availability Statement

All data will be available and shared upon request.

Journal of Public Governance

Aims and scope

Journal of Public Governance (formerly Zarządzanie Publiczne / Public Governance) is a quarterly published since 2007. It is intended for experts and researchers who specialise in public issues, including political decision-makers and students. It offers a forum for debates between academics and practitioners interested not only in the theoretical foundations of public governance but also in the opportunities for its practical application. The quarterly is international in scope, which is reflected in the nature of research issues (they involve matters of interest to academic circles worldwide), the contributing authors (a significant proportion of them comes from different countries), and the composition of its Programme Board as well as the make-up of the team of reviewers (it includes international research and academic centres).

The mission of the *Journal of Public Governance* is to publish advanced theoretical and empirical research in public management, governance, public policy analysis and evaluation, public sector economy as well as strategic management, which reflects new developments in the methodology of social sciences. The editors select papers with an original theoretical background and those that discuss the results of pioneering empirical research. We are also eager to promote the interdisciplinary and comparative approaches based on qualitative, quantitative, and experimental studies that provide new insights into the construction of theoretical models along with the methodological concepts in the field of public management.

In our journal, we adopt a unique approach to specific issues inherent in the sphere of public governance. The originality of our approach consists in the selection of both research areas and research methodologies.

A significant proportion of texts published by our journal is devoted to the analysis of the mechanisms of public governance at national and regional government levels (respectively), relevant to the administrative culture predominant in Central and Eastern European countries with a particular focus on the programming, implementation, and evaluation of public policies. The texts:

- a. focus on problems occurring in post-transition countries which build their own public governance institutions and mechanisms, including the sphere of good governance;
- b. represent attempts at a creative transposition and adaptation of international achievements in developing original solutions in the field of public governance in post-transformation countries.

The distinguishing features of the research methodologies preferred by our journal include:

- a. a strongly established interdisciplinary approach to the study of public governance, combining research and analyses in the areas of economics, political science, management, public policy, sociology, and psychology;
- b. the published texts are firmly rooted in social science theory.

Author Guidelines

Basic rules

Before submitting your article, please read and apply the following rules:

- EASE Guidelines for Authors of Scientific Articles to be Published in English (version of November 2018) explaining in detail how to compose a scientific article according to international standards:
 - in English (https://www.ease.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/doi.10.20316.ESE_.2018.44. e1.pdf)
 - in Polish (https://www.ease.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/doi.10.20316.ESE_.2018.44. e1.pl_.pdf)
- APA Style Manual (7th edition, 2020) explaining in detail how to use and cite references and how to apply linguistic rules while writing in English.
- Technical Guidelines for Authors explaining in detail how to prepare articles in accordance with our requirements see our website (www.publicgovernance.pl).
- During the submission process you must provide us with your ORCID number; otherwise we will not proceed your submission.
- Provide us with the Subject classification JEL classification in the OJS.

Ensuring Blind Review

To ensure the integrity of the blind peer review for submission to our journal, every effort should be made to prevent the identification of the authors and reviewers. This involves the authors, editors, and reviewers (who upload documents as part of their review) checking to see if the following steps have been taken with regard to the text and the file properties:

- The authors of the document have deleted their names from the text, with "Author" and year used in the references and footnotes, instead of the authors' name, article title, etc.
- With Microsoft Office documents, author identification should also be removed from the properties for the file (see under File in Word), by clicking on the following, beginning with File on the main menu of the Microsoft application: File > Save As > Tools (or Options with a Mac) > Security > Remove personal information from file properties on save > Save.
- With PDFs, the authors' names should also be removed from Document Properties found under File on Adobe Acrobat's main menu.

Article length and format

All submitted manuscripts should not exceed the recommended size in accordance with established rules:

30,000-40,000 characters, including abstract, keywords, tables, figures, references, etc.

No article submission or article processing fees are charged. Nevertheless, the fee for each additional 1 800 characters (exceeding 40,000 characters) is 20€. The payment will be transferred to the Publisher's bank account after the article's approval for publication.

Only editable formats of text can be sent (doc or docx). We do not accept uneditable formats (e.g. pdf).

Language

- 1. Papers should be presented in clear, concise English. Articles written in poor English will be rejected immediately (and will not be accepted even for the review process).
- 2. We prefer British English (e.g. 'behaviour', not 'behavior'), this is why we strongly ask authors to use British English.

OJS system

We use the OJS system for submissions. After having finished your article, when your files are ready, visit the online submission website.

You will need to log into the system:

- If you know your login details, use your user ID and password to log in.
- If you do not know your login details, check to see if you are already registered by clicking on the 'Forgot your password?' button and following the on-screen instructions.
- If you are not registered yet, you can register by clicking on the 'Register' link on the login screen and following the on-screen instructions.

Please remember that you should register as 'Author', although we advise you to register also as 'Reviewer'. If you do not mark 'Author' status, you will not be able to submit your article.

Submission Preparation Checklist

As part of the submission process, authors are required to check their submission's compliance with all of the following items, and submissions may be returned to authors that do not adhere to these guidelines.

- The submission has not been previously published, nor is it under consideration in another journal (or an explanation has been provided in Comments to the Editor).
- The submission file is in OpenOffice, Microsoft Word, or RTF document file format.
- Where available, DOI numbers or URLs for the references have been provided.
- The text is single-spaced; uses a 12-point font; employs italics rather than underlining (except for URL addresses); and all illustrations, figures, and tables are placed within the text at the appropriate points rather than at the end.
- The text adheres to the stylistic and bibliographic requirements outlined in the Technical Guidelines for Authors.
- ORCID number was provided on the first page of the article and was provided in the OJS system.
- Subject classification according to EconLit Subject Descriptors-JEL codes was provided in the OJS during the submission process.
- The instructions in Ensuring Blind Review have been followed.
- The article will be checked for antyplagiarism by CrossCheck.

The Editorial Board approves only original papers, previously unpublished in any other periodicals or books, and not being subject of evaluation in other journals. The articles must be prepared in accordance with our technical requirements and taking our academic ethics code into account. We will reject submissions not prepared according to our requirements.

Reviewing Policy and Procedures

The Editorial Board will make a preliminary decision to either accept the paper for further review or reject the paper (desk rejection) if the submitted article does not meet our editorial requirements or is beyond our aim and scope. The author will be notified of the decision no later than 10 days from the date of submission. In certain situations, this decision will be made following consultation with a member of the Editorial Board specialising in a given area of research.

- 1. The reviews are prepared by at least 2 independent reviewers indicated by the Editorial Board. Reviewers are not associated with the author's parent institution (reviewers external to the author).
- 2. Reviews are prepared to use a double-blind peer review. This process is based on the rule that the reviewer does not know the identity of the author and vice versa.
- 3. Each review is issued in written form (later revealed to the Author) and ends with a recommendation for or against publication.
- 4. Evaluation criteria: clarity of the stated objective, originality of research issues, theoretical background, quality of empirical research, originality of conclusions, significance for the research area aligned with the scientific profile of the quarterly, quality of language, comprehensibility, punctuation, and appropriate source selection. Each review ends with an unambiguous recommendation:
 - the paper can be published as submitted,
 - the paper can be published pending minor modifications and inclusion of additional relevant information,
 - the paper can be published pending substantial revision and re-review,
 - the paper is unsuitable for publication.
- 5. In addition to the recommendations made by reviewers, the Author may receive additional editorial suggestions from:
 - the Editorial Board, only in urgent cases,
 - a layout editor for technical and editorial comments,
 - a statistical editor if the paper contains statistics.
- 6. The Author must reply to all comments and suggestions (a special form is required to be filled in and to be sent back).
- 7. The Author should be familiar with the following forms and evaluation criteria:
 - Internal Review Form Checklist of the Article (*.docx),
 - External Review Form (*.docx),
 - Author's Statement after the Reviews (must be attached to the revised article),
 - Statement by Author (must be signed before publishing).

- 8. Before publishing each article is proofread by a linguistic editor (a native speaker or a bilingual speaker). Authors are obliged to apply all necessary changes, however they can negotiate special terminology use.
- 9. Prior to publishing, the Corresponding Author must sign and submit the Statement by Author, otherwise we will not be able to publish the given article.
- 10. Each Author must follow the principles of transparency and best practices in scholarly publishing (see our website for details). Editors and the Publisher will be documenting all forms of scientific misconduct and malpractice, particularly violations of ethics and science principles. Any such cases will be reported to the employer of the Author and to the relevant public and state institutions.

Submissions from Programme Board and Editorial Board members are handled in the same way as those from other authors.

Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement

The author's statement including the copyright notice as well as the statement on ethics and good practice in science (including financial disclosure, ghost-writing firewall, guest authorship firewall) must be submitted alongside the manuscript according to the form provided (see our website) as well as to be mentioned on the article title page.

The detailed information on Ethics and Malpractice is available in the guidelines established by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland: Scientific Research and Articles Solidity and Intellectual Rights Respect.

We use the following guidelines (extract from Scientific Research and Articles Solidity and Intellectual Rights Respect):

- 1. Articles must be original and cannot include borrowings from other works, which could result in liability of the publisher. Papers cannot infringe any third-party rights.
- 2. Articles must reveal the contribution of all individual authors in the creation of publications (with their affiliations and contributions, such as information about who is the author of concepts, principles, methods, protocol, etc. used in the preparation of publications).
- 3. Articles cannot display any signs of 'ghost-writing', that is not to disclose the names of authors who have made a significant contribution to the publication of, or otherwise contributed to its creation.
- 4. Articles cannot display any signs of 'guest authorship', i.e. assign a person who did not contribute to the creation of publications.
- 5. Articles must include complete information concerning sources of funding, the contribution of research institutions, associations, and other entities ('financial disclosure').
- 6. Editors and the Publisher will be documenting all forms of scientific misconduct and malpractice, particularly violations of ethics and violations in science. Any such cases will be reported to the employer of the author and to the relevant public and state institutions.

COPE | Committee on Publication Ethics

We follow Core Practices of COPE including Code of Conduct and Best Practice Guidelines for Editors.